EDGAR'pro

iy EDGAR Dnlire”

VMWARE, INC.

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 02/29/08 for the Period Ending 12/31/07

Address 3401 HILLVIEW AVENUE
PALO ALTO, CA, 94304
Telephone (650) 427-5000
CIK 0001124610
Symbol VMW
SIC Code 7372 - Services-Prepackaged Software
Industry  IT Services & Consulting
Sector Technology
Fiscal Year 01/31

Powere d By EDGA;Rbn]ine

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2019, EDGAR Online, a division of Donnelley Financial Solutions. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, a division of Donnelley Financial Solutions, Terms of Use.


https://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For transition period from to
Commission File Number 001-33622
VMWARE, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)
Delaware 94-3292913
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)
3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(650) 427-5000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0 New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) tfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a walbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c06#turities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®acl5(d) of the Act.  YesO No
X

Note —Checking the box above will not relieve any remist required to file reports pursuant to Secti8rod 15(d) of the Exchange Act
from their obligations under those Sections.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €9 filed all reports required to be filed by SeetiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastié@s. Yes[X] No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K it contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgealdfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part IIl of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlexge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated fileid Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer X] Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller
reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act). Yes[O No

As of June 30, 2007, our Class A common stock veasisted on any exchange or over-the-counter ntafker Class A common stock
began trading on the New York Stock Exchange onust@4, 2007. At September 30, 2007, the aggregatket value of the registrant’s
Class A common stock held by non-affiliates of tegistrant (based upon the closing sale price cffi shares on the New York Stock
Exchange on September 30, 2007) was approxima2eh0$,960,365. Shares of the registrant’s ClassrAmeon stock and Class B common
stock held by each executive officer and directat by each entity or person that, to the regisisdatowledge, owned 5% or more of the
registrant’s outstanding Clagscommon stock as of September 30, 2007 have beduded in that such persons may be deemed tdfitiatas
of the registrant. This determination of affiliati&atus is not necessarily a conclusive determindtioother purposes.

As of February 21, 2008, the number of shares ofraon stock, par value $.01 per share, of the megisbutstanding was 383,478,847



which 83,478,847 shares were Class A common stogk380,000,000 were Class B common stock.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Information required in response to Part 11l of fRot0-K (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) is herebyiipomated by reference to the specified
portions of the registrant’s Proxy Statement fa Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held in 200 Proxy Statement will be filed by the
registrant with the Securities and Exchange Comiorigso later than 120 days after the end of thestemt's fiscal year ended December 31,
2007.
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FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardKimg statements, within the meaning of the Fedszalrities laws, about our
business and prospects. The forward-looking statésyao not include the potential impact of any reesgacquisitions, divestitures, securities
offerings or business combinations or other devekmts in our business that may be announced ounonated after the date hereof. Any
statements contained herein that are not statern&htstorical fact may be deemed to be forwardklng statements. Without limiting the
foregoing, the words “outlook,” “believes,” “plafisintends,” “expects,” “goals,” “potential,” “comues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,”
“predicts,” “estimates,” “anticipates” and similexpressions are intended to identify forward-logkstatements, although not all forward-
looking statements contain these words. Our futeselts may differ materially from our past resualigl from those projected in the forward-
looking statements due to various uncertaintiesreskg, including those described in Item 1A oftRgRisk Factors). The forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this AnRepbrt and undue reliance should not be placetiese statements. We disclaim any
obligation to update any forward-looking statemeratstained herein after the date of this Annuald®ep
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

VMware is the leading provider of virtualizationlstions from the desktop to the data center. Ortualization solutions represent a
pioneering approach to computing that separatesgbeating system and application software fromuthéerlying hardware to achieve
significant improvements in efficiency, availahiliflexibility and manageability. Our broad and yeo suite of virtualization solutions
addresses a range of complex IT problems thatdeciofrastructure optimization, business continustyftware lifecycle management and
desktop management. The benefits to our customeligdie substantially lower IT costs, choice of gpieg systems and a more automated and
resilient systems infrastructure capable of respandynamically to variable business demands. @stamer base includes organizations o
sizes across numerous industries and includes 13@Be Fortune 100 and approximately 90% of theturar 1,000.

Our solutions enable organizations to aggregatéipleiservers, storage infrastructure and netwtogsther into shared pools of capa
that can be allocated dynamically, securely andbisl to applications as needed, increasing harewélization and reducing spending. In the
nine years since the introduction of our first watization platform, we have expanded our offeswith virtual infrastructure automation and
management products to address distributed andogeteeous infrastructure challenges such as systeowerability and reliability, backup
and recovery, resource provisioning and managernapgcity and performance management and desktopitye

We began shipping our first product in 1999, ardhtowe offer 21 products. Our flagship desktop podvVMware Workstation, is in its
sixth generation and our flagship server produitestMware Infrastructure, is in its third genéoat

We work closely with over 500 technology partnéms|uding leading server, microprocessor, storagéyworking and software vendors.
We have shared the economic opportunities surrognditualization with our partners by facilitatisglution development through open
Application Programming Interface (“APIs"), formeaaad protocols and providing access to our sourde end technology. The endorsement
and support of our partners have further enhartoedwareness, reputation and adoption of our Vizatéon solutions.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéalexpand our presence and reach various segroktits market. We derive a
significant majority of our revenues from our latigdirect sales channel of nearly 10,000 channehpes that include distributors, resellers,
x86 system vendors and systems integrators. Wewuegelhat our partners benefit greatly from the se&leur solutions through additional
services, software and hardware sales opportuniieshave trained a large number of partners addusars to deploy and leverage our
solutions.

We were incorporated as a Delaware corporatior®88land continued to operate in large measurestend-alone company following
our acquisition by EMC in 2004 and following ouitial public offering (“IPO”) of our Class A commastock in August 2007. During 2007,
we generated $1.326 billion in revenues, an 88%ease over our 2006 results. For financial inforameabout our business by product and
geographic area, see Note L to the consolidateshfiial statements included elsewhere in this filldgr corporate headquarters are located at
3401 Hillview Avenue, Palo Alto, California and wave 54 offices worldwide.

Overview of Virtualization

Virtualization was first introduced in the 1970setoable multiple business applications to sharefahdharness the centralized
computing capacity of mainframe systems. Virtualarawas effectively abandoned during the 1980s¥3fDs when clienserver application
and inexpensive x86 servers and personal compeséaiblished the model of distributed computinghRathan sharing resources centrally in
the mainframe model,
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organizations used the low cost of distributedesyst to build up islands of computing capacity, g some benefits but also introducing
new challenges. In 1999, VMware introduced virtzediion to x86 systems as a means to efficientlyesfdmany of these challenges and to
transform x86 systems into general purpose, shzaetivare infrastructure that offers full isolationobility and operating system choice for
application environments.

Virtualization can be implemented using variousrapphes. The most prevalent approach uses a lageftwvare called a “hypervisor”
that resides below the operating system. The hygmrprovides the capability to enable multiple laggtions and operating systems to share
the underlying hardware safely by encapsulatindy @gplication and operating system in its own tidttmachine.” Organizations use this
technology to run multiple applications and heterwgpus operating systems on the same hardwareeoss aifferent hardware
configurations, raising utilization and reducingto

The introduction of virtualization technology prasea number of opportunities for driving capitatiaoperational efficiency above and
beyond the simple benefit of safe partitioning.d&coupling the entire software environment fronuitgerlying hardware infrastructure,
virtualization enables the aggregation of multipdevers, storage infrastructure and networks ihéwesd pools of resources that can be deli
dynamically, securely and reliably to applicati@ssneeded. This approach enables organizationsltbebcomputing infrastructure with high
levels of utilization, availability, automation afidxibility using building blocks of inexpensivadustry-standard servers. Although
virtualization represents the core enabling tecbangl the benefits associated with this general @egcomputing infrastructure cannot be fully
realized without virtual infrastructure automatiamd management solutions.

Our virtualization solutions run on industry-stardiaervers and desktops and support a wide rangpeséting system and application
environments, as well as networking and storagastrfucture. We have designed our solutions totfomindependently of the hardware and
operating system to provide customers with a bpdatform choice. Our solutions provide a key inggm point for hardware and
infrastructure management vendors to deliver défiiated value that can be applied uniformly acedlsapplication and operating system
environments.

Our Products and Technology

We offer a broad portfolio of products that spares donsumer desktop to the enterprise data céemproducts generally fall into two
categories:

» Virtualization Platforms.Our virtualization platforms include a hypervisor system partitioning that provides the capabtlity
safely, securely and efficiently run multiple opérg systems simultaneously on the same physicahina. Our platforms range
from free, entry-level products for the desktop ardrer to more feature-rich desktop and servéfopfas. These products
represented 38% of our license revenue in 2

» Virtual Infrastructure Automation and ManagemeniOur virtual infrastructure automation productsiaélthe unique benefits of
our virtualization platforms to automate systemasfructure services, such as resource manageavaiigbility, mobility and
security. By deploying our virtual infrastructuretamation products with our virtualization platfasn/Mware customers can
reduce the operational complexity of their enviremts. Our virtual infrastructure management proglactomate the interaction
between various IT constituencies and the virtmfrbistructure for a specific set of point solutiolkese solutions range from
capacity sizing and assessment to development galagement. These products represented 62% ofcemsk revenue in 20C

2
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Virtualization Platform Products

VMware Player.VMware Player is a free virtualization platform tleaables individuals to run virtual machines oegirtidesktop:
but does not allow virtual machine creation. We \dsiware Player primarily as an awareness tool tifiarize individuals with
the concept of virtual machines. VMware Player lh@sn downloaded more than 4 million times sinegag made generally
available in December 200

VMware Fusion.VMware Fusion is a consun-focused desktop virtualization product for usergntél-based Apple Macintos
computers. Mac users can run Windows, Linux, Ne®\arSolaris x86 guest operating systems on th&t-based Mac without
rebooting or repartitioning their hard drives. VMwd-usion enables Mac users to run Windows and @B applications side-
by-side, as well as drag and drop files between Wirsdamd Mac OS X environmen

VMware Workstation VMware Workstation is a desktop virtualization puatifor software developers and enterprist
professionals who need to run multiple operatirgfesys simultaneously on a single desktop. Userswaid/indows, Linux,
NetWare or Solaris x86 in fully networked, portabigual machines with no rebooting or hard drivatjgioning required. VMwar:
Workstation delivers excellent performance and aded features, such as memory optimization andltiiigy to manage multiier
configurations and multiple snapshc

VMware ServerVMware Server is a free virtualization platform tlemables simple partitioning of a server into riplgt virtual
machines. VMware Server runs as an applicatioroprof an existing Windows or Linux operating systemlike our VMware ES:
Server platform, which runs its own microkernel. Wiste Server is principally an awareness tool foniagstrators to become
familiar with virtualization, though customers magt to pay an annual support and subscriptionfféeey would like the product
supported in a production or test environment. Viven@&erver has been downloaded approximately 21®mtimes since it was
made generally available in November 2C

VMware ESX ServerVMware ESX Server is our enterpr-class virtualization platform that runs directly e hardware with it
own microkernel and requires no thipdsty operating system. VMware ESX Server is desiigexpressly for the purpose of runn
virtual machines securely, efficiently and flexibWMware ESX Server’s microkernel architecture pdes numerous efficiencies
and performance benefits, including advanced resommanagement features, such as memory over corantiand share-based
resource allocations to guarantee quality of serwtMware ESX Server also has built-in redundamatudres, such as device
teaming and storage mi-pathing, to mitigate the risk of any componentuiglin a hig-density, shared environme

VMware ESX Server 3iBased on VMware ESX Server, VMware ESX Server 8rsfthe same functionality as VMware ESX
Server, but in a small 32 MB footprint. VMware ES¥rver 3i was designed to be pre-integrated aridrigtstalled as server
firmware from our server Original Equipment Manutaer (“OEM") partners. Both ESX Server and ESX\&er3i support the
entire suite of VMware Infrastructure 3 productsgtiires and solution

VMware Virtual SMP.VMware Virtual SMP enables a single virtual machioeise up to four physical processors simultarigpus
thereby allowing customers to run processor anolureg intensive applications in virtual machir

VMware VMFS.VMware VMFS is a clustered fi-system and volume manager that enables multiple &3¥ers to safely
efficiently and reliably share block-based stordgeias designed expressly for the purpose of hagdiirtual machines and is
required to enable reliable use of our Virtual &structure Automation produc

3
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Virtual Infrastructure Automation and Management Rrducts

*  VMware VirtualCenter.VMware VirtualCenter provides a central point ohtl to provision, monitor and manage a virtuadiz€
environment. VMware VirtualCenter also managestimtime coordination of infrastructure automatiangucts, such as VMware
VMotion, VMware DRS and VMware HA, and provides lbbotind software interfaces for network and systermsagement
software vendors to incorporate these technolagielsother elements of virtual machine manageméatfieir user console

* VMware VMotion.VMware VMotion allows users to move virtual machéngith running applications and operating systeros!
one physical machine to another with no servicermption or data loss. Our customers have used &fdWMotion for more than
three years to improve service levels deliveretthédr end users. Customers typically use VMware Yivtoto perform zero-
downtime planned hardware maintenance -disruptive server migration or dynamic resourcaurppsing.

* VMware DRS.VMware Distributed Resource Schedul*DRE") creates resource pools from an aggregation of palyservers
VMware DRS dynamically allocates virtual machinesdsource pools on demand. Once virtual machiaes heen provisioned,
VMware DRS continuously monitors utilization acrdlse resource pool and intelligently balances &ctibn of virtual machines
across the servers in the resource pool using Viwaiotion. The VMware DRS resource management jgdimay be driven by
pre-defined and automated rules that reflect bgsineeds and priorities. VMware DRS delivers highedity of service by
managing resource commitments in a shared environi

*  VMware HA. VMware HA provides automated recovery from hardwfaikire for any application running in a virtuabehine,
regardless of its operating system or underlyinghivare configuration. The technology includes amiemory, replicated database
across all of the VMware ESX Servers in a resopamd that tracks the status of every virtual maehin the event of a failure,
affected virtual machines are immediately recovenei alternate systems. This technology addreskey need to make
workloads instantly recoverable to mitigate the &ipof hardware failures in a shared environm

* VMware Consolidated BackufVMware Consolidated Backu|*VCB*") enables LAIfree, automated backup of virtual machii
from a centralized backup proxy. The product inelidoftware utilities for third-party backup protiu efficiently snapshot and
back up running virtual machines from a single use@roxy server. VCB can be used to perform bit¢hldvel and full-system
backup and recovery with an existing backup inftagtire. It provides a critical, zero-downtime smno to manage the increased
density of backup operations in a highly utilizézsed environmen

 VMware Storage VMotionVMware Storage VMotion enables live migration oftual machine disks from one data storage system
to another with no disruption or downtime. VMwar&tion is typically used by infrastructure admingors to eliminate planned
downtime for storage maintenance. Using Storage ¥Mvpadministrators can also dynamically balateedtorage workload and
address performance bottlenecks by migrating Jirnechine disks to the available storage resoukdeministrators can minimize
service disruption previously incurred for upgragistorage arrays and free storage administratansgmve and manage the
storage infrastructure without having tc-ordinate extensively with application and serveners.

* VMware Update ManagerVMware Update Manager automates patch and updatageaent for VMware ESX Server hosts .
virtual machines. Update Manager addresses orfeeahost significant challenges for IT departmemgscking patch levels and
manually applying the latest security and bug fixetegration with VMware DRS enables zero-downtiddware ESX Server
host patching capabilitie

* VMware Capacity PlannerVMware Capacity Planner is a hosted application ¢imables VMware service providers to perfc
capacity assessments onsite at a customer faditigy service provider installs and runs a colleatdhe customer facility that
conducts age-less discovery and collection
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performance information for all servers in an eaniment. VMware Capacity Planner loads this perforceanformation into :
hosted data warehouse and provides-based analytics tools and consolidation recomméntato the service provide

VMware ConverterVMware Converter enables customers to quickly atidioly convert local and remote physical machinés
virtual machines. Users may also input third-partgige formats or third-party virtual machines iM@dlware Converter to create
virtual machines that run on our platforr

VMware Lab ManagerVMware Lab Manager automates the setup, captweg and sharing of mi-machine softwar
configurations for development and staging envirents. Using VMware Lab Manager, development antkéasns can access
multiple software configurations and virtual maasron demand through a ¢service portal

VMware ACE.VMware ACE enables desktop administrators to loowid desktop endpoints and protect critical compaspurce
against the risks presented by unmanaged deskidtisVMware ACE, desktop administrators packagdTamanaged desktop
within a secured virtual machine and deploy ithnauamanaged physical desktop. Once installed, VMwWaEE provides a suite of
automated security policies around the virtual ntaghsuch as encryption, expiration, network andadeaccess policies,
transforming the unmanaged desktop to ensure cangdiwith security policie:

VMware Virtual Desktop Infrastructure VMware Virtual Desktop Infrastructur VDI*) enables companies to host individ
desktops inside virtual machines running on ceizgdlservers in their data center. Users access tfigual desktops remotely
from a physical desktop or a thin client using moge display protocol. Since applications are madaggntrally at the corporate
data center, organizations gain better control tveir desktop deployments. Unlike other serveredasolutions that do not provide
a complete desktop experience or require spegifiti@ctures, VMware VDI includes full desktop emriments familiar to end
users and not limited by hardware or locat

VMware Virtual Desktop ManagerVMware Virtual Desktop Manager (“VDM") is a desktopanagement server that connects
users to virtual desktops in the data center. Wktware VDM, end users can securely access thetualidesktops using either a
personal computer or thin client. The product’'syeasuse interface lets administrators manage tods of desktops at once, and
reduces the time it takes to provision a new dgskimm hours to minute:

Support and Services

We believe that our strong services organizatiahfeequent customer touch points help establishlloystomers that provide references
and help promote our technology across varioussngis. We have implemented a broad services girditat leverages the professional
services organizations of our partners. We hawe edsablished our own services offerings to complgnour partnersservices offerings and
ensure customer satisfaction, drive additionalssafed promote renewals and upgrades. Our senif@igs include customized solutions and
onsite support that enable us and our channelgrarto provide a positive overall customer expegen

We have established our global customer suppodrzgtion, VMware Global Support Services, to aligth and support our expanding
customer base.

VMware Global Support ServiceWe offer a suite of proactive, top-quality suppmatkages backed by industry-leading expertise.
We offer three support and subscription prograntegtifRim, Gold, and Silver) on an annual or multaysubscription basis, that
include VMware support along with access to pedagidates, bug fixes and enhancements to our piadbemplimenting our
Platinum support and subscription program, we d¥fesiness Critical Support which provides custonpersonalized technical
support delivered by a designated team of expantdliar with a custom’'s specific syster

5
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configuration, past support experience and businesds. A majority of our server customers purctitdagnum support. In additic

to phone support, our customers have access tolare @roduct support database for help with treghboting and operational
guestions. Our support teams, located in Califoidenver, Canada, Ireland, India and Japan, prdirsteresponse and manage the
resolution of customer issues. In addition, we hawthorized certain systems vendors to provide @udpr our products on our
behalf.

We also offer a range of professional services undeVMware Professional Services offering, whicbludes:

* VMware Consulting ServicesVMware Certified Professionals provide-site assistance throughout the virtualization aidog
lifecycle to accelerate the implementation of owtualization solutions. VMware Certified Professas conduct initial assessme
and upgrade workshops and prepare detailed impleri@m project plans. Once customers are readgtéordardization across their
enterprise, VMware Certified Professionals helggnate virtual infrastructure into enterprise sysend processe

* VMware Education ServicesVMware courses provide extensive he-on labs, case study examples and course mate
Customers work in teams of two on servers locaffsit® using a variety of remote access technoki

Technology Alliances

Consistent with our partner-centric strategy, weeh@ngaged a broad group of hardware and softweareors to cooperatively advance
virtualization technology through joint marketirgpduct interoperability, collaboration and co-depenent. We create opportunity for
partners by enabling them to build products théizatour virtualization technology and create difntiated value through joint solutions.

We have over 500 technology partners with whom rirgljoint offerings to the marketplace. We clagsifir partners as:

* Independent Hardware Vendors"IHVs "). We have established strong relationships with laggtem vendors, including IBN
HP, Dell, NEC, Fuijitsu, Fujitsu-Siemens and Sum jéint certification and calevelopment. We also work closely with Intel, AV
Cisco and other IHVs to provide input on productelepment to enable them to deliver hardware adsaents that benefit
virtualization users. We coordinate with the legditorage and networking vendors to ensure jotetaperability, as well as to
enable our software to access their differentifuedtionality.

* Independent Software Vendors*ISVs”). We partner with leading systems management, imfresstre software and applicati
software vendors to enable them to deliver valdded products that integrate with our VMware lIsifiracture suite of products. C
Technology Alliance Program facilitates joint sadut creation and coordinated go-to-market actigitiéth our partners. Our ISV
partners have distributed over 700 software apiplica as virtual appliance

In addition to developing open APIs, formats anat@ecols at multiple levels in our products, we pdevsource code access to select
partners in our “Community Source” program to fi@ie joint development and partner differentiatidfe provide access to our ESX source
code to over 350 developers from more than 30 pestfor joint development projects. We also workhvaur industry partners to promote and
foster the adoption of industry standards.

In July 2007, we entered into a stock purchaseesgeat with Intel Corporation (“Intel”), pursuantudich Intel, through its affiliate,
Intel Capital Corporation, agreed to purchase dlbom shares of our Class A common stock at $2%80share for an aggregate offering price
of $218.5 million. Intel's purchase closed in Aug2@07. In addition, we and Intel have entered atoutine and customary collaboration
partnering
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agreement that expresses the parties’ intent toreanto expand their cooperative efforts arounutjdevelopment, marketing and industry
initiatives. Intel’s July 2007 investment in VMwaigeintended to foster strengthened inter-compathaleoration toward accelerating VMware
virtualization product adoption on Intel architegt@and reinforcing the value of virtualization taology for customers.

In July 2007, we were a party to a stock purchgseeament with Cisco Systems, Inc. (“Ciscafjd EMC, pursuant to which Cisco agr
to purchase 6.0 million shares of our Class A comstock from EMC at $25.00 per share for an agdeeggiering price of $150.0 million.
Cisco's purchase closed in August 2007. We andbCiage also entered into a routine and customdlgbmyation partnering agreement that
expresses the parties’ intent to expand cooperaffeets around joint development, marketing ardlstry initiatives. Cisco’s investment in
VMware is intended to strengthen inter-companyatmlation towards accelerating customer adoptiofiMdivare virtualization products with
Cisco networking infrastructure and the developneérustomer solutions that address the intersecfoirtualization and networking
technologies.

We invest significant capital in testing and céetifion infrastructure to rigorously ensure ourtsafe works well with major hardware
and software products. We have certified over 5@@ware platforms and have successfully tested @@perating systems for use with our
solutions. We believe that the scale and scopkisgffort is a significant competitive advantage.

Research and Development

We have made and intend to make significant investmin research and development. We have assembBledng group of developers
with system-level and system management softwgreréize. We also have strong ties to leading acadiestitutions around the world and
support academic programs that range from shanadesaode for research to sabbatical programsisiting professors.

We prioritize our product development efforts ttghua combination of engineering-driven innovatiod austomer and market-driven
feedback. Our research and development cultureglaigh value on innovation, quality and open dcwtation with our partners. We currently
participate in numerous standards groups and VMwargloyees hold a variety of standards organizdéadership positions, including the
presidency of Distributed Management Task Force\TB“) and a board seat on the Green Grid. We belibe strength of our research and
development organization is a competitive diffeiatot.

Sales and Marketing

We sell and market our products largely througletavork of channel partners, which includes distidlos, resellers, x86 system vendors
and systems integrators, with over 75% of our reedn 2007 derived from this indirect network.

We have established ongoing business relationstithsour distributors. Our distributors purchaséware licenses and software support
from us for resale to end-user customers via resell

A substantial majority of our resellers obtain safte licenses and software support from our distats and market and sell them to our
end-user customers. The majority of these resedierpart of our VIP Partner Program, which oftbesse resellers sales and product training,
pricing incentives and rebates, access to the widtkl network of VMware distributors and accesd® VYMware Partner Central Web portal.

We offer several levels of membership in our VIBeter network depending on a reseller’s interast @apability of providing demand
generation, fulfillment, service delivery and edimato customers and prospects. We also haveicedsellers, as well as systems integrators,
who obtain software licenses and software suppoetdy from VMware. The VIP network agreementsrsid by the resellers carry no
obligation to purchase or sell VMware products ead be terminated at any time by either party.

7



Table of Contents

We have a direct sales force that complementslwamreel partners’ efforts. Our sales force work$witir channel partners to introduce
them to end-user customer accounts and new satestapities. Our channel partners also introduaesales force to their end-user customers.

In addition, our channel partner network includegain system integrators and resellers trainedcenified to deliver consulting servic
and solutions leveraging VMware products.

Our strategy is to position our products withinaaigty of organizations where end-user customeghtuonsider buying virtualization
solutions. We provide product training and markgtssistance to our channel partner network.

We generally do not have long-term contracts orimmitm purchase commitments with our distributorsefiers, x86 system vendors and
systems integrators, and our contracts with theaarmel partners do not prohibit them from offenqirgducts or services that compete with
ours.

As of December 31, 2007, we had agreements witHyn#@,000 channel partners.

We primarily sell our software under perpetualtises, and our sales contracts generally requireisadcustomers to purchase
maintenance for the first year. Software mainteedassold both directly to enalser customers and via our network of channel pestrand th
majority of professional services are sold direattith some professional services sold via our oleapartners. Our sales cycle with end-user
customers ranges from less than 90 days to ovealdepending on several factors, including the aimd complexity of the customer’s
infrastructure.

The competitive landscape in which we operate thefunot only other software virtualization venddmst, also traditional hardware
solutions. In establishing prices for our produets,take into account, among other factors, theevalr products and solutions deliver, and
cost of both alternative virtualization and hardevaolutions. We believe the significant numberwustomers who also purchase our software
services reflects a clear customer perception gsetoalue of our software services.

Our marketing efforts focus on communicating thedfiés of our solutions and educating our custorrgisdributors, resellers, x86
system vendors, systems integrators, the mediasalgsts about the advantages of our innovativaalization technology.

We raise the awareness of our company, marketrodupts and generate sales leads through indugtnt® public relations efforts,
marketing materials, free downloads and our web6iteaverage, our website receives approximatedyOlD unique visitors each week, as
measured by a third-party tracking system. We h#s@ created an online community called VMware fietdgy Network (“VMTN®) that
enables customers and partners to share and disglessand development resources, implementatistrpbactices, and industry trends among
other topics. Attendance at VMworld, the largestual industry conference on virtualization and bddty VMware, has grown from
approximately 1,400 attendees in 2004 to more $H@00 attendees in 2007. We also offer managenmreséptations, seminars and webinars
on our products and topics of virtualization. Wéidhee a combination of these efforts strengthersboand and enhances our leading market
position in our industry.

Customers

Our customers include 100% of the Fortune 100 gpdeximately 90% of the Fortune 1,000. Our custodegioyments range in size
from a single virtualized server for small busiress® up to thousands of virtual machines for atgdst enterprise customers. In periodic third-
party surveys commissioned by us, our customeisate very high satisfaction rates with our produartd many have indicated a strong
preference for repeat purchases.



Table of Contents

One of our distribution relationships is with IngrMicro, which accounted for 23% of our worldwiderenues in 2007. The agreement
under which we receive the substantial majoritpf Ingram Micro revenues is terminable by eithentypupon 90 days’ prior written notice to
the other party, and neither party has any oblgetd purchase or sell any products under the aggat Additionally, Arrow Electronics and
Hewlett Packard Company accounted for 12% and 1flévenues in 2007, respectively. No other chapaeiner accounted for more than
10% of our revenues in 2007.

Competition

The virtual infrastructure market is evolving, athdting 2007 we experienced increased competitiahvam expect competition to
significantly intensify in the future. We competéiwarge and small companies in different segmehtke virtualization market, and expect
that new entrants will continue to enter the maeget develop technologies that, if commercializedy compete with our products.

We believe that the key competitive factors inthual infrastructure market include:
» the level of reliability and new functionality ofgduct offerings
» the ability to provide full virtual infrastructuslutions;
» the ability to offer products that support multiplardware platforms and operating syste
» the proven track record of formulating and delimgra roadmap of virtualization capabiliti¢
» pricing of products, individually and in bundle
» the ability to attract and preserve a large insthbhase of customel

» the ability to create and maintain partnering opyaties with hardware and infrastructure softweeadors and development of
robust indirect sales channels; ¢

» the ability to attract and retain virtualizationdasystems experts as key employ:t

Microsoft is our primary competitor for virtualizah solutions. Microsoft currently provides prodaithat compete with some of our
entry-level offerings and has announced its intentd provide products that will compete with soofi@ur enterprise-class products in the
future. Microsoft has made a number of announcesnemiently regarding initiatives in this area, inthg acquisitions, and they may becon
more significant competitor in the future, giverithsignificant resources. We have developed atwafization solutions as a software layer
between the hardware and the operating systenisthat tied to a specific operating system. We abee an expert advanced vision of the
manager and automated data center. We believeppuoach and roadmap is differentiated from Micrsaind delivers significant flexibility,
functionality, reliability and superior economiclva to customers.

We also compete with companies whose productsasedoon emerging open-source technologies formysgtéualization. In addition,
we compete with companies that take different aggines to virtualization. However, we believe thesations offer limited support for
heterogeneous operating system deployments. Fortiner our VMware Infrastructure suite competes \pittducts that provide high
availability clustering, workload management angbrece management.

We also expect to compete with new entrants twitthealization market, which may include partiesremtly selling our products or our
current technology partners. Additionally, someof competitors may make acquisitions or enter jradnerships or other strategic
relationships with one another to offer a more cahpnsive virtualization solution than they indivédly had offered. Some competitors have
in the past and may in the future take advantadbeif existing relationships with our businesstipars to engage in business practices such as
distribution and license restrictions that make naducts less attractive to our channel partnedsesmd users. A number of companies have
recently announced initiatives in these areas. Mdrour



Table of Contents

current and future competitors have longer opegdtistories, greater name recognition and greatan€ial, sales and marketing and other
resources than do we.

We believe our market leadership, large customse bstrong partner network, broad and innovativetisms suite and platform-agnostic
approach position us favorably to compete effefitif@r the foreseeable future.

Intellectual Property

To date, the United States Patent and Trademaikedfhis issued us 31 patents covering various &spkour server virtualization and
other technologies. The granted United States tsveili expire beginning in 2018, with the latesagted patent expiring in 2024. We also
have numerous United States provisional and nowigiomal patent applications pending that coveeptispects of our virtualization and other
technologies.

We have been issued trademark registrations it/tfited States, the European Community and Japagriogvthe trademarks VMWAFR
for use in connection with computer software, dloghand reference materials, and VMWORLD for useannection with educational
seminars. VMWARE also is our registered trademarRustralia, Canada, India, Israel, the RepubliKofea, Mexico, Singapore and Taiwan.
We also have a trademark application pending tstegthe VMWARE mark in China. We have trademarklecations pending to register the
VMWARE FUSION mark in Australia, Canada, China, thieropean Community, Hong Kong, Japan, New ZealdredRussian Federation,
Republic of Korea, and the United States. We atsehrademark applications pending to registeMMMARK mark in the United States,
China, European Community, India, Israel, Japad,tha Russian Federation. In addition, we havesteggd trademarks for GSX SERVER
P2V in the United States and for MULTIPLEWORLDSJ@pan.

We also rely on intellectual property protectiosisch as copyrights and trade secrets.

Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken ttept@ur proprietary rights may not be adequataréalude misappropriation of our
proprietary information or infringement of our itieetual property rights, and our ability to polisech misappropriation or infringement is
uncertain, particularly in countries outside of theited States. United States patent filings arenided to provide the holder with a right to
exclude others from making, using, selling or imijmgy in the United States the inventions coveredhayclaims of granted patents. Our grau
United States patents, and to the extent any fytatents are issued, any such future patents magriiested, circumvented or invalidated in
the future. Moreover, the rights granted underiaayed patents may not provide us with propriepaogection or competitive advantages, and
we may not be able to prevent third parties frofringing these patents. Therefore, the exact effécur patents and the other steps we have
taken to protect our intellectual property canm@pbedicted with certainty.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately 5@r@ployees in offices worldwide. None of our emgley are represented by labor
unions, and we consider current employee relatiof®e good.

We contract with EMC to utilize personnel who aeglidated to work for VMware on a full-time basifiebe individuals are located in
countries in which we do not currently have an afieg subsidiary and are predominantly dedicateslitomarketing efforts. We use
contractors from time to time for temporary assignis and in locations in which we do not currehtlye operating subsidiaries. In the event
that these contractor resources were not availal@elo not believe that this would have a matexiberse effect our operations.
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Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reporid@rm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amesrdsnto reports filed
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Seesiiixchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchawtj$, are made available free of
charge on or through our website at www.vmware.asrsoon as reasonably practicable after such separtfiled with, or furnished to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”").i€opf the (i) charters for our Audit Committee,mwensation and Corporate
Governance Committee and Mergers and Acquisitiaoms@ittee, (ii) our Business Conduct Guidelines &otibusiness conduct and ethics)
and (iii) our Corporate Governance Guidelines,alable on the Investor Relations page of oursitelat www.vmware.com. Copies will be
provided to any shareholder upon request. Pleagkas®ritten request to VMware Investor Relatidd¥)1 Hillview Avenue, Palo Alto,
California 94304. None of the information postedooraccessible through our website is incorporatedeference into this Annual Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risk factors that appear below could materiaffect our business, financial condition and rissaf operations. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the onlysreakd uncertainties facing us. Our business issalbfect to general risks and uncertainties
affect many other companies.

Risks Related to Our Business

The virtualization products and services we seledrased on an emerging technology and therefore glbgential market for our products
remains uncertain.

The virtualization products and services we develog sell are based on an emerging technologyophatind our success depends on
organizations and customers perceiving technolbgitd operational benefits and cost savings assatigith adopting virtualization solutior
Our relatively limited operating history and théatevely limited extent to which virtualization adglons have been currently adopted may make
it difficult to evaluate our business because thieiptial market for our products remains uncert@ire markets for our virtualization products
are new and have grown rapidly from a small babés fias resulted in significant percentage increaseur product sales in recent periods
the markets for our products mature and the sdadeirdbusiness increases, the rate of growth inpooduct sales may be lower than those we
have experienced in recent periods. In additiothécextent that the virtualization market developge slowly or less comprehensively than
we expect, our revenue growth rates may slow negor our revenue may decline substantially.

We expect to face increasing competition that cotdgdult in a loss of customers, reduced revenuesiecreased profit margins.

The market for our products is competitive and wgeet competition to significantly intensify in tifigture. For example, Microsoft
currently provides products that compete with safneur free offerings and has released a betaoeisi a product that will likely compete
with our entry level enterprise-class productshim future. Microsoft’s offerings are positionedctumpete with our hypervisor offerings. We
also face competition from other companies, ineigdieveral recent market entrants and there haredaumber of announcements of new
product initiatives, alliances and consolidatiofoe§ by our competitors. For example, Citrix Sysseacquired XenSource, a developer of
virtual infrastructure software, and announced>gaasion of its alliance with Microsoft, and Xen®miproducts were made available
preinstalled on servers of certain x86 vendorstudiriron Software released a new version of itiastructure product, Sun Microsystems
announced a virtualization initiative and Oraclieased a Xen-based product. Existing and futurepetitors may introduce products in the
same markets we serve or intend to serve, and daomgpggoducts may have better performance, lowigepr better functionality and broader
acceptance than our products. Our competitors risayaald
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features to their virtualization products similarféatures that presently differentiate our proaiffgrings from theirs. Many of our current or
potential competitors also have longer operatirsgohies, greater name recognition, larger custdiases and significantly greater financial,
technical, sales, marketing and other resourceswieado. This competition could result in increapeding pressure and sales and marketing
expenses, thereby materially reducing our profitgims, and could harm our ability to increase, ause us to lose, market share. Increased
competition also may prevent us from entering ortoenewing service contracts on terms similahtsé that we currently offer.

Some of our competitors and potential competitapply a wide variety of products to, and have vestlablished relationships with, our
current and prospective end users. Some of thespetdors have in the past and may in the futuke talvantage of their existing relationst
to engage in business practices that make our ptetkss attractive to our end users. For exanMitosoft has implemented distribution
arrangements with x86 system vendors and indepésdéware vendors, or ISVs, related to certaitheir operating systems that only permit
the use of Microsoft’s virtualization format and dot allow the use of our corresponding format. fdgoft has also recently implemented
pricing policies that require customers to pay tddal license fees based on certain uses of Vizatéoon technology. These distribution and
licensing restrictions, as well as other busineastjres that may be adopted in the future by oomgetitors, could materially impact our
prospects regardless of the merits of our prodlietaddition, competitors with existing relationghiwith our current or prospective end users
could in the future integrate competitive capaieiitinto their existing products and make themlatée without additional charge. For
example, Oracle’s announcement promised free semaalization software intended to support Oraahel non-Oracle applications. By
engaging in such business practices, our competiton diminish competitive advantages we may pedseimcentivizing end users to choose
products that lack the technical advantages obeur offerings.

We also face potential competition from our pané&ior example, third parties currently selling products could build and market th
own competing products and services or market cangperoducts and services of third parties. Ifave unable to compete effectively, our
growth and our ability to sell products at profimimargins could be materially and adversely aéféct

Industry alliances or consolidation may result imé¢reased competitior

Some of our competitors have made acquisitionsitared into partnerships or other strategic retetiips with one another to offer a
more comprehensive virtualization solution tharytimelividually had offered. For example, Citrix $§ms recently acquired XenSource, a
developer of virtualization solutions and Microseftently announced an expansion of its alliandk ®itrix. We expect these trends to
continue as companies attempt to strengthen ortaiaitheir market positions in the evolving virtization infrastructure industry. Many of the
companies driving this trend have significantlyajes financial, technical and other resources thamlo and may be better positioned to
acquire and offer complementary products and tdogies. The companies resulting from these possibaebinations may create more
compelling product offerings and be able to offexager pricing flexibility than we can or may engag business practices that make it more
difficult for us to compete effectively, includiran the basis of price, sales and marketing progréenbnology or product functionality. These
pressures could result in a substantial loss dbowsrs or a reduction in our revenues.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlyhich makes our future results difficult to predi@nd may result in our operating results
falling below expectations or our guidance, whiclowald cause the price of our Class A common stocki&zline.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a waéfactors, many of which are outside of our €ohtAs a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis naype meaningful. Our past results should not bed@pon as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portionoofr quarterly sales typically occurs during the asnth of the quarter, which we believe
generally reflects customer buying patterns foegrise technology. As a result, our quarterly apirg results are difficult to predict even
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in the near term. If our revenue or operating tsdfall below the expectations of investors or sities analysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our Class A owm stock would likely decline substantially.
In addition, factors that may affect our operatiagults include, among others:
« fluctuations in demand, adoption, sales cyclesm@iuing levels for our products and servic
» changes in custom¢ budgets for information technology purchases arttiértiming of their purchasing decisiol
» the timing of recognizing revenue in any given ¢eiaas a result of software revenue recognitioicjsd;
» the sale of our products in the timeframes we gte, including the number and size of ordersaichequarter

» our ability to develop, introduce and ship in adljnmanner new products and product enhancemegttsnbet customer demand,
certification requirements and technical requiretsg

» the timing of the announcement or release of prisdoicupgrades by us or by our competit

» our ability to implement scalable internal systedorsreporting, order processing, license fulfillmeproduct delivery, purchasing,
billing and general accounting, among other fundjs

» our ability to control costs, including our opengtiexpenses
» changes to our effective tax ra
» the increasing scale of our business and its effectur ability to maintain historical rates of gith;

« our ability to attract and retain highly skilled ployees, particularly those with relevant experencsoftware development and
sales; ant

» general economic conditions in our domestic anerirdtional markets

If operating system and hardware vendors do not perate with us or we are unable to obtain early ass to their new products, or acces:
certain information about their new products to em® that our solutions interoperate with those pnacts, our product development efforts
may be delayed or foreclosed.

Our products interoperate with Windows, Linux atidep operating systems and the hardware devicesroérous manufacturers.
Developing products that interoperate properly negusubstantial partnering, capital investmentemgloyee resources, as well as the
cooperation of the vendors or developers of theaijpegy systems and hardware. Operating system amtiiare vendors may not provide us
with early access to their technology and prodwagsist us in these development efforts or shateavisell to us any application protocol
interfaces (“APIs”), formats, or protocols we magen. If they do not provide us with the necessarlyeccess, assistance or proprietary
technology on a timely basis, we may experienceyubdevelopment delays or be unable to expangmaucts into other areas. To the ex
that software or hardware vendors develop prodhetscompete with ours or those of our controlktgckholder, EMC, they may have an
incentive to withhold their cooperation, declinestaare access or sell to us their proprietary ARtistocols or formats or engage in practices to
actively limit the functionality, or compatibilityand certification of our products. In additionrdhaare or operating system vendors may fail to
certify or support or continue to certify or suppaur products for their systems. If any of theefgoing occurs, our product development
efforts may be delayed or foreclosed and our bgsia@d results of operations may be adverselytatfec
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We rely on distributors, resellers, x86 system varsdand systems integrators to sell our productsgdaur failure to effectively develop,
manage or prevent disruptions to our distributioma&nnels and the processes and procedures that suppem could cause a reduction in
the number of end users of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maimigiand increasing the number of our relationshijpk distributors, resellers, x86
system vendors and systems integrators. By relgindistributors, resellers, x86 system vendorssystems integrators, we may have little or
no contact with the ultimate users of our produttsfeby making it more difficult for us to estalibrand awareness, ensure proper delivery
and installation of our products, service ongoingtomer requirements, estimate end user demanceapdnd to evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partreerd training them in the use of our technology jaratluct offerings requires
significant time and resources. In order to develog expand our distribution channel, we must ocomtito expand and improve our processes
and procedures that support our channel, includiurgnvestment in systems and training, and thosegsses and procedures may become
increasingly complex and difficult to manage. Timet and expense required for sales and marketiganizations of our channel partners to
become familiar with our product offerings, inclndiour new product developments, may make it miffiewt to introduce those products to
end users and delay end user adoption of our ptadigrings. We generally do not have long-termtcacts or minimum purchase
commitments with our distributors, resellers, x§6tem vendors and systems integrators, and ourasdstwith these channel partners do not
prohibit them from offering products or serviceatthompete with ours. Our competitors may be dffedh providing incentives to existing
and potential channel partners to favor productsunfcompetitors or to prevent or reduce salesuofpooducts. Certain x86 system vendors
have begun to offer competing virtualization pragyareinstalled on their server products. Additibnaur competitors could attempt to
require key distributors to enter into exclusiatyangements with them or otherwise apply thettipg or marketing leverage to discourage
distributors from offering our products. Accordiggbur channel partners and x86 system vendorsameagse not to offer our products
exclusively or at all. Our failure to maintain aimdrease the number of relationships with chanaeiyers would likely lead to a loss of end
users of our products which would result in us iéog lower revenues from our channel partners. @nfe Company’s distribution
agreements is with Ingram Micro, which accountad@?s of our revenues in 2007. The agreement wigindm Micro under which the
Company receives the substantial majority of itgdém Micro revenues is terminable by either papgru90 days’ prior written notice to the
other party, and neither party has any obligatmpurchase or sell any products under the agreembatterms of this agreement between
Ingram Micro and us are substantially similar te tarms of the agreements we have with other digtiis, except for certain differences in
shipment and payment terms, indemnification obiayet and product return rights. While we believat tve have in place, or would have in
place by the date of any such termination, agre¢sneith other distributors sufficient to maintaiaraevenues from distribution, if we were to
lose Ingram Micro’s distribution services, suchslaspuld have a negative impact on our results efatpns until such time as we arrange to
replace these distribution services with the sesviaf existing or new distributors.

The concentration of our product sales among a lted number of distributors increases our potent@kdit risk and could cause significal
fluctuations or declines in our product revenue

One distributor accounted for 23%, 29% and 30%ewénues in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Aulditly, another distributor
accounted for 12% of revenues in 2007. We antieiftzt sales of our products to a limited numbaetistributors will continue to account fo
significant portion of our total product revenues the foreseeable future. The concentration ofipcosales among certain distributors
increases our potential credit risks. Some of astridutors may experience financial difficultieghich could adversely impact our collectior
accounts receivable. One or more of these distributould delay payments or default on credit edelinto them. Any significant delay or
default in the collection of significant accountgeivable could result in an increased need fao wbtain working capital from other sources,
possibly on worse terms than we could have neguatiitwe had established such working capital resssiprior to such delays or defaults.
Any significant default could result in a negatiwgact on our results of operations.
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We are dependent on our existing management and key development personnel, and the loss of keypenel may prevent us from
implementing our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continueitssref our existing management. We are also sotistigt dependent on the
continued service of our key development persoforgbroduct innovation. We generally do not havepayment or non-compete agreements
with our existing management or development persband, therefore, they could terminate their emplent with us at any time without
penalty and could pursue employment opportunitigls any of our competitors. The loss of key empksy/eould seriously harm our ability to
release new products on a timely basis and coghifsiantly help our competitors.

Because competition for our target employees i®imge, we may not be able to attract and retain lirgthly skilled employees we need
support our planned growth and our compensation exyges may increas

To execute our growth plan, we must attract anaimdtighly qualified personnel. Competition for sleepersonnel is intense, especially
for engineers with high levels of experience inigeing and developing software and senior saleswgikess. We may not be successful in
attracting and retaining qualified personnel. Weehfiom time to time in the past experienced, aedewpect to continue to experience in the
future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highlyk#led employees with appropriate qualificationsaf of the companies with which we
compete for experienced personnel have greatenmasothan we have. In addition, in making emplayhakecisions, particularly in the high-
technology industry, job candidates often consitlervalue of the stock options, restricted sto@ants or other stock-based compensation they
are to receive in connection with their employmeéndecline in the value of our stock could adversdfect our ability to attract or retain key
employees. If we fail to attract new personnelailrtb retain and motivate our current personnet, lusiness and future growth prospects ¢
be severely harmed.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual proptgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to incL
significant expenses to enforce our right

We depend on our ability to protect our propriet@ghnology. We rely on trade secret, patent, dghyand trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and tpadies, all of which offer only limited protectioAs such, despite our efforts, the steps we
have taken to protect our proprietary rights mayb®adequate to preclude misappropriation of ooprietary information or infringement of
our intellectual property rights, and our abilibygolice such misappropriation or infringementrgertain, particularly in countries outside of
the United States. Further, with respect to paights, we do not know whether any of our pendiatgpt applications will result in the
issuance of patents or whether the examinationggwill require us to narrow our claims. Evenafgnts are issued from our patent
applications, which is not certain, they may betested, circumvented or invalidated in the futdereover, the rights granted under any
issued patents may not provide us with propriepmogection or competitive advantages, and, as aithtechnology, competitors may be able
to develop similar or superior technologies to @wn now or in the future. In addition, we rely aontractual and license agreements with third
parties in connection with their use of our progduentd technology. There is no guarantee that satlep will abide by the terms of such
agreements or that we will be able to adequatdigree our rights, in part because we rely on “cliglap” and “shrink-wrap” licenses in some
instances.

Detecting and protecting against the unauthorizedai our products, technology and proprietarytadgd expensive, difficult and, in
some cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessahe future to enforce or defend our intelletfr@perty rights, to protect our trade sec
or to determine the validity and scope of the pietpry rights of others. Such litigation could rit$m substantial costs and diversion of
management resources, either of which could hambosiness, operating results and financial comaljitand there is no guarantee that we
would be successful. Furthermore, many of our ciraad potential competitors have the ability tdidate substantially greater resources to
protecting their technology or intellectual progeights than do we. Accordingly, despite our e§pwe may not be able to prevent third
parties from infringing upon or misappropriating autellectual property, which could result in stantial loss of our market share.
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We provide access to our hypervisor and other sel@source code to partners, which creates addgilorsk that our competitors could
develop products that are similar or better thanrsu

Our success and ability to compete depend subalignipon our internally developed technology, whis incorporated in the source
code for our products. We seek to protect the sooocde, design code, documentation and other writigterials for our software, under trade
secret and copyright laws. However, we have chas@novide access to our hypervisor and other tedesource code to more than 40 of our
partners for co-development, as well as for opets Aflermats and protocols. Though we generally md@tccess to our source code and other
intellectual property, and enter into confidentiabr license agreements with such partners, alsaseabith our employees and consultants, our
safeguards may be insufficient to protect our treetrets and other rights to our technology. Oatgative measures may be inadequate,
especially because we may not be able to prevergantners, employees or consultants from violating agreements or licenses we may have
in place or abusing their access granted to oucecrode. Improper disclosure or use of our sococe could help competitors develop
products similar to or better than ours.

Claims by others that we infringe their proprietatgchnology could force us to pay damages or préwenfrom using certain technology in
our products.

Third parties could claim that our products or temlbgy infringe their proprietary rights. This rigkay increase as the number of prod
and competitors in our market increases and ovedapur. In addition, to the extent that we gamager visibility and market exposure as a
public company, we face a higher risk of beinggbbject of intellectual property infringement clainAny claim of infringement by a third
party, even one without merit, could cause us tolisubstantial costs defending against the claimd,could distract our management from our
business. Furthermore, a party making such a ciégngccessful, could secure a judgment that reguiss to pay substantial damages. A
judgment could also include an injunction or otbeurt order that could prevent us from offering ptoducts. In addition, we might |
required to seek a license for the use of suctiésteal property, which may not be available omaoeercially reasonable terms or at all.
Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofminging technology, which could require signifi¢affort and expense and may ultimately
not be successful. Any of these events could sslgidwarm our business, operating results and filmhoondition. Third parties may also assert
infringement claims against our customers and chigpertners. Any of these claims could requirecusitiate or defend potentially protracted
and costly litigation on their behalf, regardle$she merits of these claims, because we generalgmnify our customers and channel parti
from claims of infringement of proprietary rightkthird parties in connection with the use of omducts. If any of these claims succeed, we
may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our oust® or channel partners, which could materialuoe our income.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelifect our ability to sell our products and subjeas to possible litigation.

A significant portion of the products or technolegacquired, licensed or developed by us may imcate so-called “open source”
software, and we may incorporate open source stétito other products in the future. Such operr@software is generally licensed by its
authors or other third parties under open souoem$ies, including, for example, the GNU GeneraliPllixense, the GNU Lesser General
Public License, “Apache-style” licenses, “Berketggftware Distribution,” “BSD-style” licenses andhet open source licenses. We monitor
our use of open source software in an effort tadasabjecting our products to conditions we dointgnd. Although we believe that we have
complied with our obligations under the variouslaggble licenses for open source software that seeauch that we have not triggered any
such conditions, there is little or no legal prezr@dgoverning the interpretation of many of thengiof certain of these licenses, and therefore
the potential impact of these terms on our busifeessmewhat unknown and may result in unanticigpataigations regarding our products :
technologies. For example, we may be subjecteértaio conditions, including requirements that feroour products that use the open so
software for no cost, that we make available souoke for modifications or derivative works we desbhased upon, incorporating or using the
open source
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software and/or that we license such modificatimnderivative works under the terms of the partica@pen source license.

If an author or other third party that distribugesch open source software were to allege that wenbacomplied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could be reqtiré@ttur significant legal expenses defending agtasuch allegations. If our defenses were
not successful, we could be subject to significkamhages, enjoined from the distribution of our pieid that contained the open source
software and required to comply with the foregategditions, which could disrupt the distributiordasale of some of our products. In
addition, if we combine our proprietary softwarghwdpen source software in a certain manner, usgl®e open source licenses we could be
required to release the source code of our prapyietoftware, which could substantially help oumpetitors develop products that are similar
to or better than ours.

In addition to risks related to license requirersgnsage of open source software can lead to grésite than use of third party
commercial software, as open source licensors géyelo not provide warranties or assurance df titl controls on origin of the software. We
have established processes to help alleviate tisdse including a review process for screeningiests from our development organizations
for the use of open source, but we cannot be fatteatl open source is submitted for approval piaonse in our products. In addition, many of
the risks associated with usage of open sourcé, asithe lack of warranties or assurances of Géanot be eliminated, and could, if not
properly addressed, negatively affect our business.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and sales efforts require considerable time andperse. As a result, our sales are
difficult to predict and may vary substantially fro quarter to quarter, which may cause our operatingsults to fluctuate significantly.

The timing of our revenue is difficult to predi@ur sales efforts involve educating our custombmutithe use and benefit of our
products, including their technical capabilitiestgntial cost savings to an organization and adged compared to lowepst products offere
by our competitors. Customers typically undertalsggaificant evaluation process that has in the pEsilted in a lengthy sales cycle, which
typically lasts several months, and may last a pedonger. We spend substantial time, effort armhey on our sales efforts without any
assurance that our efforts will produce any sdteaddition, product purchases are frequently sttliebudget constraints, multiple approvals,
and unplanned administrative, processing and atélays. Additionally, the greater number of compegialternatives, as well as
announcements by our competitors that they intenidttoduce competitive alternatives at some piirthe future, can lengthen customer
procurement cycles, cause us to spend additianal éind resources to educate end users on the adeardf our product offerings and delay
product sales. If sales expected from a specifstarner for a particular quarter are not realizethat quarter or at all, our results could fall
short of public expectations and our business,aipey results and financial condition could be matly adversely affected.

Our current research and development efforts mayt pooduce significant revenues for several yeafsat all.

Developing our products is expensive. Our investnireresearch and development may not result irketable products or may result in
products that take longer to generate revenueggmerate less revenues, than we anticipate. Oeanesand development expenses were
$285.9 million, or 22% of our total revenues in 2p8nd $148.3 million, or 21% of our total revenire2006. Our future plans include
significant investments in software research angidgpment and related product opportunities. Weebelthat we must continue to dedicate a
significant amount of resources to our researchdavelopment efforts to maintain our competitiveifion. However, we may not receive
significant revenues from these investments foesswears, if at all.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technologatenges with new solutions and services offeringshich could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The markets for our software solutions are chareete by rapid technological changes, changingacust needs, frequent new software
product introductions and evolving industry stamigaiT he introduction of third-
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party solutions embodying new technologies ancethergence of new industry standards could makexisting and future software solutic
obsolete and unmarketable. We may not be ablevelale updated products that keep pace with teclgicdbdevelopments and emerging
industry standards and that address the incregssoglhisticated needs of our customers or thatdp&rate with new or updated operating
systems and hardware devices or certify our pradioctvork with these systems and devices. Theme msssurance that any of our new
offerings would be accepted in the marketplaceniBaant reductions in server-related costs orrtbe of more efficient infrastructure
management software could also affect demand fosoitware solutions. As hardware and processarsrbe more powerful, we will have to
adapt our product and service offerings to takeaathge of the increased capabilities. For examyide the introduction of more powerful
servers presents an opportunity for us to provietéeb products for our customers, the expectedati@r of servers from dual-core to quad-
core microprocessor technology will also allow ad eser with a given number of licensed copiesuwfsoftware to double the number of
virtualization machines run per server socket withitaving to purchase additional licenses fromAssa result, we may not be able to
accurately predict the lifecycle of our softwaréusions, and they may become obsolete before waivethe amount of revenues that we
anticipate from them. If any of the foregoing eewere to occur, our ability to retain or increasgrket share and revenues in the virtualiz:
software market could be materially adversely aéfdc

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peeducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services.

If we are unable to develop new products and sesyior to enhance and improve our products andosupgrvices in a timely manner or
to position and/or price our products and servioaaeet market demand, customers may not buy néwease licenses or renew software
license updates and product support. In additimioyimation technology standards from both consantid formal standards-setting forums as
well as de facto marketplace standards are rapighyving. We cannot provide any assurance thastdwedards on which we choose to develop
new products will allow us to compete effectively business opportunities in emerging areas.

New product development and introduction involvessgaificant commitment of time and resources anslibject to a number of risks
and challenges including:

* Managing the length of the development cycle faw peoducts and product enhancements, which haadraty been longer than
we originally expectec

» Adapting to emerging and evolving industry standadd to technological developments by our congrsténd customer
» Entering into new or unproven markets with whichhese limited experienc
» Incorporating and integrating acquired products etinologies; an
» Developing or expanding efficient sales chanr
In addition, if we cannot adapt our business motieleep pace with industry trends, our revenuddcbe negatively impacted.

Our ability to sell our products is dependent oretiquality of our support and services offerings,dour failure to offer high-quality suppor
and services could have a material adverse effecbar sales and results of operations.

Once our products are integrated within our custshierdware and software systems, our customeysd®gend on our support
organization to resolve any issues relating topyaducts. A high level of support is critical féret successful marketing and sale of our
products. If we or our channel partners do nototiffely assist our customers in deploying our pridusucceed in helping our customers
quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and proeitlective ongoing support, our ability to sell garoducts to existing customers
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would be adversely affected, and our reputatioh watential customers could be harmed. In addisnye expand our operations
internationally, our support organization will fagdditional challenges, including those associatithl delivering support, training and
documentation in languages other than English. fesalt, our failure to maintain high-quality suppand services, or to adequately assist our
channel partners in providing high-quality supg@ort services, could result in customers choosingéoour competitors’ products instead of
ours in the future.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced informatitathnology spending may adversely impact our reves

Our business depends on the overall demand fomirEtion technology and on the economic health ofcowrent and prospective
customers. The purchase of our products is ofteerefionary and may involve a significant commitingfincapital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions, or a reduction in informatieohnology spending even if economic conditionsrowp, would likely adversely impact
our business, operating results and financial dardin a number of ways, including by lengthengades cycles, lowering prices for our
products and services and reducing unit sales.

We may engage in future acquisitions that could mipt our business, cause dilution to our stockhotdeand harm our business, operating
results and financial condition.

In the future we may seek to acquire other busesggzoducts or technologies. However, we may aatie to find suitable acquisition
candidates and we may not be able to complete sitiqus on favorable terms, if at all. If we do qaete acquisitions, we may not ultimately
strengthen our competitive position or achievegnals, or they may be viewed negatively by custenferancial markets or investors.
Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operationsedi management from day-to-day responsibilitiestéase our expenses and adversely
impact our business, operating results and findroiadition. Future acquisitions may reduce ouhcagailable for operations and other uses
and could result in an increase in amortizationeesg related to identifiable intangible assets imedupotentially dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt. We have é&nhhistorical experience with the integration afj@ced companies. There can be no assuranc
that we will be able to manage the integrationaefuared businesses effectively or be able to resach motivate key personnel from these
businesses. Any difficulties we encounter in thegnation process could divert management fromtdegay responsibilities, increase our
expenses and have a material adverse effect dousinmess, financial condition and results of openat In addition, we review our amortiza
intangible assets for impairment when events ongba in circumstances indicate the carrying valag not be recoverable and are required to
test goodwill for impairment at least annually. Way be required to record a significant chargeatmiags in our financial statements during
the period in which any impairment of our goodwillamortizable intangible assets resulting fronaequisition or otherwise is determined,
resulting in an adverse impact on our results efrafons.

Operating in foreign countries subjects us to addital risks that may harm our ability to increase maintain our international sales and
operations.

In 2007, we derived approximately 46% of our revefrom customers outside the United States. We bales and technical support
personnel in numerous countries worldwide. We ekfzecontinue to add personnel in additional caestrOur international operations subject
us to a variety of risks, including:

» the difficulty of managing and staffing internatadroffices and the increased travel, infrastrucaurd legal compliance costs
associated with multiple international locatio

» difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectingcounts receivable, and longer payment cyclegcésfy in emerging market
« difficulties in delivering support, training and @omentation in certain foreign marke

» tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatorgantractual limitations on our ability to sell agwklop our products in certain fore
markets;
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« economic or political instability and security cenags in countries that are important to our intéomel sales and operatior
» the overlap of different tax structures or changeaternational tax laws

* increased exposure to foreign currency exchangerisk;

» reduced protection for intellectual property righteluding reduced protection from software pirétygome countries; ar

« difficulties in transferring funds from certain adties; anc

» difficulties in maintaining appropriate controldating to revenue recognition practic

As we continue to expand our business globally,soiecess will depend, in large part, on our abibtanticipate and effectively manage
these and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations. We expect a significant portiomwf growth to occur in foreign countries
which can add to the difficulties in establishimglanaintaining adequate management systems amdaht®ntrols over financial reporting a
increase challenges in managing an organizatioratipg in various countries.

Our failure to manage any of these risks succdgsfalld harm our international operations and pedour international sales.

Our products are highly technical and may contaimrers, which could cause harm to our reputation aradiversely affect our business.

Our products are highly technical and complex artten deployed, have contained and may containgrdefects or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products maly & discovered after a product has been installedused by customers. Any errors, def
or security vulnerabilities discovered in our protduafter commercial release could result in Idsgwenue or delay in revenue recognition,
loss of customers and increased service and wsgireast, any of which could adversely affect ouribess, operating results and financial
condition. Undiscovered vulnerabilities in our puats could expose them to hackers or other unstoupthird parties who develop and
deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious softwaograms that could attack our products. Actuglenceived security vulnerabilities in our
products could harm our reputation and lead sorstomers to return products, to reduce or delayréupurchases or use competitive products.
End users, who rely on our products and servicethéinteroperability of enterprise servers angliaptions that are critical to their
information systems, may have a greater sensitivigyroduct errors and security vulnerabilitiesticastomers for software products generally.
Any security breaches could lead to interruptialedays and data loss and protection concerns.ditiaadl, we could face claims for product
liability, tort or breach of warranty, includingadins relating to changes to our products made bygloannel partners. Our contracts with
customers contain provisions relating to warrarggldimers and liability limitations, which may no¢ upheld. Defending a lawsuit, regardless
of its merit, is costly and time-consuming and ndaxert management’s attention and adversely affexinarket’s perception of us and our
products. In addition, if our business liabilitysimance coverage proves inadequate or future agerésainavailable on acceptable terms or at
all, our business, operating results and finarmalition could be adversely impacted.

Our independent registered public accounting firmentified a material weakness in the design and igtion of our internal controls as of
December 31, 2006, which we remediated in 2007.cAfeot assure you that material weaknesses will agist or be identified in future
periods.

Our independent registered public accounting fieorted to our board of directors a material weagrie the design and operation of
internal controls as of December 31, 2006 relatettie capitalization of software development cotmaterial weakness is defined by the
standards issued by the Public Company Accountivey$ight Board as a more than remote likelihood dhaaterial misstatement of the
annual or interim financial
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statements will not be prevented or detected. Taenal weakness resulted from a lack of adequmerial controls to ensure the timely
identification and accumulation of costs once ggmioreaches technological feasibility under agtlle accounting standards. Our historical
consolidated financial statements reflect adjustsyemproperly state our capitalized software depelent costs for the periods included
therein. Our independent registered public accagrftirm was not engaged to audit the effectiverdsair internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006. If such an ex@lo had been performed, additional material weakas may have been identified. Our
independent registered public accounting firm was aot engaged to audit the effectiveness of mi@rmal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2007. If such an evaluation had Ipeeformed, material weaknesses may have beetifiden

We have remediated the material weakness foundriinternal controls as of December 31, 2006 byl@mgnting additional formal
policies, procedures and processes, hiring ad@itiaccounting personnel and increasing manageraeigw and oversight over the financial
statement close process. Under Section 404 ofaheafes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the current rulethefSEC, our management and
independent registered public accounting firm Wélrequired to evaluate and report on the effewéige of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2008. If additionaterial weaknesses in our internal controls areadisred in the future, we may fail to meet
our future reporting obligations, our financialtstaents may contain material misstatements angrtbe of our common stock may decline.

If we fail to implement and maintain an effectiveystem of internal controls, we may not be able ttwarately report our financial results o
prevent fraud. As a result, our stockholders coldgse confidence in our financial reporting, whichozild harm our business and the tradir
price of our common stock

We are preparing for compliance with Section 404digediating the previously identified material Weass in our internal controls and
by assessing, strengthening and testing our systémternal controls. In particular, we believe wil need to increase the number of our
accounting personnel and improve our processesystdms to ensure timely and accurate reportirggofinancial results in accordance with
reporting obligations as a stand-alone public camgpBlowever, the continuous process of strengtlieainr internal controls and complying
with Section 404 is expensive and tim@asuming, and requires significant managememntiite We cannot be certain that these measuré
remediate the existing material weakness or imphrmdequate control over our financial processeésr@porting. In addition, we have
identified certain processes that need to be autahia order to ensure that we have effective irgtkcontrol over financial reporting. If we are
not able to automate these processes in a timstydia, we will not be able to ensure compliancetifarmore, as we grow our business, our
internal controls will become more complex and wikk iequire significantly more resources to ensowe internal controls overall remain
effective. Failure to implement required new or imyed controls, or difficulties encountered in thieiplementation, could harm our operating
results or cause us to fail to meet our reportipiggations. If we or our independent registeredljpudiccounting firm identify additional
material weaknesses, the disclosure of that faet & quickly remedied, could reduce the marketsfidence in our financial statements and
harm our stock price. In addition, future non-coiapte with Section 404 could subject us to a warétadministrative sanctions, including the
suspension or delisting of our common stock fromNlew York Stock Exchange and the inability of ségied brokedealers to make a marl
in our common stock, which could further reduce stock price.

Problems with our information systems could interéewith our business and operation

We rely on our information systems and those afitparties for processing customer orders, delieg¢groducts, providing services and
support to our customers, billing and tracking customers, fulfilling contractual obligations, amitherwise running our business. Any
disruption in our information systems and thosthefthird parties upon whom we rely could havegaificant impact on our business. In
addition, we are in the process of enhancing darmmation systems. The implementation of thesegygfeenhancements is frequently
disruptive to the underlying business of an entsepmwhich may especially be the case for us duikesize and complexity of our businesses.
Any disruptions relating to our systems enhancemegarticularly any disruptions
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impacting our operations during the implementaperiod, could adversely affect our business inralmer of respects. Even if we do not
encounter these adverse effects, the implementatitirese enhancements may be much more costlytbamticipated. If we are unable to
successfully implement the information systems anbments as planned, our financial position, resafloperations, and cash flows could be
negatively impacted.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, waay not be able to meet our custon’ needs or be able to meet our future reporting
obligations.

We have expanded our operations significantly sinception and anticipate that further significarpansion will be required. This
future growth, if it occurs, will place significademands on our management, infrastructure and mgheurces. To manage any future growth,
we will need to hire, integrate and retain hightilled and motivated employees. We will also nezddntinue to improve our financial and
management controls, reporting and operationaésystand procedures. If we do not effectively marmagegrowth we may not be able to r
our customers’ needs, thereby adversely affectirgsales, or be able to meet our future reportisigyations.

We may have exposure to additional income tax lldigis.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and various foreign jurisdictions. Our doneestd international tax liabilities a
subject to the allocation of revenues and expeinséiferent jurisdictions and the timing of recaging revenues and expenses. Additionally,
the amount of income taxes paid is subject to otarpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurgitins in which we file and changes to tax
laws. For example, renewal of the U.S. researchdaweélopment tax credit which benefited our tae tat approximately 4 percentage point
2007 is uncertain from year to year and it cursesthnds repealed for 2008. From time to time, mesabject to income tax audits. While we
believe we have complied with all applicable incatave laws, there can be no assurance that a goxgetauk authority will not have a different
interpretation of the law and assess us with amithfi taxes. Should we be assessed with additiarakf there could be a material adverse ¢
on our results of operations or financial condition

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic eventand to interruption by man-made
problems, such as computer viruses or terrorism,iethcould result in delays or cancellations of casher orders or the deployment of o
products.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the Sarcisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic digthA significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire or a flood, could lzanmterial adverse impact on our business, opgragsults and financial condition. As we
continue grow internationally, increasing amouriteur business will be located in foreign counttiest may be more subject to political or
social instability that could disrupt operations.alddition, our servers are vulnerable to compuiteses, break-ins and similar disruptions from
unauthorized tampering with our computer systemstheérmore, acts of terrorism or war could causeugitions in our or our customers’
business or the economy as a whole. To the extahstich disruptions result in delays or cancelfetiof customer orders, or the deploymel
our products, our revenues would be adversely t&itec

Risks Related to Our Relationship with EMC

As long as EMC controls us, holders of our Classs8mmon stock will have limited ability to influenamatters requiring stockholde
approval.

As of December 31, 2007, EMC owned 26,500,000 shafreur Class A common stock and all 300,000,0@0es of our Class B
common stock, representing approximately 85% otdke outstanding shares of common stock or 98%h®f/oting power of outstanding
common stock. The holders of our Class A commocksémd our Class B common stock have identicaksigireferences and privileges
except with
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respect to voting and conversion rights, the edactif directors, certain actions that require thesent of holders of Class B common stock and
other protective provisions as set forth in outifieate of incorporation. Holders of our Class &mwmon stock are entitled to 10 votes per s

of Class B common stock on all matters exceptterelection of our Group Il directors, in which edkey are entitled to one vote per share,
and the holders of our Class A common stock arideshto one vote per share of Class A common stdbke holders of Class B common st
voting separately as a class, are entitled to 8@%t of the total number of directors on our baafrdirectors that we would have if there were
no vacancies on our board of directors at the tifhese are our Group Il directors. Subject to agiyts of any series of preferred stock to elect
directors, the holders of Class A common stocktaecholders of Class B common stock, voting togedisea single class, are entitled to elect
our remaining directors, which at no time will les$ than one director—our Group | director(s). 8&haf Class B common stock are entitled to
one vote per share when voting for such remainirectbrs. Accordingly, the holders of our Classdntnon stock currently are entitled to
elect 7 of our 8 directors. If EMC transfers sharesur Class B common stock to any party othen thauccessor-in-interest or a subsidiary of
EMC (other than in a distribution to its stockhatlander Section 355 of the Internal Revenue C6d986, as amended, or the Code, or in
transfers following such a distribution), thosersisawill automatically convert into Class A comnsinck. For so long as EMC or its
successor-in-interest beneficially owns sharesuoftommon stock representing at least a majorithefvotes entitled to be cast by the holders
of outstanding voting stock, EMC will be able tedlall of the members of our board of directors.

In addition, until such time as EMC or its succesaeinterest beneficially owns shares of our commstock representing less than a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by thédhos of outstanding voting stock, EMC will have thbility to take stockholder action without
the vote of any other stockholder and without hgtimcall a stockholder meeting, and holders of@lass A common stock will not be able to
affect the outcome of any stockholder vote durhig period. As a result, EMC will have the abilitycontrol all matters affecting us, includi

» the composition of our board of directors and, tigtoour board of directors, any determination wétbpect to our business plans
and policies

» any determinations with respect to mergers, adipis and other business combinatic
e our acquisition or disposition of asse

» our financing activities

» certain changes to our certificate of incorporat

» changes to the agreements providing for our triamsib becoming a public compar

» corporate opportunities that may be suitable foang EMC;

» determinations with respect to enforcement of egh¢ may have against third parties, including wétspect to intellectual propel
rights;

» the payment of dividends on our common stock;
» the number of shares available for issuance unatestock plans for our prospective and existing leyges.

Our certificate of incorporation and the mastensiction agreement between us and EMC also camtauisions that require that as lo
as EMC beneficially owns at least 20% or more efdhtstanding shares of our common stock, the pffomative vote or written consent of
EMC (or its successor-in-interest) as the holdehefClass B common stock is required (subjecashecase to certain exceptions) in order to
authorize us to:

» consolidate or merge with any other ent
» acquire the stock or assets of another entity aegx of $100 million
* issue any stock or securities except to our sufasedi or pursuant to our employee benefit pl
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» establish the aggregate annual amount of sharesayessue in equity award
» dissolve, liquidate or wind us u
» declare dividends on our stoc

» enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arrangeméth a third party involving, in whole or in pagiroducts or services that are
similar to EMC's; and

» amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéth certain provisions of our certificate of ovporation or bylaws

If EMC does not provide any requisite consent aillgaus to conduct such activities when requestedywill not be able to conduct such
activities and, as a result, our business and perating results may be harmed.

EMC’s voting control and its additional rights debed above may discourage transactions involviogange of control of us, including
transactions in which holders of our Class A comrmsimtk might otherwise receive a premium for tisbiares over the then-current market
price. EMC is not prohibited from selling a conlir) interest in us to a third party and may dasihout the approval of the holders of our
Class A common stock and without providing for aghase of any shares of Class A common stock hefetsons other than EMC.
Accordingly, shares of Class A common stock maybeth less than they would be if EMC did not maimteoting control over us or have the
additional rights described above.

In the event EMC is acquired or otherwise undergoelsange of control, any acquiror or successdreikentitled to exercise the voting
control and contractual rights of EMC, and may darnsa manner that could vary significantly fronatlof EMC.

By becoming a stockholder in our company, holdémuo Class A common stock are deemed to haveaofiand have consented to the
provisions of our certificate of incorporation ah@ master transaction agreement with respecettirttitations that are described above.

Our business and that of EMC overlap, and EMC magnepete with us, which could reduce our market share

EMC and we are both IT infrastructure companiewigling products related to storage management,-bpacklisaster recovery, security,
system management and automation, provisioningesalirce management. There can be no assuran&Miatvill not engage in increased
competition with us in the future. In addition, tinéellectual property agreement that we have edtérto with EMC will provide EMC the
ability to use our source code and intellectuapprty, which, subject to limitations, it may usept@duce certain products that compete with
ours. EMC's rights in this regard extend to its ony-owned subsidiaries, which could include joientures where EMC holds a majority
position and one or more of our competitors holdarity positions.

EMC could assert control over us in a manner whimlld impede our growth or our ability to enter nearkets or otherwise adversely
affect our business. Further, EMC could utilizecititrol over us to cause us to take or refraimftaking certain actions, including entering
into relationships with channel, technology andeotimarketing partners, enforcing our intellectualgerty rights or pursuing corporate
opportunities or product development initiativeattbould adversely affect our competitive positimejuding our competitive position relative
to that of EMC in markets where we compete withrthi addition, EMC maintains significant partnepshwith certain of our competitors,
including Microsoft.

EMC’s competition in certain markets may affect our itity to build and maintain partnerships.

Our existing and potential partner relationshipy ina affected by our relationship with EMC. We partwith a number of companies
that compete with EMC in certain markets in whidl& participates. EMC’s majority ownership in us imigffect our ability to effectively
partner with these companies. These companies avay bur competitors because of our relationship &MC.
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EMC competes with certain of our significant chdntechnology and other marketing partners, incigdBM and Hewlett-Packard.
Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation anteotagreements that we have with EMC, EMC may hiagebility to impact our relationship
with those of our partners that compete with EM@iclr could have a material adverse effect on cgulte of operations or our ability to
pursue opportunities which may otherwise be avkl&bus.

Our historical financial information as a businessegment of EMC may not be representative of ourutesas an independent public
company.

Our historical financial information we have incidlin this annual report on Form 10-K does not seasly reflect what our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows wdwde been had we been an independent entity dilmirsg historical periods. The historical
costs and expenses reflected in our consolidatedidial statements include an allocation for certarporate functions historically provided
by EMC, including tax, accounting, treasury, legatl human resources services. This historical fi@himformation is not necessarily
indicative of what our results of operations, fiogh position, cash flows or costs and expenselsh@iin the future. We have not made pro
forma adjustments to reflect many significant cremthat will occur in our cost structure, fundinglaperations as a result of our becoming a
public company, including changes in our employaseb potential increased costs associated wittteeldeconomies of scale and increased
costs associated with being a publicly traded,dstelone company. For additional information, seeafidgement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and historical consolidated financial statements aotes thereto.

Our ability to operate our business effectively msyffer if we are unable to cost-effectively estiahlour own administrative and other
support functions in order to operate as a stealone company after the expiration of our trangitial services agreements with EMC.

Before the completion of our IPO in August 2007winich we issued and sold 37,950,000 shares o€tags A common stock at an is:
price of $29.00 per share, we were a wholly-owndusgliary of EMC and we relied on administrativel ather resources of EMC to operate
our business. In connection with our IPO, we emténéo various service agreements with EMC to retae ability for specified periods to use
these EMC resources. These services may not be&pobat the same level as when we were a whollyeohsubsidiary of EMC, and we may
not be able to obtain the same benefits that weived prior to our IPO. These services may notufiicient to meet our needs, and after our
agreements with EMC expire, we may not be ableptace these services at all or obtain these ssratprices and on terms as favorable as
we currently have with EMC. We will need to creater own administrative and other support systenoatract with third parties to replace
EMC'’s systems. In addition, we have received infalrsupport from EMC which may not be addresseténagreements we have entered into
with EMC; the level of this informal support maymdhish as we become a more independent companyfailnye or significant downtime in
our own administrative systems or in EMC’s admiaiste systems during the transitional period caekllt in unexpected costs, impact our
results and/or prevent us from paying our suppbermsmployees and performing other administraterises on a timely basis.

We are a smaller company relative to EMC, which ¢duesult in increased costs because of a decreasaur purchasing power and
difficulty maintaining existing customer relationsps and obtaining new customers.

Prior to our IPO, we were able to take advantageM€’s size and purchasing power in procuring goteishnology and services,
including insurance, employee benefit support antitaand other professional services. We are alsmampany than EMC, and we may not
have access to financial and other resources c@lgato those available to us prior to the IPOaAsand-alone company, we may be unable
to obtain office space, goods, technology and sesvat prices or on terms as favorable as thosklbleato us prior to our IPO, which could
increase our costs and reduce our profitabilityr f0ture success depends on our ability to mairdaincurrent relationships with existing
customers, and we may have difficulty attracting/ meistomers.
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In order to preserve the ability for EMC to distrite its shares of our Class B common stock on &-free basis, we may be prevented from
pursuing opportunities to raise capital, to effectte acquisitions or to provide equity incentivesaior employees, which could hurt ot
ability to grow.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totatig power and 80% of each class of nonvotingteaptock is required in order for
EMC to effect a tax-free spin-off of VMware or c@rt other tax-free transactions. We have agredddhao long as EMC or its successor-in-
interest continues to own greater than 50% of titeng control of our outstanding common stock, wik mot knowingly take or fail to take ar
action that could reasonably be expected to precEMC'’s or its successor-in-interest’s ability twdertake a tax-free spin-off. Additionally,
under our certificate of incorporation and the raasitansaction agreement we entered into with EMEmust obtain the consent of EMC or
successor-in-interest, as the holder of our ClaserBmon stock, to issue stock or other VMware sgesr excluding pursuant to employee
benefit plans (provided that we obtain Class B cammstockholder approval of the aggregate annuabeurof shares to be granted under such
plans), which could cause us to forgo capital ngigir acquisition opportunities that would otheevixe available to us. As a result, we may be
precluded from pursuing certain growth initiatives.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible fiabilities of EMC, which could result in a decrease our income.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible MCEs liabilities. Under our master transaction agrent with EMC, EMC will
indemnify us for claims and losses relating toiliabs related to EMC'’s business and not relatedur business. However, if those liabilities
are significant and we are ultimately held lialme them, we cannot be certain that we will be ablecover the full amount of our losses from
EMC.

Although we have entered into a tax sharing agreemwith EMC under which our tax liabilities effectiely will be determined as if we we
not part of any consolidated, combined or unitagxtgroup of EMC Corporation and/or its subsidiariea/e nonetheless could be held liable
for the tax liabilities of other members of theseogips.

We have historically been included in EMC’s condated group for U.S. federal income tax purposgsvell as in certain consolidated,
combined or unitary groups that include EMC Corgioraand/or certain of its subsidiaries for statd &écal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
our tax sharing agreement with EMC, we and EMC gadhyewill make payments to each other such théit) wespect to tax returns for any
taxable period in which we or any of our subsidiarare included in EMC’s consolidated group for.UJeBeral income tax purposes or any
other consolidated, combined or unitary group of&®Blorporation and/or its subsidiaries, the amotitéxes to be paid by us will be
determined, subject to certain adjustments, agiémd each of our subsidiaries included in suclksadatated, combined or unitary group filed
our own consolidated, combined or unitary tax metur

Prior to our IPO we were included in the EMC coidated group for U.S. federal income tax purpoagas, expect to continue to be
included in such consolidated group for periodw/liich EMC owned at least 80% of the total votingvpo and value of our outstanding stock.
Each member of a consolidated group during anygfatconsolidated return year is jointly and salhgdiable for tax on the consolidated
return of such year and for any subsequently deteindeficiency thereon. Similarly, in some jurigbns, each member of a consolidated,
combined or unitary group for state, local or fgreincome tax purposes is jointly and severallglégor the state, local or foreign income tax
liability of each other member of the consolidatesinbined or unitary group. Accordingly, for anyipéd in which we are included in the EN
consolidated group for U.S. federal income tax pags or any other consolidated, combined or ungesyp of EMC Corporation and/or its
subsidiaries, we could be liable in the event #mtincome tax liability was incurred, but not diacged, by any other member of any such

group.
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Any inability to resolve favorably any disputes tharise between us and EMC with respect to our pasti ongoing relationships may rest
in a significant reduction of our revenue and eamgs.

Disputes may arise between EMC and us in a numftemeas relating to our ongoing relationships,udaig:
» labor, tax, employee benefit, indemnification ariteo matters arising from our separation from EI
» employee retention and recruitir
» business combinations involving
« our ability to engage in activities with certairagimel, technology or other marketing partn
» sales or dispositions by EMC of all or any portadrits ownership interest in u
» the nature, quality and pricing of services EMC &gseed to provide u
« arrangements with third parties that are exclusipt@EMC,;
* Dbusiness opportunities that may be attractive th B&C and us; an
» product or technology development or marketingvétads or customer agreements which may requiretmsent of EMC

We may not be able to resolve any potential caisfliand even if we do, the resolution may be lagerable than if we were dealing with
an unaffiliated party.

The agreements we entered into with EMC in conoaatiith our IPO may be amended upon agreement ketiee parties. While we ¢
controlled by EMC, we may not have the leveragedgotiate amendments to these agreements if relquiréerms as favorable to us as those
we would negotiate with an unaffiliated third party

Some of our directors and executive officers own EMommon stock, restricted shares of EMC commorcktor options to acquire EM(
common stock and hold management positions with EM@ich could cause conflicts of interests that tatsin our not acting on
opportunities we otherwise may have.

Some of our directors and executive officers own@E8bdmmon stock and options to purchase EMC comrtamk sin addition, some of
our directors are executive officers and/or direstaf EMC. Ownership of EMC common stock, restdcsdares of EMC common stock and
options to purchase EMC common stock by our dirscaod officers and the presence of executiveerffior directors of EMC on our board
directors could create, or appear to create, aisftif interest with respect to matters involvirggtbus and EMC that could have different
implications for EMC than they do for us. Provisiaof our certificate of incorporation and the mastensaction agreement between EMC and
us address corporate opportunities that are pregéatour directors or officers that are also doeor officers of EMC. There can be no
assurance that the provisions in our certificatmobrporation or the master transaction agreeméhadequately address potential conflicts of
interest or that potential conflicts of interestlle resolved in our favor or that we will be albibetake advantage of corporate opportunities
presented to individuals who are officers or divestof both us and EMC. As a result, we may belpded from pursuing certain growth
initiatives.

EMC's ability to control our board of directors may rke it difficult for us to recruit independent dirgors.

So long as EMC beneficially owns shares of our camstock representing at least a majority of thiev@ntitled to be cast by the
holders of outstanding voting stock, EMC can effedy control and direct our board of directorsrifer, the interests of EMC and our other
stockholders may diverge. Under these circumstampezsons who might otherwise accept our invitat@join our board of directors may
decline.
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We are a “controlled company” within the meaning tfie New York Stock Exchange rules, and, as a résate relying on exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements that pides protection to stockholders of companies thatarot “controlled companies.”

EMC owns more than 50% of the total voting poweoof common shares and, as a result, we are artdieat company” under the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standasia.controlled company, we are exempted undeN#we York Stock Exchange
standards from the obligation to comply with certdiew York Stock Exchange corporate governanceireapents, including the requiremer

« that a majority of our board of directors consatindependent director

» that we have a corporate governance and nominatingnittee that is composed entirely of independéettors with a written
charter addressing the commi’s purpose and responsibiliti¢

» that we have a compensation committee that is cegtbentirely of independent directors with a wnittharter addressing the
committef s purpose and responsibilities; ¢

» for an annual performance evaluation of the nonmgaind governance committee and compensation ctie@l

While we have voluntarily caused our Compensatimh @orporate Governance Committee to currentlydmeposed entirely of
independent directors in compliance with the resmients of the New York Stock Exchange, we are equiired to maintain the independent
composition of the committee. As a result of oug aéthe “controlled company” exemptions, holdersur Class A common stock will not
have the same protection afforded to stockholdecempanies that are subject to all of the New Y®8tlick Exchange corporate governance
requirements.

Intel Corporatior’s (“Intel”) and Cisco Systems Inc.’s (“Cisco”) owarship relationship with us and the membership of itel
representative on our board may create actual otgrdial conflicts of interest.

As a result of an investment by Intel Capital im @lass A common stock in August 2007, Intel hasanership interest in with us and
pursuant to Intel’s right to designate a directaregptable to our board of directors, we appointegbaesentative of Intel to our board of
directors. Cisco, pursuant to its purchase of das€£A common stock from EMC, also has an ownenslgiionship with us, and we appoin
an executive officer of Cisco (since retired frdmttposition) proposed by Cisco as one of our thrsc These relationships may create actual
or potential conflicts of interest and the besgigsts of Intel or Cisco may not reflect the besrests of other holders or our Class A common
stock.

Risks Related to Owning Our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock has only been publiclyded since August 14, 2007 and the price of our Gldscommon stock has fluctuated
substantially since then and may fluctuate substaitly in the future.

Our Class A common stock has only been publiclgiedasince our initial public offering on August P807. The trading price of our
Class A common stock has fluctuated significanitigs then. For example, between September 30, 0@ danuary 31, 2008, the closing
trading price of our Class A common stock was waratile, ranging between $54.87 and $124.83 parestincluding single-day increases of
up to 13% and declines up to 34%. Our trading pragd fluctuate substantially in the future duette factors discussed in this Risk Factors
section and elsewhere in this annual report on Fdi+K.

Substantial amounts of Class A common stock ar imebur employees, EMC, Intel and Cisco, and falhe shares of our Class B
common stock, which may be converted to Class Amomstock upon request of the holder, are heldMZEApproximately 21 million
shares of Class A common stock held by our employék vest or otherwise become eligible for salgidg 2008, with approximately half tf
amount vesting during the second quarter of 20@8ti@ctual restrictions on the sale of shares hglEHMC expired in February 2008 and
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will expire for the shares held by Cisco and lieAugust 2008. Shares of Class A common stock hglEMC (including shares of Class A
common stock that might be issued upon the corveisi Class B common stock) are eligible for saleject to the volume, manner of sale
and other restrictions of Rule 144 of the Secwgiigchange Act of 1933 which allow the holder tih e to the greater of 1% of our
outstanding Class A common stock or our averag&khyveeading volume during any three-month period &ollowing the expiration of their
contractual restrictions, shares held by Ciscolated will be subject to such requirements to tRept Cisco and Intel are deemed to be our
“affiliates” as that term is defined in Rule 144dditionally, EMC, Cisco and Intel possess regigtratights with respect to the shares of our
common stock that they hold. If they choose to esersuch rights, their sale of the shares thatemistered would not be subject to the Rule
144 limitations. If a significant amount of the sbsthat become eligible for resale enter the puldiding markets in a short period of time, the
market price of our Class A common stock may declin

Additionally, broad market and industry factors niiecrease the market price of our Class A comnmmokstegardless of our actual
operating performance. The stock market in genaral,technology companies in particular, also laften experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. In addition, in the past, deling periods of volatility in the overall markatcéthe market price of a company’s securities,
securities class action litigation has often bewestituted against these companies. This litigatifonstituted against us, could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of our managématténtion and resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publishr oease publishing research or reports about usr business or our market, or if the
change their recommendations regarding our stockvadsely, our stock price and trading volume coulelatine.

The trading market for our Class A common stock belinfluenced by the research and reports tithtdtry or securities analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or ompetitors. If any of the analysts who may covechsnge their recommendation regarding
our stock adversely, or provide more favorabletredarecommendations about our competitors, owkspoice would likely decline. If any
analyst who may cover us were to cease coveragerafompany or fail to regularly publish reportsum we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause oocktprice or trading volume to decline.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporationna bylaws contain an-takeover provisions that could delay or discouragé&eover
attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws will have the effect of delaying or prevengtia change of control or changes in
our management. These provisions include the fatigw

» the division of our board of directors into thrdasses, with each class serving for a staggeree-year term, which would preve
stockholders from electing an entirely new boardicéctors at any annual meetir

» the right of the board of directors to elect a clioe to fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of director:

» following a distribution of Class B common stock BYIC to its stockholders, the restriction that adfecial owner of 10% or mor
of our Class B common stock may not vote in angtaa of directors unless such person or group a¥ges at least an equivalent
percentage of Class A common stock or obtains ajppid our board of directors prior to acquiringieécial ownership of at least
5% of Class B common stoc

» the prohibition of cumulative voting in the electiof directors or any other matters, which wouldeotvise allow less than
majority of stockholders to elect director candéda

» the requirement for advance notice for nominatienslection to the board of directors or for prejpg matters that can be acted
upon at a stockholde' meeting;

29



Table of Contents

» the ability of the board of directors to issue,hsitit stockholder approval, up to 100,000,000 shafreseferred stock with terms <
by the board of directors, which rights could beiseto those of common stock; a

» inthe event that EMC or its successor-in-intenestonger owns shares of our common stock repriegpat least a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast in the election of dmexitstockholders may not act by written consedtraay not call special meetings of
the stockholders

Until such time as EMC or its successor-in-intepestses to beneficially own 20% or more of thetantding shares of our common
stock, the affirmative vote or written consentlué holders of a majority of the outstanding shafdbe Class B common stock will be required
to:

« amend certain provisions of our bylaws or certificaf incorporation

» make certain acquisitions or dispositio

» declare dividends, or undertake a recapitalizatioliquidation;

» adopt any stockholder rights ple“poison pil” or other similar arrangemet

e approve any transactions that would involve a mergmnsolidation, restructuring, sale of substdigtil of our assets or any of o
subsidiaries or otherwise result in any persomtityeobtaining control of us or any of our subsidés; ot

* undertake certain other actiol

In addition, we have elected to apply the provisiohSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpandtew. These provisions may
prohibit large stockholders, in particular thosenavg 15% or more of our outstanding voting stoc&nf merging or combining with us. These
provisions in our certificate of incorporation aoylaws and under Delaware law could discouragerpiateakeover attempts and could reduce
the price that investors might be willing to pay $fnares of our common stock.

As a public company we incur costs and face demaod®ur management in addition to the costs and derds we faced prior to our initia
public offering .

As a public company, we incur significant legalc@anting and other expenses that we did not dyréatiur as a private company. In
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as welihe rules subsequently implemented by the SECQhenNew York Stock Exchange, have
required changes in corporate governance praatigesblic companies. These rules and regulationg irecreased and will continue to
increase our legal and financial compliance coststa make some activities more time-consumingasdly. For example, in connection with
becoming a public company, we have added indepeémiilectors and may add more, created additionatdoommittees and adopted certain
policies regarding internal controls and discloszortrols and procedures and may expand those guoe In addition, we will incur
additional costs associated with our public compamprting requirements. We are currently evalgasind monitoring developments with
respect to these rules, and we cannot predicttona® the amount of additional costs we may iraruhe timing of such costs. Furthermore,
our management will have increased demands omiésih order to ensure we comply with public compagporting requirements and the
compliance requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, as well as the rules subsequently impleetehy the SEC and the applicable
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2007, we owned or leased thhties described below:

Approximate

Location Sqg. Ft* Principal Use(s)
Palo Alto, CA owned 462,000 Executive and administrative offices, sales andketarg, and R&D
leasec 410,00(
North and Latin American regic leasec 244,000 Administrative offices, R&D, sales and marketing
(excluding Palo Alto, CA
Europe, Middle East and Africa regi leasec 196,00 Administrative offices, R&D, marketin
Asia Pacific regior leasec 129,00 R&D, marketing

*

Of the total square feet leased, approximately@HDsquare feet were under construction (primamlyrovements to existing structur
prior to occupancy) as of December 31, 2(

In August 2007, we used a portion of the net prdséeom our initial public offering of our Classd®@mmon stock to purchase our new
corporate headquarters facilities in Palo Alto frBiMC for $132.6 million which is equal to the cespended by EMC in the construction of
those facilities through the date of purchase. fASexember 31, 2007, approximately 105,000 squeeeremain under construction. Although
we own the building and improvements, the lan@&séd. The ground lease relating to our new capbeadquarters expires in 2057.

We believe that our current facilities, includingrmew headquarter facilities, are suitable foraurent employee headcount, but we
intend to add new facilities or expand existinglfies as we add employees and expand our opesatiWe believe that suitable additional or
substitute space will be available as needed toranwdate expansion of our operations.

For further information regarding our lease obligas, see Note | to our Consolidated Financialestants.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

VMware is named from time to time as a party todaits in the normal course of its business. In suages it is our policy to defend
against such claims, or if considered appropriaggptiate a settlement on commercially reason&ohes. However, no assurance can be given
that we will be able to negotiate settlements anmoercially reasonable terms, or at all, or that ltigation resulting from such claims would
not have a material adverse effect on our congelitiinancial position, liquidity, operating resjlor our consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matter was submitted to a vote of our stockhsldieiring the fourth quarter of 2007.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names of our executive officers and their a&gesf February 15, 2008 are as follows:

Name Age  Position(s)

Diane B. Green 52 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Mark S. Peel 50 Chief Financial Office

Carl M. Eschenbac 41 Executive Vice President of Worldwide Field Opevast
Rashmi Gard 42  Vice President and General Cour

Dev R. (Richard) Sarw: 45 Executive Vice President of Research and Develop

Diane B. Greenéias been a director of VMware since April 2007 &nal member of our Mergers and Acquisitions Conemitt
Ms. Greene is a founder of VMware and has servets &#&esident and CEO from its inception in 19@8or to this offering, Ms. Greene
served as an Executive Vice President of EMC siaceiary 2005. Ms. Greene is also a director oftlinta., a provider of business, financial
management and tax solutions for small businessesumers and accountants.

Mark S. Peekhas been the Chief Financial Officer at VMware giigril 2007. Prior to joining VMware, he served@anior Vice
President and Chief Accounting Officer of Amazomgdnc. from July 2002. Prior to joining Amazon.camApril 2000, Mr. Peek spent
nineteen years at Deloitte & Touche, the last tsry as a partner.

Carl M. Eschenbachhas been the Executive Vice President of Worldvieédd Operations at VMware since May 2005. Priojofaing
VMware in 2002, he was Vice President of North AiceeiSales at Inktomi from 2000 to 2002. He has hidd various sales management
positions with 3Com Corporation, Lucent Technolsgi@d EMC.

Rashmi Gardehas been the Vice President and General Couns@lla@are since September 2005. She joined the compag@01. Prio
to joining VMware, she was Senior Corporate Couasé@lectronics for Imaging, Inc., a printing teoclogy company, and was an associate
with Graham & James LLP and Fenwick & West LLP.

Dev R. (Richard) Sarwahas been the Executive Vice President of ReseardtDavelopment at VMware since joining the compeny
November 2007. Prior to joining VMware, he had serat Oracle as Senior Vice President of Systemsaljlement since February 2007, V
President of Server Applied Technology from 199®&tigh 2007 and in various positions of increasiatherity since 1989.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our Class A common stock, par value $.01 per shig@@es on the New York Stock Exchange under theosy VMW.

The following table sets forth the range of higll é&ow sales prices of our common stock since Augds2007, the date our Class A
common stock commenced trading on the New YorkliSEx@hange. Our Class B common stock is not pubtrelded.

Market Prices

Year ended December 31, 20C High Low

Third Quartel $ 85.57 $51.5(

Fourth Quarte 125.2¢ 71.0C
Holders

We had 41 holders of record of our Class A comniooks and one holder of record, EMC, of our ClassoBhmon stock as of
February 21, 2008.

Dividends

In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC paid in the form of a note payableisTdividend was given
retroactive effect in the December 31, 2006 codatdid balance sheet. Subsequent to receiving tloeguls from the initial public offering
(“IPO") of our Class A common stock in August 200 repaid $350.0 million of principal on the note.

Subsequent to our IPO, we have not declared orgaaild dividends on our common stock. We currerdlpat anticipate declaring any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any itlegtermination to declare cash dividends will lzalenat the discretion of our board of
directors, subject to the consent of the holdersunfClass B common stock pursuant to our certiéicd incorporation. Holders of our Class A
common stock and our Class B common stock willslegually on a per share basis in any dividendadedlon our common stock by our
board of directors.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On August 22, 2007, we issued 9.5 million sharesunfClass A common stock at a price per shar@8fdP to Intel Capital Corporation,
the global investment arm of Intel, pursuant to@hess A Common Stock Purchase Agreement entetecénof July 9, 2007 between Intel
Capital and us. The aggregate offering price wd8&million. The transaction was exempt from regtton under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (“Securities Act”) pursuant to Secti@) df the Securities Act as a transaction by anes not involving a public offering.
Pursuant to Intel Capital’s investment, our bodrdiectors appointed Renee James as a new boarbenalesignated by Intel and acceptable
to our board. We also entered into an investortsigigreement with Intel Capital pursuant to whittell Capital has certain registration and
other rights as a holder of our Class A commonkstdhbe transaction did not involve underwritingatisnts or commissions.

In June through August 2007, we granted broad-begaily awards under our 2007 Equity and Incerfilam to our employees and non-
employee directors, consisting of grants of optitmngurchase an aggregate of 37,140,741 sharelagd & common stock with a weighted-
average exercise price per share of $23.18 and
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awards of 104,460 restricted stock units. Thesmogrants and awards of restricted stock unitsndidrequire registration under the Securities
Act because the grants and awards either did nohia a “sale” of securities as such term issuefiéntion 2(3) of the Securities Act or were
deemed to be exempt from registration under the8exs Act in reliance on Rule 701 promulgated em8ection 3(b) of the Securities Act.

In addition, on June 7, 2007, we awarded 433,248icted stock units to our principal financialio#fr. This award of restricted stock
units was deemed to be exempt from registratioreutite Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 prigated thereunder.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

Use of Proceeds

On August 17, 2007, we completed our IPO of 37,880 shares of our Class A common stock pursuaatégistration statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-142368), including>0,000 shares covered by an ogkotment option granted to the underwriters, whiud
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission declafedtafe on August 13, 2007. Citigroup Global Maskétc., J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc.
and Lehman Brothers Inc. acted as the represeesadivthe underwriters and together with CredisSeiiSecurities (USA) LLC, Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and DeutschekBeecurities Inc. acted as joint book-running nggens of the offering.

As a result of the IPO, we raised approximately¥$3,2 million in net proceeds to us after deductinderwriting discounts and
commissions of $60.5 million and offering expenge$4.9 million. In August 2007, we used a portafrthe proceeds to repay $350.0 million
of the intercompany note payable owed to EMC amultchase from EMC our new headquarters for an atnegual to the cost expended by
EMC on our behalf in the construction of thoselfaes, which was $132.6 million. Pending the useemaining net proceeds from our IPO,
we have invested the proceeds in a variety of abpieservation investments, generally governmectisties and cash that are classified as
cash and cash equivalents on our December 31,l24l@rce sheet. There has been no material charige actual or planned use of proceeds
from the IPO as described in the final prospectiilb respect to our IPO filed with the SEC pursuanRule 424(b).
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcler return on our common stock with the cumutatotal return on the S&P 500
Index and the S&P 500 Systems Software Index feptriod beginning on August 14, 2007 (the dateGass A common stock commenced
trading on the New York Stock Exchange) throughddelger 31, 2007, assuming an initial investmentl®0$ While the initial public offering
price of our common stock was $29.00 per sharegthph assumes the initial value of our commonkstocAugust 14, 2007 was the closing

sales price of $52.11 per share. Data for the S8IPIBdex and the S&P 500 Software Systems Techgdludex assume reinvestment of
dividends.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
§200 -
- *
8150 e
| ____.-f”"'--- _________.___————________
5100 E————— . |
350
2] T 1
BT SiBNOT 123107
—— Vhlwara, Inc. —l— S&P 500 Incas —— SA&P 500 Systams Scfiwarm Inday
Base
Period Quarter Ending
Company / Index 8/14/200° 9/30/200° 12/31/200
VMware, Inc. 10C 163.1- 163.1(
S&P 500 Index 10C 107.4: 103.8:
S&P 500 Systems Software Inde 10C 106.5: 121.8}

* $100 invested on August 14, 2007 in VMware Commtutl§ S&P 500 Index and S&P 500 Systems Softwadexnincluding reinvestme
of dividends, if any

Note: The stock price performance shown on thetyedve is not necessarily indicative of futureepnperformance. This graph shall not
deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of theliange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilittdghat section nor shall it be deemed

incorporated by reference in any filing under thee&ities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, regassllef any general incorporation language
in such filing.
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ITEM 6.

Summary of Operations:
Revenues
License
Services
Total revenue:
Operating incomé&)
Net income

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
FIVE YEAR SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Successor Compan

Year Ended December 31

Period from
January 9, 2004 tc

Net income per weighted average share, basic,

for Class A and Class

Net income per weighted average share, dili

for Class A and Class

Weighted average shares, basic, for Class #

Class B

Weighted average shares, diluted, for Clas

and Class E

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalefiis
Working capital (deficiencyy

Total asset®)

Long-term obligation$
Stockholders' equity (deficify®

Cash Flow Data:

Net cash provided by operating activit

2007 2006 2005 December 31, 20C
$ 905,36¢f $ 491,90: $287,006 $ 178,87

420,44 212,00: 100,06¢ 39,88
$1,325,81. $ 703,90¢ $387,07: $ 218,75¢

235,34 120,63¢ 93,59t 35,207

218,13 85,89( 66,77" 16,78:
$ 0.6z $ 0.2¢ $ 02C $ 0.0t
$ 061 $ 0.2¢ % 02C $ 0.0t

350,49 332,50( 332,50( 332,50(

359,18¢ 332,50( 332,50( 332,50(

Successor Company
December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004
$1,231,166 $ 176,13« $ 38,65: $ 36,05¢

933,32: (55,319 (134,199 (29,16¢)
2,695,701 1,145,95I 799,80: 697,67:

450,00( 800,00( — —
1,340,61 (230,81) 453,82¢ 560,28:
$ 552,43t $ 279,86: $23824 % 93,99«

Predecessor Compan

Period from
February 1, 2003 to
January 8, 2004

(unaudited)

$ 61,98(
12,22(

$ 74,20(
6,03
4,62(

Not applicabl
Not applicabl
Not applicabl

Not applicabl

Predecessor Compan
January 8, 2004

$ 49,88:

12,18¢

82,01¢

(27,459

Not applicabl

(1) Inevaluating our results, we focus on operpiimtome excluding stock-based compensation, apatidin of intangible assets, the write-
off of in-process research and development, and¢heffect of the amortization and capitalizatidrsoftware development costs
incurred in the research and development of netwsoé products. Operating income in the table atwsl@des stock-based
compensation, acquisition-related intangible armmatibn and capitalized software development casizrézation, and excludes
capitalized software development costs, as indicat¢he table below
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Cost of license revenu
Stoclk-based compensatic
Acquisition-related intangible
amortization
Capitalized software development costs
amortization

Cost of services revenu
Stoclk-based compensatic

Research and developm

Stock-based compensation not
capitalized

Total capitalized software developme
costs

Stoclk-based compensation includec
total capitalized software
development costs abo

Sales and marketin
Stock-based compensatic
Acquisition-related intangible
amortization

General and administrativ
Stoclk-based compensatic
Acquisition-related intangible

amortization

Successor Company

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
$ 55¢ 99 —

21,17: 21,84( 23,351
36,40° 22,29¢ 6,15¢
6,07( 2,38¢ 1,29¢
42,93 26,34: 14,65¢
(56,84() (43,01%) (25,109
9,10¢ 10,48¢ 3,54¢
26,28¢ 12,02( 5,341
2,591 2,18¢ 1,78F
16,55¢ 10,38: 5,77¢
1,97: 1,49¢ 1,00(

Period from
January 9, 2004 tc

December 31, 20C
$ J—
25,48

1,317

1,061

10,29:

(8,155)

4,672

3,51¢

778

Predecessor Compar

Period from
February 1, 2003 to

January 8, 2004

$ —

(2) In August 2007, VMware completed its IPO in aihthe Company sold 37,950,000 shares (includi8§3000 shares pursuant to the
underwriters' full exercise of their over-allotmamittion) of its Class A common stock at a pricéhi public of $29.00 per share. The net
proceeds to the Company were $1,035.2 million. 8glbsnt to receiving the proceeds, the Company psethits new headquarters
facilities from EMC for $132.6 million, which is eql to the cost expended by EMC through the dapriofhase. The Company also
repaid $350.0 million of principal on the note pllgato EMC. Also in August 2007, VMware sold 9.5lmn shares of its Class A
common stock to Intel Capital at $23.00 per sh@he. net proceeds to the Company from that trarmmagiere $218.3. See Note J to the

consolidated financial statements for addition&dimation.

(3) In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC paid in the form of a note. This demnd was given retroactive effe
as of December 31, 2006. Subsequent to receivingrbceeds from the IPO in August 2007, VMware icf8&50.0 million of principal
on the note. See Note F to the consolidated fimdistatements for additional information. In 2008Jware declared and paid a cash

dividend of $190.0 million to EMC
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATION

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firer@ondition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) shld be read in conjunction
with our annual consolidated financial statementd aotes thereto which appear elsewhere in thisudhReport on Form 10-K.

This section and other parts of this Annual ReparForm 10-K contain forward-looking statementghwi the meaning of the Federal
securities laws, about our business and prospBetsforward-looking statements do not include theeptial impact of any mergers,
acquisitions, divestitures, securities offeringbosiness combinations or other developments irbosiness that may be announced or
consummated after the date hereof. Any statememtainied herein that are not statements of histbféct may be deemed to be forward-
looking statements. Without limiting the foregoirtige words “outlook,” “believes,” “plans,” “intends‘expects,” “goals,” “potential,”
“continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” “prelicts,” “estimates,” “anticipates” and similar eggsions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements, although not all forward-logkstatements contain these words. Our future emuatly differ materially from our past
results and from those projected in the forwlmmking statements due to various uncertaintiesrahkd, including those described in Item 1/
Part | (Risk Factors). The forwatdeking statements speak only as of the date sfAhinual Report and undue reliance should not &eepl ot
these statements. We disclaim any obligation tatgeny forward-looking statements contained heaftér the date of this Annual Report.

LI ”

All dollar amounts expressed as numbers in this MD& (except per share amounts) are in millions.
Certain tables may not add due to rounding.

Overview

Our primary source of revenue is the licensingigimlization software and related support andises/through a variety of distribution
channels for use by businesses and organizatioalt ©ifes and across numerous industries in thigirmation technology infrastructure. Our
virtualization solutions run on industry-standasgktops and servers and support a wide range odtipg system and application
environments, as well as networking and storagastiucture. We have developed a multi-channetiligion model to expand our presence
and reach various segments of the market. In 28006 and 2005, we derived over 75% of our revefreas our channel partners, which
include distributors, resellers, x86 systems ves@dmd system integrators. We have also developethaork of nearly 10,000 indirect channel
partners who fulfill orders through our direct chahpartners. A majority of our revenue resultsrfroontracts that include both perpetual
software licenses and ongoing software maintenaootacts. License revenue is recognized whenlémeants of revenue recognition are
complete. Maintenance revenue is recognized rataldy the term of the maintenance period, and desuenewals of maintenance sold after
the initial maintenance period expires. We alsogaize revenue from professional services providezlr customers.

We have achieved significant revenue growth to dateare focused on extending our growth by broadevur product portfolio,
enabling choice for customers and driving standagxiganding our network of technology and distiitnuipartners, increasing market
awareness and promoting the adoption of virtudabmatn addition to selling to new customers, we also focused on expanding the use of our
products within our existing customer base, as noiaur license revenue is based on a per desktpproserver arrangement. We believe it is
important that as we grow our sales, we continuawest in our corporate infrastructure, includogstomer support, information technology
and general and administrative functions. We expecspending in research and development to iseraa we add computer scientists,
software engineers, and employees involved in prodevelopment and maintenance and continue tdeabice for customers and drive
standards. We believe that equity incentives tieectly to the performance of VMware will help usrspete for todevel engineering and ot
talent. We also intend to continue to invest indnaare, networking and software tools to increaseefficiency of our research and
development efforts.
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Our current financial focus is on sustaining owvgh in revenue to generate cash flow to expandrarket segment share and our
virtualization solutions. Although we are currerithe leading provider of virtualization solutionge believe the use of virtualization solutions
is at very early stages by customers. We expdeice competitive threats to our leadership fronumiper of companies, some of whom may
have significantly greater resources than we doa Aesult, we believe it is important to continaerivest in our research and product
development, sales and marketing and the suppuetiéun to maintain or expand our leadership invineialization solutions market. This
investment could result in contracting operatinggires as we invest in our future. We believe thatwill be able to continue to fund our
product development through operating cash flonweasontinue to sell our existing products andises: We believe this is the right priority
for the long-term health of our business.

In evaluating our results, we focus on operatinggimeexcluding stock-based compensation, amortnati intangible assets, the write-
off of in-process research and development, and¢heffect of the amortization and capitalizatidrsoftware development costs incurred in
the research and development of new software ptedAgortion of our service revenue is recogniireperiods of up to five years subsequent
to the initial contract, whereas most of our licnsvenue is recognized within the first quartecaritract signing. As a result, variability in
operating margin can result from differences in whe price our service and when the cost is incurgaibstantially all of our international
revenue is for contracts in U.S. dollars to intéiorel channel partners. A portion of our operagxgenses is in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. This difference may cause variability ineogting margins due to fluctuations in the U.Slatadompared to other currencies. We are not
currently focused on shorérm operating margin expansion, but rather onsting at appropriate rates to support our growthfature produc
offerings in what may be a substantially more cotitipe environment.

Prior to our IPO in August 2007, we were a whollyaed subsidiary of EMC Corporation (‘EMC”), andsagh we relied on EMC to
provide a number of administrative support servaned facilities in other countries. Although we lveibntinue to operate under an
administrative services agreement and continuedeive support from EMC, our administrative coség/nimcrease. We also are investing in
expanding our own administrative functions, inchglour finance and legal functions, which may ba higher cost than the comparable
services currently provided by EMC. We are incigradditional costs as a public company, includindita investor relations, stock
administration and regulatory compliance costs.

Our Relationship with EMC

As of December 31, 2007, EMC owned 26,500,000 shafr€lass A common stock and all 300,000,000 shafr€lass B common stoc
representing approximately 85% of our total outdiiag shares of common stock and 98% of the combio&idg power of our outstanding
common stock.

In 2007 and 2006, we recognized professional semagenue of $11.8 and $1.4, respectively, forisesvprovided to EMC customers
pursuant to contractual agreements with EMC. In720@& entered into an enterprise license agreemémEMC to provide server and deski
products. All $4.3 of revenue related to this agement was included in deferred revenue as of DeeeBi, 2007.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $7.2, $2.%@art] respectively, of storage systems from EM@otigh the third quarter of 2007,
and for 2006 and 2005, the amounts purchased fid@ #ere at EMC’s cost. In the fourth quarter of 20the practice was changed to
purchasing from EMC at a discount off of EMC'’s |istce.

The financial statements include expense allocationcertain corporate functions provided by EM@Juding accounting, treasury, tax,
legal and human resources. These allocations vesedon estimates of the level of effort or resesiincurred on our behalf. The total costs
allocated from EMC were $7.7, $5.1 and $5.3 in 2@WD6 and 2005, respectively. Additionally, certather costs incurred by EMC for our
direct benefit, such as rent, salaries and benedite been included as expenses in our financeigdraents. The total of these other costs were
$116.1, $69.6 and $27.1 in 2007, 2006 and 200pentively. As part of our tax sharing
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arrangement with EMC, we paid EMC income taxes&#.8, $63.1 and $6.6 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, réispéc which differed from the
amounts owed on a separate return basis. Theafifferbetween these amounts is presented as a cempdistockholder’s equity. In 2007,
we incurred interest expense with EMC, net, of 81ih 2006 and 2005, we earned interest income BMIC, net, of $0.3 and $2.1. Interest
income (expense) with EMC, net, consists both tarigst that has been earned or incurred on oucorgany balance with EMC and from
interest expense on the note payable to EMC. /7 28P6.6 of interest expense was recorded relatdietnote payable and was included in
$17.8 interest expense with EMC, net recorded erctimsolidated income statement.

Given that the financial amounts that we recordedugh our intercompany transactions with EMC ditl arise from transactions
negotiated at arms-length with an unrelated thandyp the financial statements included herein matynecessarily reflect our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows ha&demgaged in such transactions with an unrelatedi plarty during all periods presented.
Accordingly, our historical results should not leéied upon as an indicator of our future perforneaas a stand-alone company.

Income Statement Presentation
Sources of Revenu

License revenuesOur license revenues consist of revenues earoedthe licensing of our software products. Theselpcts are
generally licensed on a perpetual basis and arergiynpriced based upon the number of physicatides or server processors on which our
software runs.

Services revenueOur services revenues consist of software maémes and professional services. Maintenance regeamgerecognize
ratably over the contract period. Typically, ountact periods range from one to five years. Custsmeceive various types of product sup
based on the level of support purchased. Custowlassare party to maintenance agreements with uerdited to receive product updates and
upgrades on a when-and-if-available basis.

Professional services include design, implememniatind training. Professional services are not demsd essential to the functionality of
our products, as these services do not alter theugt capabilities and may be performed by ourasusts or other vendors. Professional
services engagements that have durations of nitety or less are recognized in revenue upon coioiplef the engagement. Professional
services engagements of more than ninety daystiahwwe are able to make reasonably dependablaass of progress toward completion
are recognized on a proportional performance tesed upon the hours incurred. Revenue on all ptioéessional services engagements is
recognized upon completion.

Costs of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of license revenue@ur cost of license revenues principally consisghe cost of fulfillment of our software. This d¢ascludes
product packaging and personnel and related oveérassociated with the physical and electronic éejiwf our software products. The cost
also includes amortization of capitalized softmdegelopment costs.

Cost of services revenue®ur cost of services revenues includes the cdstseeersonnel and related overhead to delivémieal
support on our products, and to provide our pradess services.

Research and development expens&gr research and development, or R&D, expensdisda the personnel and related overhead
associated with the research and development ofpnetluct offerings and the enhancement of our iegstoftware offerings.
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Sales and marketing expensé&3ur sales and marketing expenses include the obs¢hhe personnel and related overhead assoacidtied
the sale and marketing of our license and senfiegings, as well as the cost of certain specifarketing initiatives, including our annual
VMworld conference.

General and administrative expensé3ur general and administrative expenses inclodgersonnel and related overhead costs of
supporting the overall business. These expensksimthe costs associated with our finance, fégdlithuman resources, IT infrastructure and
legal departments.

Results of Operations
Revenues
Our revenues for the years ended 2007, 2006 arfsl &@0as follows (table in millions):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Revenues
License $ 905.< $491.¢ $287.(
Services 420.4 212.( 100.1
$1,325.¢ $703.¢ $387.1
Percentage of revenue
License 68.%% 69.%% 74.1%
Services 31.7% 30.1% 25.%%
100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Revenues
United State: $ 720.¢ $391.¢ $209.¢
International 605.2 312.2 177.F
$1,325.¢ $703.¢ $387.1
Percentage of revenu
United State: 54.4% 55.6% 54.1%
International 45.6% 44 .2% 45.%%
100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Total revenues were $1,325.8 in 2007, $703.9 ir620@l $387.1 in 2005, representing year-opesr increases of $621.9 or 88% in 2!
and $316.8 or 82% in 2006. The growth in revenneX)D7 reflected an increase of $413.5 in liceesenmue and an increase of $208.4 in
services revenue as compared to 2006. The growtvenues in 2006 reflected an increase of $20vli@énse revenue and an increase of
$111.9 in services revenue as compared to 2005n¥ket and sell our products largely through a netvef channel partners, which includes
distributors, resellers, x86 system vendors antkgys integrators. One distributor accounted for 23986 and 30% of revenues in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Additionally, another digttor and a channel partner accounted for 1291484 of revenues in 2007, respectively.
International revenue as a percentage of totaleyevas 46% in 2007, 44% in 2006 and 46% in 2005.

Our revenue contracts with international custonagesdenominated in U.S. dollars.

License RevenuesSoftware license revenues were $905.4 in 20091.$4in 2006 and $287.0 in 2005, representing pear-year
increases of $413.5 or 84% in 2007 and $204.9 % iN12006. We believe a significant majority of tteeenue growth in 2007 compared to
2006, as well as 2006 compared to 2005, is thdtrekincreased sales volumes, driven largely atgr demand for our virtualization product
offerings attributable to wider market acceptaniceimualization as part of organizations’ IT infitaucture, a broadened product portfolio and
expansion of our network of indirect channel patnélthough we expect our license
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revenue to continue to grow throughout 2008, weeekthe rate of growth to decelerate due primaailthe size and scale of our business.
Changes in current market and economic conditiongddmpact this outlook.

We divide our license revenues into two classgsV({tualization Platforms and (2) Virtual Infrastiture Automation and Management.
Our Virtualization Platforms include a hypervisor Bystem partitioning that provides the capabitiitgafely, securely and efficiently run
multiple operating systems with their applicati@maultaneously while providing resource guarant@éégse products provide the core
functionality and the enabling capabilities for @@cond class of products, Virtual Infrastructurgoination and Management, to automate
system infrastructure services, such as resourcagesnent, availability, mobility and security, mgean virtualized environment and autorr
the interaction between various IT constituencras the virtual infrastructure for a specific sepoint solutions. Revenues from Platforms
were $347.9, $281.3, and $204.7 in 2007, 2006 2808, respectively. As a percentage of licensemes®, revenues from Platforms were 3
57% and 71% in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectivadyeRues from Automation and Management were $5%2H).6, and $82.3 in 2007,
2006, and 2005 respectively. As a percentage efidie revenues, revenues from the Automation anddéament class were 62%, 43% and
29% in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The geogrowth in the Automation and Management clasiie to our end-user customers’
demand for software that capitalizes on the besefithe virtualization platform to drive more eféint, reliable, and flexible system
infrastructure. Late in the second quarter of 20086 jntroduced several new products in the Autoomaséind Management class which were the
chief drivers of the growth in that class. We expbat the Automation and Management class of prtsiwill continue to grow more rapidly
than the Platforms class throughout 2008.

We sell our products through a network of chanetners, which includes distributors, reseller$§ ggstem vendors and systems
integrators. More than 70% of our orders for edftthe three years presented occurred through olargjgst direct channel partners, including
one distributor which represented 23%, 29% and 80%ur revenue in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectivedgitionally, another distributor
represented 12% of our revenue in 2007. As we ekgangraphically, we may add additional direct ctepartners; however, approximately
90% of the increases in orders in 2007 and 200@tessfrom increased sales volumes through outiegislirect channel partners. These
increases were driven by several factors, includiegater demand for our virtualization product offgs attributable to wider market
acceptance of virtualization as part of an orgaiomés IT infrastructure, a broadened product pmitf and expansion of our indirect channel
partner network.

We have nearly 10,000 indirect channel partnexd &ecember 31, 2007, an increase of nearly 6,888 December 31, 2006. Over
1,500 and 1,000 new indirect channel partners weded during 2006 and 2005, respectively. Thedecsictdchannel partners obtain software
licenses and services from our distributors andsy&tem vendors and market and sell them toused-customers. In addition, we have a di
sales force that complements these efforts. Oasdatce works with our channel partners to intoadtihem to customers and new sales
opportunities. Our channel partners also introdugesales force to their customers.

The percentage of orders greater than fifty thodshnilars in 2007, compared to 2006, increased sthydend we experienced an
increase in the percentage of orders greater tftgrifousand dollars in 2006 as compared to 20@ense orders from our distributors and
end-user customers which were greater than fiftysland dollars were approximately 32% of licensemaes in 2007, approximately 30% of
license revenues in 2006 and approximately 23%cehse revenues in 2005. Although we remain a ki@hme transaction business, we
believe an increase in the number of orders grélager fifty thousand dollars in the comparativeipds is a result of broader acceptance of
virtualization solutions for organizations’ IT iastructure, a trend toward end-user customers asingroducts broadly across their
organizations, and a result of more customers iegténto multi-year enterprise license agreemeits.anticipate this trend will continue.

Geographically, international revenue was $605.2686 of 2007 total revenue. In 2006, internatioeaknue was 44% of total 2006
revenue, and in 2005, international revenue reptedet6% of total 2005 revenue. Although thereoisansignificant change between each
period, we believe the slight increase in
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international revenue in 2007 was primarily atttéhle to our focus on our international sales aadketing efforts to address the global ma
of virtualization.

Although many of the Comparg/products are available individually, they areegaily sold in product bundles which encompass rat
the Company'’s products. As we develop new prodtiety; are typically sold as a new component toradlaiof products. Customers generally
purchase the most recent bundle. Late in the fayurdrter of 2007, we released Virtual InfrastruetBr5 and added different functionality to
each of our product bundles. We maintained theegsitour Enterprise product bundle, but loweredpttiee on our Standard product bundle
20%. The impact of this pricing change was notificant in the fourth quarter, however this chamgeld have an impact in the future
depending on if customers elect to purchase thed&td product bundle over the Enterprise produntlai Late in the second quarter of 2006,
we introduced a new Enterprise product bundle wlaohely replaced the previous product bundle. \dited three unique products to this
bundle and increased the corresponding list pryc&38%. This price increase was partially offsetdegreasing prices on certain core platform
products. In some cases, we began providing theskipts for free. The impact of pricing on reveguewth in 2006 compared to 2005 was
less than 10% of the overall increase in revenue.

As hardware and processors become more powerfulilveave to adapt our product and service offgsito take advantage of the
increased capabilities. If we are unable to ddtsen our revenue and market share could be adyeaffetted.

Services RevenueServices revenues were $420.4 in 2007, $212.0G66 20d $100.1 in 2005, representing year-over-yeaeases of
$208.4 or 98% in 2007 and $111.9 or 112% in 20@8vies revenues consist of software maintenandeeofessional services revenues. The
increases in services revenues in 2007 and 2006 pvenarily attributable to growth in our softwaraintenance revenues. This growth
reflects the increase in our license revenues anelwals to customer contracts. Professional sexveeenues increased due to growing der
for design and implementation services and traipiragrams, as end-user organizations deployedalization across their organizations.
Given the reasons cited above including the ine@asmber of multi-year enterprise license agre¢mere expect that service revenue will
compose a larger proportion of our revenue mix@veénue growth in 2008.
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Operating Expenses, GAAP and Non-GAAP

Information about our operating expenses with aitdoumt stock-based compensation is as follows étabimillions):

Operating expense

Cost of license revenued

Cost of services revenu

Research and developmt

Sales and marketir

General and administrati\
In-process research and developn

Total operating expens:

Percentage of revenue

(1)

Cost of license revenus

Cost of services revenu

Research and developm

Sales and marketir

General and administrati\
In-process research and developn

Total operating expens:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Stock- Stock- Stock-
Based Non- Based Non- Based Non-
Compen- GAAP, Compen- GAAP, Compen- GAAP,
As As As
GAAP sation Adjusted GAAP sation Adjusted GAAP sation Adjusted
$ 8¢ $ (06 $80.: $592 $ (01 $591 $40: $ — $ 40:
137.¢ (6.1 131.7 64.2 (2.4  61.¢ 24.¢ (1.3  23.¢
285.¢ (42.9 2430  148: (26.5) 122 72.€ (14.7)  57.¢
450.: (26.2) 424.(  238.: (12.0 226.2  125. (5.3 119.3
135.7 (16.6)  119.1 69.€ (10.4)  59. 30.€ (5.)  25.C
— — — 3.7 — 3.7 — — —
$1,090.8 $(92.49) $998.1 $583.5 $(51.2) $532.1 $293.6 $(27.1) $266.F
6.1% 6.1% 8.4% 8.4% 10.4% 10.4%
10.4 9.¢ 9.1 8.8 6.4 6.1
21.€ 18.2 21.1 17.2 18.¢ 15.C
34.C 32.C 33.¢ 32.1 B2.E 30.¢
10.2 9.C 9.¢ 8.4 8.C 6.5
— — 0.5 0.5 — —
82.2% 75.2% 82.%% 75.5% 75.€% 68.€%

Included in the cost of license revenues isaimertization of capitalized software developmentts of $36.4 in 2007, $22.3 in 2006 and

$6.2 in 2005

Costs of revenues without stock-based compensat®mnon-GAAP financial measures. See—"Non-GAAP kaia Measures” below.

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues were $218.7 in 2007, $1232006 and $65.2 in 2005, representing year-overipeaeases of $95.3 or 77% in
2007 and $58.2 or 89% in 2006. The increases irtaosirof revenues were primarily attributable toré@ased direct support, professional
services personnel and third-party professionaliees costs to support the increased services vegeThese costs accounted for $74.4 and
$43.3 of the increase in 2007 and 2006, respegtiletiuded in the cost of revenues is the amaibmeof capitalized software development
costs which were $36.4 in 2007, $22.3 in 2006 &hd # 2005, representing year-over-year increat844.1 in 2007 and $16.1 in 2006.
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Research and Developmer’R&D”) Expenses

Our R&D expenses were $285.9 in 2007, $148.3 ir6200l $72.6 in 2005, representing year-over-yeaeases of $137.7 or 93% in
2007 and $75.7 or 104% in 2006. As a percentageveiues, R&D expenses were 22%, 21% and 19% in, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The modest annual increases in R&D expenses asarpage of revenues were primarily attributablenéwemental headcount to support the
growth of our business. The increase in R&D expgrsasisted primarily of increased salaries, b&nefipense, stock-based compensation
expense and consulting fees, resulting from théogepent of additional resources to support new pobdievelopment. Salaries, benefits
expense, and consulting fees increased by $92a0@ and $50.9 in 2006. Administrative costs, idoig travel, equipment, facilities and
depreciation, increased by $31.4 in 2007 and $ih02006. Total stock-based compensation expengbudttble to R&D personnel increased
by $16.6 in 2007 and $11.7 in 2006. These increasepartially offset by an increase in softwargitedization of $13.8 to $56.8 (including
$9.1 of stock-based compensation) in 2007, compaid$43.0 (including $10.5 of stock-based compios) in 2006, due primarily to more
resources working on products that reached techieabfeasibility in 2007. Additionally, softwarepitalization increased by $17.9 to $43.i
2006, compared with $25.1 in 2005 due primarilpto Virtual Infrastructure software product reachtechnological feasibility.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Our sales and marketing expenses were $450.2 in, #238.3 in 2006 and $125.0 in 2005, represerntaag-over-year increases of
$211.9 or 89% in 2007 and $113.4 or 91% in 2006a Asrcentage of revenues, sales and marketingespevere 34%, 34% and 32% in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increassalés and marketing expenses in absolute dollars primarily the result of higher salaries,
benefits expense and stock-based compensation gxpemr to both increases in sales and marketirspipeel and higher commission expense
resulting from increased sales volume. Salarieshamefits expense, including commissions, increagebl 28.2 in 2007 and $51.3 in 2006.
Administrative costs, including travel, equipméatilities and depreciation, increased by $38.2007 and $7.3 in 2006, marketing programs
increased by $12.9 in 2007 and $15.1 in 2006, touksbased compensation expense increased by B12097 and $6.7 in 2006.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses were $I8%2007, $69.6 in 2006 and $30.8 in 2005, représgiyear-over-year increases of
$66.1 or 95% in 2007 and $38.8 or 126% in 2006aAsrcentage of revenues, general and adminigtrexipenses were 10%, 10% and 8% in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These expensesaised primarily as a result of additional saarbenefits expense and stock-based
compensation expense resulting from the additioesdurces to support the growth of our busines¢@edpand our own administrative
functions, including our finance and legal funcipim response to being a public company. Salanésbenefits expense increased by $27.2 in
2007 and $9.5 in 2006. Administrative costs, inglgdravel, equipment, facilities and depreciatimereased by $13.8 in 2007 and $11.7 in
2006. Stock-based compensation expense increasksl dyn 2007 and $4.6 in 2006. Other administeatiosts, such as legal, audit and tax
fees increased by $7.2 in 2007 and $1.1 in 2006ialia offsetting these cost increases was a reirsdment of $3.3 received in 2005 of legal
fees incurred in previous years. Other administeatiosts increased in 2007 increased primarilyras@t of the costs related to the voluntary
exchange offer we conducted in connection withinitial public offering of our Class A common stoitkAugust 2007, that permitted our
eligible employees to exchange their existing EMicls options and restricted stock awards for owv ¢ware Class A common stock
options and restricted Class A common stock aw@ihés“Exchange Offer”), and non-capitalizable castated to the IPO.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expenses were $92.4 1 $80.2 in 2006 and $27.1 in 2005, representirag-peer-year increases of $41.2
or 80% in 2007 and $24.2 or 89% in 2006. Stbeked compensation primarily increased in absdlolflars in 2007 compared with 2006 du
broad-based stock option and
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restricted stock unit grants under the VMware 2BQuity and Incentive Plan made late in the lastghquarters of 2007. In 2006, we adopted
Financial Accounting Standard No. 123R, “Share-Bad3ayment,” or FAS No. 123R, to account for stoakdd compensation. We applied
FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compermsdtin proforma disclosures and Accounting PrinegpBoard Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” in 20B&cause of the application of the different act¢imgnmethods under the different
standards, stock-based compensation expensesd6raz@ 2005 may not be comparable.

Between the time of our acquisition by EMC in Jagu2004 and our IPO in August 2007, we did notéssquity awards in our stock to
our employees. Prior to the IPO, employees recesteck-based compensation in the form of EMC stuytions and restricted stock awards
and units as a result of grants made by EMC’s Bo&fdirectors. In connection with the IPO, we coothd the Exchange Offer, pursuant to
which we offered our eligible employees the abitdyexchange their existing EMC options and retgdcstock awards for options to purchase
our Class A common stock and restricted stock asvafaur Class A common stock, respectively.

In the Exchange Offer, approximately 11.0 millidrages (approximately 89% of the eligible awardslE®IC stock options were tendet
for exchange. Approximately 4.7 million shares (@pgmately 81% of the eligible awards) of EMC réggd stock were tendered for
exchange. At the IPO price of $29.00 per share, EM@o-day volume-weighted average trading pridertio the consummation of the IPO
for the two days ended August 10, 2007 of $17.%4hare and an exchange ratio of 0.6116, approrignét7 million options to purchase
VMware Class A common stock, with a weighted averegercise price of $19.94 and approximately 2l8anishares of VMware restricted
Class A common stock were issued in the exchangeifitcremental stock-based compensation expengkimgsrom the exchange of equity
instruments was not material. See Item 8 of PafFlhancial Statements and Supplementary Data—NetStockholders’ Equity (Deficit).”

As of December 31, 2007, the total unamortizedvfaiue of outstanding VMware equity-based awardsEMC equity-based awards
held by VMware employees was approximately $38Btis amount will be recognized over the awardsursite service periods, and is
expected to result in stock-based compensationnsepef approximately $136.6, $110.3, $95.0, $46c6%0.1 for the years ended 2008, 2009,
2010, and 2011, and 2012, respectively. The arewm@nse is subject to the amount of stock-basegensation that may be capitalized as
costs incurred with the development of new softwarelucts and also software developed for intewseal the amount of awards that ultima
vest, and also the acceleration of expense retatesbstricted stock units (“RSUs”) and restrictéatk awards (“RSAS”) if certain performance
goals are achieved.

In future periods, our stock-based compensatiorex@s are expected to increase as a result dfyeeéulof expense recognition related
to grants made under the VMware 2007 Equity andritigce Plan in the last three quarters of 2007 elsas additional equity grants in future
periods.

Approximately 3.5 million equity awards will becoraégible to trade in each of the first, third, aiedrth quarters of 2008. In the second
quarter of 2008, approximately 11 million equityards will become eligible to trade. The numberadity awards eligible to trade in the
second quarter of 2008 is higher than the othertersin 2008 primarily due to the first-year arersary vesting of grants made prior to our
IPO in the second quarter of 2007.

In-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D") Expease
We had no IPR&D expense in 2007 or 2005. IPR&D espewnas $3.7 in 2006, attributable to our acqoisitf Akimbi Systems, Inc.
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Intangible Asset:

In the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006 an#l,2@8 amortized $25.7, $25.5 and $26.1, respegtitet purchased intangible
assets. Amortization expense was comparativelyrfla007 compared to 2006 and 2006 compared to 80630 additional amortization for
new acquisitions offset by decreasing amortizatiorhistorical acquisitions. The amortization expenvas classified as follows in the
consolidated income statements (table in millions):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Costs of license revenu $ 21z $ 21.¢ $ 23.¢
Sales and marketir 2.6 2.2 1.8
General and administrati\ 1.9 1.5 0.€

$ 25.7 $ 25.F $ 26.1

Operating Income

Our operating income was $235.3 in 2007, $1203d6 and $93.6 in 2005, representing year-overipeaeases of $114.7 or 95% in
2007 and $27.0 or 29% in 2006. Operating margingWw8% in 2007, 17% in 2006 and 24% in 2005. Méshe decrease in operating income
in 2006 as compared to 2005 as a percentage afueweas a result of increased salaries and bemsfitee expanded our research and
development, sales and marketing and general andhetrative spending to support our revenue graavtth to expand future product offerir
in what may be a substantially more competitiveimmment.

The net effect of capitalizing and amortizing safter development costs contributed to the increaspérating margin in 2007. Net
capitalized software development costs increasedatipg income by $20.4 in 2007 due primarily torencesources working on products that
reached technological feasibility in 2007, and éased operating income by $20.7 in 2006 primaelydoise our Virtual Infrastructure software
product reached technological feasibility.

A portion of our costs of revenues, primarily tlosts of personnel to deliver technical support enpsoducts, and a portion of our
operating expense primarily related to sales, salpport and research and development, are dentadiimaforeign currencies, primarily the
Euro, the British pound, the Japanese yen, thaimdipee, the Australian dollar and the Canadidlardd@hese costs and the resulting effect on
operating income are exposed to foreign exchangdfitectuations. As a result of fluctuations inda@n currency values compared to the U.S.
dollar, operating income decreased by $18.6 in 20@$2.8 in 2006. The effect in 2005 was not $icamt. If the dollar continues to weaken
in relation to other currencies such as the Euroutihout 2008, we expect this to have a negatifexiedn our operating margins in 2008.

Investment Income

Investment income was $22.9 in 2007, $2.5 in 20@6%0.5 in 2005. Investment income consists of@#eearned on cash and cash
equivalent balances. Investment income increas@00@ compared to 2006 due to higher cash andeziskialent balances primarily a result
of the proceeds we received from our IPO and thecfashares of our Class A common stock to Intbi€l.

Interest Income (Expense) with EMC, N

Interest expense with EMC, net, was $17.8 in 2@, interest income with EMC, net, was $0.3 and $22006 and 2005, respectively.
In 2007, interest expense with EMC, net, consipratarily of $26.6 in interest expense incurredtiom note issued to EMC in April 2007,
offset by interest income of $8.8 earned on amoduésto us from EMC on our intercompany balanc0@6 and 2005, the balance consisted
of interest income (expense) earned (incurred)wrirdercompany balance with EMC.
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Provision for Income Taxe:!
Our effective income tax rate was 9.3% for 2007180for 2006 and 30.0% for 2005.

The change in the effective rate which decreas@&d3¥% in 2007 from 30.1% in 2006 was primarily iatitable to the decrease in the
other non-deductible permanent differences of pérzentage points from 2006 to 2007. This decreaseprimarily attributable to the change
of the Company’s tax structure, whereby incomed@2earned abroad principally qualifies for defefmam United States taxation, whereas in
2006 the income was principally taxed in the Unitdtes. The other significant contributing fadtothe decrease in the effective tax rate f
2006 to 2007 was that our aggregate income taximdtgeign jurisdictions, which is typically loweéhan our income tax rate in the United
States, resulted in an increase of a favorabl&eaefit of 4 percentage points from 2006 to 200fsédting this favorable tax benefit was the
decrease in the generated tax credits by 0.4 pagempoints from 2006 to 2007.

The effective tax rates in 2006 and 2005 were disdlgrthe same at 30.1% and 30.0%. We deriveckdémefit from our aggregate
income tax rate in foreign jurisdictions whichypically lower than our income tax rate in the \@ditStates resulting in an increase in the
favorable rate impact of 4.3 percentage points f28®5 to 2006. We generated tax credits which asad our favorable tax benefits by 1.0
percentage point from 2005 to 2006. The state tagesf federal income tax benefit decreased frO@b2o 2006 by 0.7 percentage points
which was also a favorable adjustment to the dffedtix rate in 2006. Offsetting these was the wmfable change in other non-deductible
permanent differences which increased by 6.1 péagerpoints from 2005 to 2006. The increase irother nondeductible permanent
differences from 2005 to 2006 is primarily attrigolke to the phase-out of the Extraterritorial inediax benefit which was repealed by the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

Our effective tax rate for 2008 is expected to igidr due in part to the repeal of the U.S. FedRé&dD tax credit. The effective tax rate
for 2008 is based upon the income for the yearctimposition of the income in different countriasd adjustments, if any, for the potential
consequences, benefits, resolutions of auditshardéx contingencies. Our aggregate income taxinaforeign jurisdictions is lower than our
income tax rate in the United States.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulation S-K Item 10(e), Use of Non-GAAP Finahbdieasures in Commission Filings, and other SelesriExchange Commission
(“SEC”) regulations define and prescribe the cdodg for use of certain non-GAAP financial infornoat Our measures of costs of revenues
and operating expenses without stock-based comiiemsaeet the definition of non-GAAP financial masass. These non-GAAP financial
measures, which are used as measures of our parfoenshould be considered in addition to, notssbatitute for or in isolation from,
measures of our financial performance prepareddor@ance with GAAP. We provide this informationstiow the impact of stock-based
compensation on our results of operations, aseix@duded from our internal operating plans andsuesment of financial performance
(although we consider the dilutive impact to ouargholders when awarding stock-based compensatwraue such awards accordingly),
and because determining the fair value of theedlaguity awards involves a high degree of judgraedtestimation.

Costs of revenues and operating expenses withock-flased compensation have limitations due tdabiethat they do not include all
expenses related to the compensation of our peblgee specifically, if we did not pay out a portiohour compensation in the form of stock-
based compensation, the cash salary expense iddludeir costs of revenues and operating expensafvioe higher. We compensate for this
limitation by providing supplemental informational outstanding stock-based awards in the footrtotesr financial statements. Stobksec
compensation programs are an important elementrof@mpensation structure and all forms of stockedaawards are valued and included as
appropriate in results of operations. Managemeangty encourages shareholders to review our filghstatements and publicly-filed reports
in their entirety and not to rely on any singlesfircial measure.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our cash flows for 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as\idl

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 552.¢ $ 279.¢ $ 238.2
Net cash used in investing activiti $(403.9) $(142.9 $ (45.9)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activi $ 906.: $ — $(190.0)

In 2007, our operating cash flow reflected net meayenerated during the period of $218.1, adjustedon-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization expense of $104.0stmzk-based compensation of $92.4. Additionallgrking capital, including short- and
longterm deferred revenue, income taxes payable amadrddfincome taxes, generated cash flow of $13@@apily the result of an increase
deferred revenue of $242.1 due to the growth inbmsiness. This was offset by increases in accaantivable of $89.0 also due to the gro
in our business and an increase in deferred indamassets. As of December 31, 2007, our defemeehue balance consisted of deferred
license revenues of $54.3 and deferred servicentmgeof $498.5, of which $363.3 was classifieduasent.

In 2006, our operating cash flow reflected net meagenerated during the period of $86.0, adjusieddn-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization expense of $66.6stoek-based compensation of $51.2. Additionallyrkirg capital, including short- and
long-term deferred revenue, income taxes payalledaferred income taxes, generated cash flow o#$@rimarily the result of an increase in
total deferred revenue of $158.1. Our deferredmagebalance consisted of deferred license reverfug’5.4 and deferred services revenues of
$241.1 at December 31, 2006, of which $242.6 wasstfied as current. The increase in deferred teveras partially offset by an increase in
accounts receivable of $98.0 due to increased tevand an increase in net receivables due from BM§28.4.

In 2005, our operating cash flow reflected net meagenerated during the period of $66.8, adjusieddn-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization expense of $39.5stmek-based compensation of $27.1. Working capitaluding short- and long-term
deferred revenue, income taxes payable and deferedhe taxes, generated cash flow of $104.7, pifynide result of an increase in total
deferred revenue of $79.5. Our deferred revenuenbal consisted of deferred license revenues o2%61d deferred services revenues of $97.3
at December 31, 2005, of which $131.6 was categoras current. Additionally, our operating cashlvflsas positively impacted by increased
income taxes payable to EMC of $44.1 and increas¢gayable due to EMC of $29.3. These increasdsfirred revenue and amounts owed
to EMC were patrtially offset by an increase in asts receivable of $52.0 due to increased revenue.

Cash used in investing activities was $403.7 in72@142.4 in 2006 and $45.7 in 2005. Cash paithfisiness acquisitions, net of cash
acquired, was $82.5, $46.5 and $2.2 in 2007, 20062805, respectively. Capital additions were $26$52.6 and $20.7 in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Capital additions increase®067 compared to 2006 primarily due to costs rdl&deour new headquarters facilities. We
purchased furniture and fixtures for the new féiedi and invested cash in the remaining buildingen development, as well as we purchased
the buildings already under construction from EME$132.6. In addition to investment in our headtpra facilities in 2007, we purchased
computer and network equipment to support increasesbnnel and related infrastructure requiremditts.increase in capital additions from
2006 to 2005 was attributable to supporting thewtinoof the business. Capitalized software develagroests, which exclude stock-based
compensation expenses, were $47.7, $32.5 and $22097, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The incréasapitalized software development
costs in 2007 compared to 2006 was due primarilmdoe resources working on products that reachathtdogical feasibility in 2007. In
2006, our Virtual Infrastructure software produsdched technological feasibility.
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Cash provided (used) by financing activities wa8@9 in 2007 and ($190.0) in 2005. We had no firanactivities in 2006. Cash
provided by financing activities in 2007 were priihadue to the completion of our IPO and sale 8f9%0,000 shares of our Class A common
stock. The net proceeds of the IPO to us were $120&fter deducting underwriterdiscounts and offering expenses. Also in 2007 | @spital
purchased 9.5 million shares of our Class A comstonk at twenty-three dollars per share for a netlpase price of $218.3, net of issuance
costs. Subsequent to our IPO in August 2007, wd ag®rtion of the proceeds from the IPO to re@@®080 of principal on the intercompany
note payable owed to EMC. Cash used in financitigides in 2005 resulted from dividends we paidg#iC.

Our cash and cash equivalents balance was $1,282007, $176.1 in 2006 and $38.7 in 2005. Basedurcurrent operating and cap
expenditure forecasts, we believe that the comioinaif funds currently available and funds to baayated from operations will be adequat
finance our ongoing operations for at least the heglve months.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacoonfinancial results.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligabns, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

We enter into agreements in the ordinary courdmusiness with, among others, distributors, reslb86 system vendors and systems
integrators. Most of these agreements require ugdemnify the other party against third-party elaialleging that one of our products
infringes or misappropriates a patent, copyrighlémark, trade secret and/or other intellectugpenty right. Certain of these agreements
require us to indemnify the other party againstaierclaims relating to property damage, persamaky or the acts or omissions by us, our
employees, agents or representatives. In additiom time to time we have made certain guarantegarding the performance of our systems
to our customers.

Contractual Obligations
We have various contractual obligations impactinglmuidity. The following represents our contnaak obligations as of December 31,
2007:

Payments Due by Period
1-3

Less thar years 35 More than

Total 1year @ years @ 5 years

Note payable to EM(® $450.( $ — $— $450.( $ —
Operating lease 394.¢ 26.t 52.€ 35.€ 280.1
Purchase ordel 110.2 105.C 5.2 — —
FIN No. 48® 18.: — — — —
Total $973.2 $131.F $57.¢ $485.¢ $ 280.]

(1) Includes payments from January 1, 2009 through Déee 31, 201C

(2) Includes payments from January 1, 2011 through Dbee 31, 2012

(3) The note is due and payable in full on or befapril 16, 2012, however, we can pay down the abten earlier date in full or in part at
our election

(4) As of December 31, 2007, we had $18.3 of namecit net unrecognized tax benefits under FIN Noo.\We are not able to provide a
reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of fatpayments relating to these obligatic

Our operating leases are primarily for office spammind the world. While our purchase orders aregely cancelable without penalty,
certain vendor agreements provide for percentageebeancellation fees or minimum restocking chabgased on the nature of the product or
service.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are basdti@grelection and application of generally acceptambunting principles that require us
to make estimates and assumptions about futurdsetreat affect the amounts reported in our findrat@tements and the accompanying notes.
Future events and their effects cannot be detedniith certainty. Therefore, the determination stiraates requires the exercise of judgment.
Actual results could differ from those estimatag] any such differences may be material to oumnfifed statements. We believe that the
policies set forth below may involve a higher dego¢ judgment and complexity in their applicatibat our other accounting policies and
represent the critical accounting policies usethnpreparation of our financial statements. Ifediént assumptions or conditions were to
prevail, the results could be materially differéaim our reported results. Our significant accongipolicies are presented within Note A to our
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Stock Option:

In 2006, we adopted Financial Accounting Standand 23R, “Share-Based Payment,” or FAS No. 123Rgctmunt for stock-based
compensation expense. FAS No. 123R requires reziogniompensation costs for all share-based payaweatds made to employees based
upon the awards’ estimated grant date fair valugittonally, we applied the provisions of SEC Staéfcounting Bulletin No. 107 on Share-
Based Payment to our adoption of FAS No. 123R.fdancial statements include the adoption of FAS N8R using the modified
prospective transition method of adoption, whiclkgloot result in the restatement of results froior greriods. Prior to 2006, we elected to
account for these share-based payment awards Arsdeunting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Acceing for Stock Issued to
Employees,” or APB No. 25, and elected to only ldise the pro forma impact of expensing the faiugadf stock options in the notes to the
financial statements.

We elected to estimate the fair value of employeeksoption awards and the ESPP using the Blacloi8stoption pricing model. The
determination of the fair value of our share-bgsagment awards on the date of grant using the Biatioles option pricing model is affected
by our stock price, as well as assumptions reggrdinumber of subjective variables. These variabldsade the expected stock price volatility
over the term of the awards, the risk-free interat associated with the expected term of the dsyaxpected dividends and actual and
projected employee stock option exercise behavibasy of the assumptions used in the Black Schof&ion pricing model change
significantly, stock-based compensation expense difégr materially in the future from that recordiedthe current period.

The estimation of stock awards that will ultimatebst requires judgment, and to the extent actsllts or updated estimates differs
from our current estimates, such amounts will memed as an adjustment in the period the estinaaeesevised. Should our actual forfeitures
differ from our estimates, this could have a matémpact on our financial statements.

Revenue Recognitio

We derive revenue from the licensing of software eslated services. We recognize revenue for soétweoducts and related services in
accordance with the American Institute of Certiffeablic Accountants’ Statement of Position (SORR97Software Revenue Recognition,” as
amended. We recognize revenue when persuasiveneeidd an arrangement exists, delivery has occutihedsales price is fixed or
determinable and collectability is probable. Howedetermining whether and when some of theserizitewve been satisfied often involves
assumptions and judgments that can have a sigmificgpact on the timing and amount of revenue vpoire

Our assessment of likelihood of collection is asmritical element in determining the timing of eewie recognition. If we do not believe
that collection is probable, the revenue will béeded until the earlier of when collection is deshprobable or cash is received.
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We recognize license revenue from the sale of swéwhen risk of loss transfers, which is genenafign shipment or electronic trans
We license our software under perpetual licengeeugh our direct sales force and through our ceboindistributors, resellers, x86 system
vendors and systems integrators. We defer revesiatng to products that have shipped to our chliasmmtd our products are sold through the
channel. We estimate and record reserves for ptediat are not sold through the channel basedstarizal trends and relevant current
information. We obtain sell-through information dnadistributors and resellers on a monthly basisrandncile any estimates, if necessary,
made in the previous month. Historically, actuéimation has not differed materially from the tethestimate. For our indirect channel
partners who do not report sell-through data, werdd@ne sell-through information based on suctrithistors’ and resellers’ accounts
receivable balances and other relevant factorsx8®system vendors, revenue is recognized in & tgaon the receipt of binding royalty
reports. The accuracy of our reserves depends oability to estimate the product sold through ¢hannels and could have a significant
impact on the timing and amount of revenue we rtepor

We offer rebates to channel partners, which aregeiced as a reduction of revenue at the timedlsdad product sale is recognized. We
account for marketing development funds and salesntives to channel partners as a reduction efmew. When rebates are based on the set
percentage of actual sales, we recognize the obgitie rebates as a reduction of revenue whenrterlying revenue is recognized. In cases
where rebates are earned if a cumulative levehlgflsss achieved, we recognize the cost of theteslss a reduction of revenue proportionally
for each sale that is required to achieve the tafges estimated reserves for channel rebatesalad mcentives are based on channel partners’
actual performance against the terms and conditibtise programs, historical trends and the vafub®rebates. The accuracy of these
reserves for these rebates, marketing developmadsfand sales incentives depends on our abiliggtimate these items and could have a
significant impact on the timing and amount of newe we report.

Although our return policy does not allow end-udergeturn products for a refund, we may accepirnst from time to time. Channel
partners may also rotate stock when new versiomasppbduct are released. The product returns resgtvased on historical experience of
actual product returns, estimated channel inveriergls, the timing of new product introductionglgaromotions and other relevant factors.
The accuracy of these reserves depends on outyabikstimate sales returns and stock rotationngnodher criteria. If we were to change any
of these assumptions or judgments, it could causatarial increase or decrease in the amount efma that we report in a particular period.

Our services revenue consists of software maintanand professional services. We recognize maintengevenues ratably over the
contract period. Professional services includegtesmplementation and training. Professional sswiare not considered essential to the
functionality of our products because these sesvittenot alter the product capabilities and mapédréormed by our customers or other
vendors. Professional services engagements thatchaations of 90 days or less are recognizedviemae upon completion of the engagernr
Professional services engagements of more tham@9fdr which we are able to make reasonably degg#adkstimates of progress toward
completion are recognized on a proportional perforoe basis based upon the hours incurred. Revenalkt @her engagements is recognized
upon completion. However, if we were to change @imyrese assumptions or judgments, it could caunatarial increase or decrease in the
amount of revenue that we report in a particulaioge

Our software products are sold with maintenancéaarptofessional services. Vendor-specific objectvidence (“VSOE”) of fair value
of professional services is based upon the starmdted we charge for such services when sold sehars’SOE for maintenance services is
established by the rates charged in stand-aloes s&maintenance contracts or the stated reneseafor maintenance included in the license
agreement. The revenue allocated to software leargduded in multiple element contracts represtregsesidual amount of the contract after
the fair value of the other elements has been ihited.

Customers under maintenance agreements are emdittedeive product updates and upgrades on a whé+if-available basis. In the
event upgrades or new products have been annobucenbt delivered, product revenue is deferred dfte announcement date until delivery
occurs unless we have established VSOE
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of fair value for the upgrade or new product. VS@iair value for these upgrades or new producestablished based upon the price set by
management. We have a history of selling theseagagor new products on a stand-alone basis. Wegueed to exercise judgment in
determining whether VSOE exists for each undelidesiement based on whether our pricing for thesments is sufficiently consistent with
the sale of these elements on a stand-alone Béssscould cause a material increase or decreathe iamount of revenue that we report in a
particular period.

Asset Valuatior

Asset valuation includes assessing the recordegt\alcertain assets, including accounts receiyajsledwill, capitalized software
development costs and other intangible assets. d&@ wariety of factors to assess valuation, ddépgngon the asset. Accounts receivable are
evaluated based upon the creditworthiness of ostomers, historical experience, the age of theivabke and current market and economic
conditions. Should current market and economic itmms deteriorate, our actual bad debt experiexesd exceed our estimate. We capitalize
software development costs once our projects heaehied technological feasibility at the earliecafhpletion of a detailed project design or a
working model. Changes in judgment as to when teldyical feasibility is reached could materiallygeact the amount of costs capitalized.
amortize capitalized software development costs peeods ranging from 18 to 24 months, which repre the products’ estimated useful
lives. Changes in the periods over which we actigdiherate revenues or the amounts of revenuesajedeould result in different amounts
amortization. Other intangible assets are evalubdésgd upon the expected period during which teetasll be utilized, forecasted cash flows,
changes in technology and customer demand. Cham@iegments on any of these factors could matgriaipact the value of the asset. Our
goodwill valuation is based upon a discounted dst analysis. The analysis considers estimatedmag and expense growth rates. The
estimates are based upon our historical experiandgrojections of future activity, considering tmuser demand, changes in technology and a
cost structure necessary to achieve the relateshtes. Changes in judgments on any of these famtotd materially impact the value of the
asset.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

In calculating our income tax expense, managenuglgiment is necessary to make certain estimategudgchents for financial statement
purposes that affect the recognition of tax assetliabilities.

In order for us to realize our deferred tax asseésmust be able to generate sufficient taxablerimein those jurisdictions where the
deferred tax assets are located. We record a iatualtowance to reduce our deferred tax assetset@mount that is more likely than not to be
realized. We consider future market growth, foresdearnings, future taxable income, and prudedifeasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowancehevent we were to determine that we would natide to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmethigtaleferred tax assets would be charged to egrivinthe period in which we make such
determination. Likewise, if we later determine thas more likely than not that the net deferrad assets would be realized, we would reverse
the applicable portion of the previously provideduation allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisiased on estimates and assumptions that couét éliffim the actual results reflected
in income tax returns filed during the subsequesatryAdjustments based on filed returns are gelggedorded in the period when the tax
returns are filed.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to auditfederal, state and foreign tax authoritiesctvimay result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outéonasmy uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentak Wélieve we have adequately providec
any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to thatters. However, our future results may inclumlefable or unfavorable adjustments to
our estimated tax liabilities in the period theesssnents are made or resolved, audits are closedeor statutes of limitation on
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potential assessments expire. Additionally, thesglictions in which our earnings or deductionsraaized may differ from our current
estimates. As a result, our effective tax rate fhastuate significantly on a quarterly basis.

As part of our accounting for business combinatisonsne of the purchase price is allocated to golbdwil intangible assets. Impairment
charges associated with goodwill are generallytaoteductible and will result in an increased effee income tax rate in the quarter the
impairment is recorded.

We do not provide for a U.S. income tax liability ondistributed earnings of our foreign subsid®&riehe earnings of non-U.S.
subsidiaries, which reflect full provision for ndhS. income taxes, are indefinitely reinvestedon+.S. operations or will be remitted
substantially free of additional tax.

Income taxes are calculated on a separate taxnrbeasis, although we are included in the consaigax return of EMC. The difference
between the income taxes payable that is calcutaterlseparate return basis and the amount acpaithto EMC pursuant to our tax sharing
agreement with EMC is presented as a componerddifi@anal paid-in capital.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stastsl&oard (“FASB”) issued FAS No. 157, “Fair Value®dsurements,” or FAS
No. 157, which addresses how companies should meésuvalue when they are required to use aviame measure for recognition
disclosure purposes under generally accepted atingysrinciples. FAS No. 157 defines fair valuetabtishes a framework for measuring fair
value in generally accepted accounting principles expands disclosures about fair value measurameAS No. 157 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning &fterember 15, 2007 and should be applied prospégtigrcept in the case of a limited num
of financial instruments that require retrospectpplication. We are currently evaluating the ptoétimpact of FAS No. 157 on our financial
position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, “Fa& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahtiabilities-including an
amendment of FAS 115,” or FAS No. 159. The newest&nt allows entities to choose, at specified eleaates, to measure eligible financial
assets and liabilities at fair value that are nbeowise required to be measured at fair valua.débmpany elects the fair value option for an
eligible item, changes in that item’s fair valuesimbsequent reporting periods must be recognizedriient earnings. FAS No. 159 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2002 are currently evaluating the potential impddtAS No. 159 on our financial position
and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141 ¢eel/R007) or FAS No. 141R, “Business Combinatiomkfs statement establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirea business combination (i) recognizes and measuitsfinancial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdpand any noncontrolling interest in the acquif@erecognizes and measures the goodwill
acquired in the business combination or a gain fadmargain purchase, and (iii) determines whatmédion to disclose to enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the nature arahéial effects of the business combination. FAS Nd. (revised 2007) is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008. The impfattte standard on our financial position and itssaf operation will be dependent up
the number of and magnitude of acquisitions thatcansummated once the standard is effective.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160 o8 Fb. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidatgénancial Statements—an
amendment of ARB No. 51". The objective of thigataent is to improve the relevance, comparabidihd transparency of the financial
information that a reporting entity provides indtensolidated financial statements by establishtapunting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and therefdeconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS No. 166fisctive for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. We do not expect the standdrdvte a material impact on our financial positiomesults of operations.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Foreign Exchange Ris

International revenue as a percentage of totalhme®was 46% in 2007, 44% in 2006 and 46% in 2005.revenue contracts are
denominated in U.S. dollars and the vast majoffityur purchase contracts are denominated in U.ardoA portion of our cost of revenues,
primarily the cost of personnel to deliver techhsgpport on our products, and a portion of ourrapieg expense related to sales and sales
support and research and development, are denadiimaforeign currencies, primarily the Euro, théiBh pound, the Japanese yen, the In
rupee, the Australian dollar and the Canadian ddllaese costs and the resulting effect on opegaticome are exposed to foreign exchange
rate fluctuations. Upon consolidation, as exchamages vary, operating costs may differ materialpnf expectations. The Company does not
hedge its exposure to foreign currency fluctuatlbthe dollar weakened by 10% in relation to thed this would result in additional expense
of approximately $18 million.

Interest Rate Ris

Our exposure to market risk relates primarily te #ariable interest obligation on the note we inedito fund an $800.0 dividend to EN
in the form of a note. The dividend was declaredmil 2007, but given retroactive effect as of Bether 31, 2006. Subsequent to receiving
the proceeds from the IPO in August 2007, we ref8kD.0 million of principal on the note. The natatures in April 2012 and bears an
interest rate of the 90-day LIBOR plus 55 basisitsiwith interest payable quarterly in arrearse Trtierest rate on the note payable as of
December 31, 2007 was 5.78%, and the weighted g@émnéerest rate on the note payable for 2007 w&&%. The note may be repaid, with
penalty, at any future point. If our interest ratese to instantaneously increase (decrease) 146 paints from the December 31, 2007 rate,
our annual interest expense would increase (dezyé&gs$4.5 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of VM&dnc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairlyall material respects, the financial
position of VMware, Inc. and its subsidiaries acBmber 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of tipeirations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 37, @0conformity with accounting principles genéraccepted in the United States of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financ&htement schedule listed in the accompanyingxipdesents fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein when read in aoction with the related consolidated financiatestaents. These financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsilgfithe Company’s management. Our responsibilitg isxpress an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits. We conducted our audits of thesermstants in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boaraii(eld States). Those standards require that wegndrperform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the finanatehsénts are free of material misstatement. Antautludes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurifinancial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overathdiahstatement presentation. We believe that adits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As discussed in Note A to the consolidated findrat@tements, the Company changed the manner ichvithaccounts for share-based
compensation in 2006.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 20, 2008
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $1,231,16! $ 176,13:
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfalants of $1,603 and $2,1. 283,82: 193,71(
Due from EMC, ne — 2,24t
Deferred tax asst 54,38t 27,65¢
Other current asse 33,95¢ 22,68¢
Total current asse 1,603,33. 422,43.
Property and equipment, r 276,98 48,67¢
Other assets, n 71,69¢ 49,91
Deferred tax asst 72,24¢ 20,93¢
Intangible assets, n 32,07: 43,51¢
Goodwill 639,36t 560,48:
Total asset $2,695,70! $1,145,95!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 61,50! $ 44,227
Accrued expense 173,61( 103,32:
Due to EMC, ne 2,75¢ —
Income taxes payable to EMC, current pori 68,82! 87,59¢
Deferred revenue, current porti 363,31 242,60:
Total current liabilities 670,01: 477,74¢
Note payable to EM( 450,00( 800,00(
Deferred revenue, net of current port 189,47¢ 63,91
Deferred tax liability 27,321 30,57¢
Income taxes payable to EMC, net of current por 18,26¢ 4,52z
Commitments and contingencies (see No
Stockholde’s equity (deficit):
Class A common stock, par value $.01; authorizB@@000 shares; issued and outstanding 82,924
32,500 share 82¢ 32t
Class B convertible common stock, par value $.0thaized 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
300,000 share 3,00( 3,00¢
Additional paic-in capital 1,352,78! —
Accumulated defici (16,000 (234,13)
Total stockholders' equity (defici 1,340,61 (230,817)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (defjc $2,695,70i $1,145,95!

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Revenue:
License $ 905,36¢ $491,90: $287,00¢
Services 420,44: 212,00: 100,06¢
1,325,81. 703,90« 387,07
Operating expense
Cost of license revenu 80,87¢ 59,20: 40,34(
Cost of services revenu 137,79¢ 64,18( 24,85
Research and developmt 285,94 148,25 72,56!
Sales and marketir 450,19¢ 238,32 124,96
General and administrati\ 135,66( 69,60: 30,76
In-process research and developn — 3,70( —
Operating incom 235,34 120,63¢ 93,59¢
Investment incom 22,94: 2,49 497
Interest income (expense) with EMC, (17,759 29z 2,067
Other expense, n (48) (882) (81°)
Income before taxe 240,47¢ 122,54 95,34(
Income tax provisiol 22,341 36,83: 28,56¢
Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag principle 218,13 85,71¢ 66,77t
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prileipet of tax of $10 — 17¢ —
Net income $ 218,13 $ 85,89( $ 66,77¢
Net income per weighted average share, basic fisCA and Class [
Income per share before cumulative effect of a ghan accounting principl $ 0.6z $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec — — —
Net income per shal $ 0.62 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2
Net income per weighted average share, dilute€fass A and Class [
Income per share before cumulative effect of a ghan accounting principl $ 0.61 $ 0.2€ $ 0.2
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec — — —
Net income per shal $ 0.61 $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.2
Weighted average shares, basic for Class A and @&l 350,49: 332,50( 332,50(
Weighted average shares, diluted for Class A aad<OB 359,18¢ 332,50( 332,50(

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
In-process research and developn
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts capita
Other adjustment
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisiti
Accounts receivabl
Other asset
Due to (from) EMC, ne
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Income taxes payable to EN
Deferred income taxes, r
Deferred revenu
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment, |
Purchase of headquatrters facilities from E
Capitalized software development cc
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu
Increase in restricted ca
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activities:
Dividends paid to EM(
Proceeds from Class A common stock issued in IROohissuance cos

Proceeds from Class A common stock issued to Gepital, net of issuance co:

Proceeds from exercises of stock opti
Repayment of note payable to EN

Net cash provided (used) by financing activi
Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatiol
Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid for taxe

Non-cash items:
Dividends declared via note payable to El
Fair value of EMC stock options issued in acquosi

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
$ 218,13 $ 8589 $ 66,77
104,02 66,57 39,46
— 3,70( —
92,40¢ 51,22¢ 27,07
(167) 5,07¢ 202
(88,969 (97,99:) (51,96
(977) (9,076) (2,120)
5,00¢ (48,36%) 29,25;
15,57 31,76: 7,751
61,62 60,90« 20,90¢
(17,81%) (6,006) 44,06
(78,48¢) (21,88¢) (22,689
242,08; 158,05¢ 79,53«
552,43 279,86: 238,24°
(136,39} (52,579) (20,65:)
(132,56:) — —
(47,739 (32,529 (21,55
(82,53¢) (46,54°) (2,169
(4,466) (10,74¢) (1,280)
(403,69  (142,38) (45,657
— — (190,000()
1,035,23; — —
218,30 — —
2,76( — _
(350,00) — —
906,29: — (190,00()
1,055,03. 137,48 2,59¢
176,13 38,65: 36,05¢
$1,231,16; $176,13« $ 38,65:
$ 1999: $ 481 $ 512
$ 11841 $ 6407¢ $ 7,121
$ —  $800000 $ —
$ — $ 68 $ —
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DE FICIT)
(in thousands)

Class B Additional Stockholder's
Class A Convertible (Accumulated
Common Stock Common Stock Paid-in Deferred Equity
Shares ParValue Shares Par Value Capital Compensatior Deficit) (Deficit)
Balance, January 1, 20 32,50 $ 32 300,000 $ 3,000 $ 59383 % (36,87¢) $ — $ 560,28:
Grants of EMC restricted stock, net of cancellaiand
withholdings — — — — 103,88! (103,88Y) — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — — 30,61¢ — 30,61¢
Charge from tax sharing arrangement (see Not — — — — (13,849 — — (13,849
Dividends declare: — — — — (123,22 — (66,775 (190,000
Net income — — — — — — 66,77" 66,77"
Balance, December 31, 20 32,50( 325 300,00( 3,00( 560,64¢ (110,14%) — 453,82¢
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princ — — — — 1,06( — — 1,06(
EMC stock options issued in acquisitic — — — — 68¢ — — 68¢
Charge from tax sharing arrangement (see Nol — — — — (32,28¢) — — (32,28¢)
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 60,00¢ — — 60,00¢
Reclassification of deferred compensat — — — — (110,14% 110,14! — —
Dividends declare: — — — — (479,97)) — (320,02) (800,00()
Net income — — — — — — 85,89( 85,89(
Balance, December 31, 20 32,50( 325 300,00( 3,00( — — (234,13) (230,81:)
Issuance of Class A common stock in IPO, net of
underwriter fees of $60,530 and other issuancescost
of $4,787 37,95( 38C — — 1,034,85. — — 1,035,23
Issuance of Class A common stock to Intel Capited,
of issuance costs of $2( 9,50( 95 — — 218,20! — — 218,30(
Charge from tax sharing arrangement (see Not — — — — (2,537) — — (2,537)
Stoclk-based compensatic — — — — 102,29( — — 102,29(
Issuance of restricted stock, net of cancellat 2,97¢ 29 — — (29) — — —
Net income — — — — — — 218,13° 218,13°
Balance, December 31, 20 82,92: $ 82¢ 300,00 $ 3,000 $1,352,78 $ — $ (16,000 $ 1,340,61

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. The Company and Summary of Significant Accountig Policies
Company and Background

VMware, Inc. (“VMware” or the “Company”) is the ldiag provider of virtualization solutions. VMwarevrtualization solutions
represent a pioneering approach to computing #zrates the operating system and application acétivom the underlying hardware to
achieve significant improvements in efficiency, iadaility, flexibility and manageability. VMware’broad and proven suite of virtualization
solutions addresses a range of complex IT probteatinclude infrastructure optimization, busineestinuity, software lifecycle management
and desktop management.

EMC’s Acquisition of VMware

On January 9, 2004, EMC Corporation (“EMC”) acqdiedl the outstanding capital stock of VMware. Euoguisition was accounted for
as a purchase. Accordingly, all assets and ligdsilivere adjusted to their fair market value. Oy 3u2007, VMware's certificate of
incorporation was amended to authorize sharesafsCA and Class B common stock. After a conversfaxisting common stock into Clas:
and Class B common stock, and prior to VMware’sahpublic offering in August 2007, EMC held 321illion shares of Class A common
stock and 300.0 million shares of Class B commonokstThe ownership rights of Class A and Class Broon stockholders are the same
except with respect to voting, conversion, certaitions that require the consent of holders of CEasommon stock and other protective
provisions. Each share of Class B common stockdrasotes while each share of Class A common dtaskone vote for all matters to be
voted on by stockholders. The capitalization of @mnpany, including all share and per share dadban retroactively adjusted to reflect the
recapitalization.

Initial Public Offering

In August 2007, VMware completed its initial pubtitfering (the “IPO”) in which the Company sold 830,000 shares (including
4,950,000 shares pursuant to the underwritersefdircise of their over-allotment option) of itsa€$ A common stock at a price to the public
of $29.00 per share. The net proceeds of the IRBet@ompany were $1,035.2 million after deducthmyoffering expenses and underwriters’
discounts (see Note J). At December 31, 2007, EMI@shapproximately 32% of VMware’s Class A commuorck and 100% of VMware’s
Class B common stock, representing approximatedg 86VMware’s outstanding common stock and 98%hefdcombined voting power of
VMware’s outstanding common stock. As a result, EdbBtinues to control the Company following the pbetion of the initial public
offering, and is able to exercise control ovemaditters requiring stockholder approval, including élection of directors and approval of
significant corporate transactions.

Accounting Principles

The financial statements and accompanying noteprapared in accordance with accounting princigksserally accepted in the United
States of America.

Basis of Presentatiol

VMware historically has received, and continuessizeive, certain administrative services from EM@J VMware and EMC engage in
certain intercompany transactions. The consolidfitehcial statements include expense allocationgértain corporate functions provided to
VMware by EMC, including general corporate expen3éese allocations were based on estimates détet of effort or resources incurred
on behalf of VMware. Additionally, certain othersts incurred by EMC for the direct benefit of VMwasuch as rent, salaries and benefits
have been included in VMware's financial statemeltanagement believes the
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

assumptions underlying the financial statementstaadbove allocations are reasonable. Howeveendivese intercompany transactions did
not arise from transactions negotiated at armstiewith an unrelated third party, the financialtstaents included herein may not necessarily
reflect results of operations, financial positiordaash flows had VMware engaged in such trangactioth an unrelated third party during all
periods presented. Accordingly, historical resaft¥ Mware should not be relied upon as an indicafdahe future performance of VMware.
VMware’s future results of operations, which will incluctests and expenses for it to operate as an independmpany, including payment
EMC for administrative services provided to VMwargrsuant to a master transaction agreement anliaaypeigreements entered into with
EMC in connection with the IPO, may be materialiffetent than VMware's historical results of opéoats, financial position, and cash flows.

Prior period financial statements have been adjusteonform to current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include tw®ants of VMware and its subsidiaries. All interquany transactions and balances
between VMware and its subsidiaries have been wditad. All intercompany transactions with EMC ie ttonsolidated statements of cash
flows are expected to be settled in cash and clsaingée intercompany balances are presented amponent of cash flows from operating
activities.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principlesuises management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities, the reporteduantsoof revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods and the disclosure of contingessets and liabilities at the date of the finarsialements. Estimates are used for, but not
limited to, receivable valuation, useful lives ofdd assets, valuation of acquired intangiblespine taxes, stock-based compensation and
contingencies. Actual results could differ fromgbastimates.

Revenue Recognitio

VMware derives revenue from the licensing of sofevand related services. VMware recognizes revémusoftware products and
related services in accordance with the Americatitlite of Certified Public Accountants’ StatemehPosition (SOP) 97-2, “Software
Revenue Recognition,” as amended. VMware recogmeenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangesrists, delivery has occurred, the
sales price is fixed or determinable and colletitgghs probable.

The following summarizes the major terms of VMwarebdntractual relationships with customers andrieaner in which VMware
accounts for sales transactions.

License revenu
VMware recognizes revenue from the sale of softwaren risk of loss transfers, which is generallpmghipment or electronic delivery.
VMware licenses its software under perpetual liesrthrough its direct sales force and throughhigsael of distributors, resellers, x86
system vendors and systems integrators. VMwaresled@enue relating to products that have shipptediis channel until its products are s

through the channel. VMware obtains sell- througthrimation from distributors and resellers on a thinbasis. For VMware’s channel
partners who do
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

not report sell-through data, VMware determinestbebugh based on payment of such distributors! eertain resellers’ accounts receivable
balances and other relevant factors. For x86 systmdors, revenue is recognized in arrears uporettept of binding royalty reports.

For all sales, VMware uses a purchase order, ad&agreement and a purchase order or a masteregreand binding royalty report as
evidence of an arrangement. Sales through distnib@ind resellers are evidenced by a master licgr®ement, together with purchase orders,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

The Company’s return policy does not allow end-sisereturn products for a refund. Certain distidlosi and resellers may rotate stock
when new versions of a product are released. VMwstienates future product returns at the time &, 84Viware’s estimate is based on
historical return rates, levels of inventory helddistributors and resellers and other relevartbfac

VMware offers rebates to certain of its channetipeans. When rebates are based on a set perceritageial sales, VMware recognizes
the cost of the rebates as a reduction of reverenwhe underlying revenue is recognized. Whenteskare earned only if a cumulative level
of sales is achieved, VMware recognizes the cotli@febates as a reduction of revenue proportiofal each sale that is required to achieve
the target.

VMware also offers marketing development fundg¢d¢ahannel partners. VMware records the cost ofrtaeketing development funds,
based on the maximum potential liability, as a otidin of revenue at the time the underlying reveisurecognized.

Services revenue

Services revenue consists of software maintenamtg@fessional services. VMware recognizes maartea revenues ratably over the
contract period. Professional services includegtesmplementation and training. Professional sswiare not considered essential to the
functionality of VMware’s products as these serside not alter the product capabilities and mapédxéormed by customers or other vendors.
Professional services engagements that have dusadfdd0 days or less are recognized in revenua apmpletion of the engagement.
Professional services engagements of more tham@9fdr which VMware is able to make reasonablyethelable estimates of progress toward
completion are recognized on a proportional pertorce basis based upon the hours incurred. Revenalk ather professional services
engagements is recognized upon completion.

Multiple element arrangemen

VMware’'s software products are typically sold wittaintenance and/or professional services. Vendecip objective evidence
(“VSOE") of fair value for professional services is basedrughe standard rates VMware charges for suchaeswihen sold separately. VS
of fair value for maintenance services is establisby the rates charged in stand-alone sales oftemgince contracts or the stated renewal rate
for maintenance included in the license agreeniédrg.revenue allocated to the software license deruin multiple element contracts
represents the residual amount of the contraat tiféefair value of the other elements has beeerdehed.

Customers under maintenance agreements are emdittedeive updates and upgrades on a when-andgiiable basis. In the event
upgrades or new products have been announced bdeliered, product revenue is deferred afterativeouncement date until delivery occurs.
The amount and elements to be deferred are depeoevhether the company has established VSOE¥ditue for the upgrade or new
product. VSOE of fair value of these upgrades av ppoducts is established based upon the prickeysetanagement. VMware has a history of
selling these upgrades or new products on a stme:-aasis.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Deferred revenue includes unearned maintenancefdesgssional services fees and license fees.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of VMwar foreign subsidiaries. Gains and losses fromidor currency transactions are
included in other expense, net, and were not natierany period presented.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquigatments with a maturity of 90 days or less atithe of purchase. Cash equivalents
consist of money market funds.

Under the terms of various agreements, VMware ésisicted cash included in other current asseto#mer assets, net. The amounts
were not material in any period presented.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

VMware maintains an allowance for doubtful accodotsestimated probable losses on uncollectibl®@acts receivable. The allowance
is based upon the creditworthiness of VMware’s @mgrs, historical experience, the age of the red#évand current market and economic
conditions. Uncollectible amounts are charged agjaire allowance account.

Property and Equipment, ne

Property and equipment, net are recorded at cegirdgiation commences upon placing the assetwicsesnd is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful livkethe assets, as follows:

Buildings 39 years

Land improvement 15 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Equipment 2 to 5 year:

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of lease term or useful |

Upon retirement or disposition, the asset costratated accumulated depreciation are removed wighgain or loss recognized in the
income statement. Repair and maintenance costdahadt extend the economic life of the underly@isgets are expensed as incurred.

Research and Development and Capitalized Softwaey&opment Cosi

Costs incurred in the research and developmengwfaoftware products are expensed as incurredtentihological feasibility is
established. Technological feasibility is definectlze earlier of the completion of a detail progidesign or a working model. Such costs
include salaries and benefits, including stock-bdasempensation, consultants, facilities-relateds;a@quipment costs, and depreciation.
Software development costs incurred subsequerstablkshing technological feasibility through thengral release of the software products
capitalized. Upon general release of the produetgitalized costs are amortized over periods ranfyom 18 to 24 months, which represent
products’ estimated useful lives.

Unamortized software development costs were $6@IBmand $46.5 million at December 31, 2007 a®d&, respectively, and are
included in other assets, net.
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For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 ark] 200ware capitalized $56.8 million (including $9illion of stock-based
compensation), $43.0 million (including $10.5 naitli of stock-based compensation), and $25.1 miflieciuding $3.5 million of stock-based
compensation), respectively, of costs incurredtierdevelopment of software products. Amortizagapense from capitalized amounts were
$36.4 million, $22.3 million and $6.2 million foné¢ years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2Gatévely.

Long-Lived Assets

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are amedtiaver their estimated useful lives which rangenfthree to nine years. In 2007, 2006
and 2005, VMware amortized $25.7 million, $25.5limil and $26.1 million, respectively, for purchasethngible assets.

VMware periodically reviews long-lived assets fomairment in accordance with Financial Accountingn8ards (“FAS”) No. 144
“Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-LidéAssets.” VMware initiates reviews for impairmevtienever events or changes in
business circumstances indicate that the carryimguat of the assets may not be fully recoverabkbat the useful lives of these assets are no
longer appropriate. Each impairment test is basea comparison of the undiscounted cash flowsdaédkorded value of the asset. If
impairment is indicated, the asset is written dawits estimated fair value. To date, no such impant has been identified.

Goodwill is carried at its historical cost. VMwatessts goodwill for impairment in accordance with$No. 142 “Goodwill and other
Intangible Assets,” in the fourth quarter of eaelaiyor more frequently if events or changes inutirstances indicate that the asset might be
impaired. To date, there have been no impairmdmgsadwill or other long-lived assets.

Advertising

Advertising production costs are expensed as iedurdvertising expense was $2.5 million, $1.6 ionil) and $0.9 million in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes as presented herein are calculatadseparate tax return basis, although VMware isidtezi in the consolidated tax return
of EMC. Deferred tax liabilities and assets aregtzed for the expected future tax consequencesaits that have been included in the
financial statements or tax returns. Deferred i@hilities and assets are determined based oniffleesshce between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their reported amounts using enéte rates in effect for the year in which thdetiénces are expected to reverse. Tax credits
are generally recognized as reductions of incom@itavisions in the year in which the credits ariBee measurement of deferred tax assets is
reduced by a valuation allowance if, based upoiiaa evidence, it is more likely than not thatrsoor all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized.

VMware does not provide for a U.S. income tax ligobn undistributed earnings of VMware's foreignbsidiaries. The earnings of non-
U.S. subsidiaries, which reflect full provision foon-U.S. income taxes, are currently indefinitelinvested in non-U.S. operations or will be
remitted substantially free of additional tax.

The difference between the income taxes payabtdgitalculated on a separate return basis andrtfwaint actually paid to EMC
pursuant to VMware’s tax sharing agreement (see Iptis presented as a component of additional-pedpital.
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Sales Taxe!

Sales and other taxes collected from customersalpsequently remitted to government authoritiesecerded as accounts receivable
with a corresponding offset to sales tax payabie Balances are removed from the consolidated dalstmeet as cash is collected from the
customer and as remitted to the tax authority.

Earnings per Share

Basic net income per share is calculated usingvsighted-average number of shares of VMware’s comstock outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share is calculatédguthe weighted-average number of common shaodsdimg the dilutive effect of equity
awards as determined under the treasury stock nheffas purposes of calculating earnings per shédviyare uses the two-class method.
Because both classes share the same rights iredolsg basic and diluted earnings per share arsathe for both classes.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is equal to net income.

Concentrations of Risks

Financial instruments which potentially subject Visiw to concentrations of credit risk consist ppatly of cash and cash equivalents
and accounts receivable. Deposits held with barkg exceed the amount of insurance provided on dapbsits. Generally, these deposits
be redeemed upon demand and are maintained wéthdial institutions of reputable credit and therefoear minimal credit risk. VMware
places cash and cash equivalents in money mankds fand limits the amount of investment with ang @suer.

VMware provides credit to distributors, resellensl@ertain end-user customers in the normal cafrbesiness. Credit is generally
extended to new customers based upon industryagpuior a credit evaluation. Credit is extendedxisting customers based on ongoing
credit evaluations, prior payment history and dest@ted financial stability.

One distributor accounted for 23%, 29% and 30%ewénues in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, aathar distributor accounted for
12% of revenues in 2007. One channel partner ateddar 11% of revenues in 2007.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the adoption of VMware’s Equity and IndgatPlan in June 2007, VMware employees were gdastieck options for and
restricted stock awards of EMC’s common stock. @muary 1, 2006, FAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Paym&r&S No. 123R”), became
effective. The standard requires recognizing corapgton costs for all share-based payment awardg teaeimployees based upon the awards’
estimated grant date fair value. Additionally, VMwapplied the provisions of the SEC’s Staff AcainmBulletin No. 107 on Share-Based
Payment to VMware’s adoption of FAS No. 123R. Poesgly, VMware elected to account for these shasethpayment awards under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accaimg for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 258)though the equity awards have
been made for grants in EMC’s common stock, foppses of presentation within these financial states) the compensation related to these
equity grants has been included as a componemddftolder’s equity.
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FAS No. 123R was adopted using the modified praspetransition method which does not result in thgtatement of results from prior
periods, and, accordingly, the results of operatimn the year ended December 31, 2006 and fueniegs will not be comparable to the
historical results of operations of VMware.

Under the modified prospective transition methotiSANo. 123R applies to new equity awards and tétgguwards modified,
repurchased or canceled after the adoption datgitiddally, compensation cost for the portion ofeads granted prior to the adoption date for
which the requisite service has not been rendesed the adoption date is recognized as the rdgussivice is rendered. The compensation
cost for that portion of awards is based on thatgdate fair value of those awards as calculateterprior period pro forma disclosures under
FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compemsat(“FAS No. 123"), as reported by EMC. The comsation cost for those earlier
awards is attributed to periods beginning on aerafie adoption date using the attribution metiad was used under FAS No. 123, which was
the straight-line method. Instead of recognizingeitures only as they occur under FAS No. 123, Vdflevestimates an expected forfeiture rate
which is utilized to determine VMware’s expensefdded compensation which related to those eaalieards has been eliminated against
additional paid-in capital in conjunction with tedoption of FAS No. 123R.

For stock options, VMware has utilized the Blacki&@es option-pricing model to determine the failueaof VMware’s stock option
awards. For equity-based awards, VMware recogri@egpensation cost on a straight-line basis oveattesrds’ vesting periods for those
awards which contain only a service vesting featbdog awards with performance conditions, manageémesluates the criteria in each gran
determine the probability that the performance d@dwill be achieved.

In connection with the IPO, VMware and EMC conddca® Exchange Offer (the “Exchange Offer”) enabkitigible VMware
employees to exchange their options to acquire E&I@mon stock for options to acquire VMware commimtls and to exchange restricted
stock awards of EMC’s common stock for restrictextls awards of VMware’s common stock. See Noter Juidher information regarding the
Exchange Offer.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stadsl&oard (“FASB”) issued FAS No. 157, “Fair Valuedsurements” (“FAS
No. 157), which addresses how companies should measirrealae when they are required to use a fair vahgasure for recognition or
disclosure purposes under generally accepted atingyrinciples. FAS No. 157 defines fair valuetaddishes a framework for measuring fair
value in generally accepted accounting principhes @xpands disclosures about fair value measuremeAs No. 157 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning &ftaerember 15, 2007 and should be applied prospégtigrcept in the case of a limited num
of financial instruments that require retrospectpplication. VMware is currently evaluating theeial impact of FAS No. 157 on the
Company'’s financial position and results of openadi

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, “IFhe Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahtiabilities-including an
amendment of FAS 115" (“FAS No. 159”). The new staént allows entities to choose, at specified eleaates, to measure eligible financial
assets and liabilities at fair value that are ribenwise required to be measured at fair valua.ddbmpany elects the fair value option for an
eligible item, changes in that item’s fair valuesinbsequent reporting periods must be recognizedrient earnings. FAS No. 159 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 20@0Mware is currently evaluating the potential impatFAS No. 159 on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141 ¢s/P007), “Business Combinations” (“FAS No. 141Rhis statement establist
principles and requirements for how the acquirea business combination (i) recognizes and measuitsfinancial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
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assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in thaiaeq, (ii) recognizes and measures the goodwijuaed in the business combination or a
gain from a bargain purchase, and (iii) determimbat information to disclosure to enable userseffinancial statements to evaluate the
nature and financial effects of the business coatimn. FAS No. 141 (revised 2007) is effectivefiscal years beginning after December 15,
2008. The impact of the standard on VMware'’s finalngosition and results of operation will be degent upon the number of and magnitude
of acquisitions that are consummated once the atdrid effective.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160, ‘@éatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financialt&taents—an amendment of
ARB No. 51" (“FAS No. 160"). The objective of thigatement is to improve the relevance, compargbditd transparency of the financial
information that a reporting entity provides indtensolidated financial statements by establishtapunting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and therefdeconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS No. 166fisctive for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. VMware does not expect the atdrtd have a material impact on the Company’sifired position and results of
operations.

B. Net Income per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted average number of conshares outstanding during the
period. For purposes of computing basic net incpereshare, the weighted average number of outstgraiares of common stock excludes
unvested restricted stock awards and other restrigtiock. Diluted net income per share is comphbyjedividing net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding aedtgly dilutive securities outstanding during teriod. Potentially dilutive securities
include stock options and unvested restricted stmifs, restricted stock awards, and other restlistock, using the treasury stock method.
Securities are excluded from the computations loteti net income per share if their effect wouldabé-dilutive. As of December 31, 2007,
VMware had 80.0 million shares of Class A commartkstand 300.0 million shares of Class B commonkstadstanding that were included in
the calculation of basic earnings per share. Fgugaes of calculating earnings per share, VMwaes tise two-class method. As both classes
share the same rights in dividends, basic andatiletrnings per share are the same for both classes

The following table sets forth the computationdasic and diluted net income per share (in thousastept per share data):

For the Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Net income $218,13" $ 85,89( $ 66,77¢
Shares used in computing basic net income per: 350,49: 332,50( 332,50(
Effect of dilutive securitie 8,69¢ — —
Shares used in computing diluted net income peaes 359,18 332,50( 332,50(
Basic net income per she $ 0.62 $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.2
Diluted net income per sha $ 0.61 $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.2

For the year ended December 31, 2007, stock optioasquire 2.2 million of VMware Class A commonck were excluded from the
diluted earnings per share calculations becausedfiect would have been anti-dilutive. For botle tyears ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, there is no difference between basic andedilearnings per share because there were nomditggeoptions to purchase shares of
VMware common stock or other potentially dilutivecsrities outstanding.
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C. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Asets
Business Acquisition:

VMware acquired four companies during 2007 for aggie cash consideration of $82.5 million, netashcacquired and including
transaction costs. None of the acquisitions wedévidually material. Acquired intangibles totaleti4$3 million and have estimated useful lives
of between five and seven years. The excess gfulehase price over the fair value of the net assequired was $75.8 million and is
classified as “Goodwill” on the consolidated balarsbeets.

The purchase price for the companies acquired @7 2@s been allocated to the assets acquired aridlitiiities assumed based on
estimated fair values as of the respective acduisitates. The purchase price allocations arerpirdiry and a final determination of required
purchase accounting adjustments will be made uipatiZation of integration activities. The resuitsoperations of the acquired companies
have been included in the Company’s consolidatedltefrom the closing date forward.

VMware acquired Akimbi Systems, Inc. (“Akimbi”) dag 2006 for an aggregate purchase price, netsif aaquired, of $47.3 million,
which consisted of $46.6 million of cash and tratisa costs and $0.7 million in fair value of EMG®ck options. Acquired intangibles
totaled $9.3 million and have an estimated uséfildf five years. As of December 31, 2007, theesscof the purchase price over the fair v
of the net assets acquired was $39.8 million amtbssified as “Goodwill” on the consolidated baarsheets, which reflects an adjustment in
2007 to finalize the purchase price allocation. Témults of operations of the acquired company heeen included in the Company’s
consolidated results from the closing date forward.

Pro forma results of operations have not been pteddor the aforementioned acquisitions as theltesf the acquired companies, eit
individually or in the aggregate, were not matetdathe Company’s consolidated results of operatiarthe years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005.

Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended Decemb@&t, 2007 and 2006 consist of the following (tabl¢hiousands

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006
Balance, beginning of the ye $560,48: $526,25.
Goodwill acquirec 75,84 34,25¢
Finalization of purchase price allocations and o 3,041 (28)
Balance, end of the ye $639,36¢ $560,48.
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Intangible Asset:
Intangible assets, excluding goodwill as of Decen@de 2007 and 2006, consist of the following (ésbih thousands):

Useful Lives Gross Carrying Accumulated
Net Book
2007 (in years) Amount Amortization Value
Purchased technolog 5-7 $ 115,21( $ (91,859 $23,35!
Trademarks and tradenarr 5 7,58( (5,14¢) 2,434
Customer relationships and customer | 5-9 7,29( (2,886 4,40
Other 3-5 5,66( (3,77§) 1,882
Total intangible assets, excluding good\ $ 135,74 $ (103,66 $32,07:
Useful Lives Gross Carrying Accumulated
Net Book
200€ (in years) Amount Amortization Value
Purchased technolog 5 $ 102,91 $ (70,689 $32,22¢
Trademarks and tradenarr 5 7,58( (3,200 4,38(
Customer relationships and customer | 5-9 5,29( 1,779 3,51¢
Other 3-5 5,66( (2,267) 3,39:
Total intangible assets, excluding good\ $ 121,44 $ (77,92 $43,51¢

Amortization expense on intangibles was $25.7 anilli$25.5 million and $26.1 million in 2007, 200&da2005, respectively. Based on
intangible assets recorded as of December 31, 200 Assuming no subsequent additions or impairofeht underlying assets, the remaining
estimated annual amortization expense is expeotbd ts follows (table in thousands):

2008 $14,06¢
2009 5,78¢
2010 4,587
2011 3,59¢
2012 2,87¢
Thereaftel 1,157

Total $32,07:

D. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net, for the years endestmber 31, 2007 and 2006 consists of the followialgle in thousands):

For the Year Ended

December 31,
2007 2006

Furniture and fixture $ 30,67¢ $ 1,33¢
Equipment 156,64 57,321
Buildings and improvemen 129,75: 11,45¢
Construction in progres 32,09 9,94:
349,16¢ 80,057

Accumulated depreciatic (72,189 (31,389
$276,98! $ 48,67¢
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Depreciation expense was $41.9 million, $18.7 olland $7.2 million for the years ended DecembefB@7, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

In August 2007, VMware used a portion of the né |froceeds to purchase its new headquarters iegifiom EMC for $132.6 million.
Construction in progress is primarily related tadings that remain under development at the neadhearters.

E. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006

Salaries, commissions, and bene $ 93,67¢ $ 45,57¢
Accrued partner rebat 42,85 28,65¢
Other 37,08( 29,09(
$173,61( $103,32:

F. Note Payable to EMC

In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC paid in the form of a note payableisTdividend has been given
retroactive effect as of December 31, 2006 in tteompanying December 31, 2006 consolidated balsimeet. The dividend was first applied
against retained earnings until that was reduceeto, then applied against additional paid-in-zdpintil that was reduced to zero, with the
remainder then allocated as a further reductiaetafined earnings. The note matures in April 20i@ lzears an interest rate of the 90-day
LIBOR plus 55 basis points, with interest payahlarterly in arrears commencing June 30, 2007. A3exfember 31, 2007, the interest rate
was 5.78%. In 2007, $26.6 million of interest exgewas recorded related to the note payable. Tteernay be repaid, without penalty, at any
time commencing July 2007. Subsequent to receithiagproceeds from the IPO in August 2007, VMwapar@ $350.0 million of principal on
the note.

G. Income Taxes
The domestic and foreign components of income lkgoovisions for income taxes were as follows @ablthousands):

For the Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Domestic $ 42,871 $ 40,56¢ $46,84¢
International 197,60: 81,97¢ 48,49¢

$240,47¢ $122,54 $95,34(
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VMware’s provision for income taxes consists ob{&in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Federal:
Current $ 86,27¢ $ 53,10 $ 47,08¢
Deferred (74,64() (20,087) (20,84()
11,63¢ 33,01¢ 26,24¢
State:
Current 5,41¢ 3,09¢ 2,94z
Deferred (3,84¢) (2,189 (1,65%)
1,567 91z 1,28¢
Foreign:
Current 9,13¢ 2,90z 1,02¢
Deferred — — —
9,13¢ 2,90z 1,02¢
Total provision for income taxce $22,34. $36,83. $28,56¢

A reconciliation of VMware’s income tax rate to thtutory federal tax rate is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Statutory federal tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State taxes, net of federal ben 0.7% 0.7% 1.4%
Tax rate differential for international jurisdictie (25.C%) (21.C%) (16.7%)
U.S. tax credit: (4.5%) (4.€%) (3.€%)
Permanent items and ott 3.1% 20.5% 14.2%
Effective tax rate 9.2% 30.1% 30.(%

The components of the current and non-current ceffedax assets and liabilities are as follows @ablthousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Deferred Tax Deferred Tax Deferred Tax Deferred Tax
Asset Liability Asset Liability
Current:
Accruals and allowance $ 8,83¢ $ — $ 10,03: $ —
Deferred revenu 44,68: — 16,77¢ —
Net operating loss carryforwar 864 — 84¢€ —
Total current 54,38t — 27,65¢ —
Non-current:
Property and equipment, r — (577) 2,74¢ —
Intangible and other assets, — (26,75€) — (30,579
Equity 23,43¢ — — —
Deferred revenu 44,06¢ — 15,69¢ —
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 4,743 — 2,48¢ —
Total nor-current 72,24¢ (27,327 20,93t (30,579
Total deferred tax assets and liabilit $ 126,63! $ (27,32) $ 48,59 $ (30,579
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VMware has federal net operating loss carryforwaiddl4.5 million from acquisitions in 2007, 2006d52005. These carryforwards
expire at different periods through 2026. Portiohthese carryforwards are subject to annual litiites, including Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)) f8r tax purposes. VMware expects to be able tp fide these net operating losses
against future income. Also resulting from 2007 2086 acquisitions, the Company has federal R&Mit@rryforwards of $0.4 million
expiring at different periods through 2026, andesteet operating loss carryforwards of $1.1 millexpiring at different periods through 2015.

Deferred income taxes have not been recorded as thifferences related to investments in foreigbsstiaries. These basis differences
were approximately $181.9 million and $12.9 milli@nDecember 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, andisted of undistributed earnings
permanently invested in these entities. Deterrmomatif the amount of unrecognized deferred incomdiaility related to these earnings is not
practicable. Income before income taxes from far@igerations for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $197.6omil$82.0 million and $48.5 million,
respectively.

The difference between the income taxes payabtdgitalculated on a separate return basis andrtfwaint actually paid to EMC
pursuant to VMware's tax sharing agreement is piteskas a component of additional paid-in capitakse differences resulted in a decrease
in additional paid-in capital of $2.5 million an823 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

VMware adopted FASB Interpretation 48, “Accountfiog Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN No. 48"), tite beginning of fiscal year
2007. VMware had no changes to the amount of incax@ayable as a result of implementing FIN Na.Ror to the adoption of FIN
No. 48, VMwar's policy was to classify accruals for uncertairsitions as a current liability unless it was highhlpbable that there would not
be a payment or settlement for such identifiedsriek a period of at least a year. On January @7 20Mware reclassified $4.5 million of
income tax liabilities, inclusive of $4.4 million uncertain tax benefits and $0.1 million of accdrirgerest, from current to non-current
liabilities because a cash settlement of thesditiab was not anticipated within one year of thedance sheet date.

As of January 1, 2007, VMware had $4.4 million efaining net unrecognized tax benefits, whiched@ognized, would be a reductior
income tax expense impacting the effective incosxerate. As of December 31, 2007, VMware had $&@lfBon of net unrecognized tax
benefits, of which, if recognized, $12.3 million wd be a reduction to income tax expense impadtingeffective income tax rate and $6
million would be a reduction to goodwill. The $18llion of net unrecognized tax benefits are nqiected to be paid within the next twelve
months and were classified as a non-current ligihin the consolidated balance sheet.

VMware recognizes interest expense and penaltiaterkto income tax matters in the income tax miovi. In addition to the
unrecognized tax benefits noted above, VMware ltaduad $0.1 million of interest as of January 02@nd $0.3 million of interest as of
December 31, 2007. Income tax expense for thegreded December 31, 2007 included interest of $@lBmassociated with uncertain tax
positions.

A reconciliation of total gross unrecognized taxé#is for the year ended December 31, 2007 isl&safs (table in thousands):

For the Year Endec

December 31, 200

Balance as of January 1, 2C $ 5,16(
Tax positions related to current ye

Additions 14,03¢
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 19,19¢
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There were no settlements during 2007. VMware dotseasonably expect any significant changesdegtimated amount of liability
associated with the Company’s uncertain tax passtiwhich existed as of December 31, 2007.

VMware is subject to U.S. federal income tax andotes state, local and international income taresumerous jurisdictions. VMware’s
domestic and international tax liabilities are sabjto the allocation of revenues and expense#fareht jurisdictions and the timing of
recognizing revenues and expenses. Additionall/athount of income taxes paid is subject to the fizmy's interpretation of applicable tax
laws in the jurisdictions in which it files.

VMware has substantially concluded all U.S. federebme tax matters for years through 2004. The fé@eral income tax audit for
2005 and 2006 commenced in the fourth quarter 8728nd VMware has income tax audits in progresaimerous state, local and
international jurisdictions in which it operates.the Company’s international jurisdictions thatngrise a significant portion of its operations,
the years that may be examined vary, with theesiniear being 2003. Based on the outcome of exaioits of VMware, the result of the
expiration of statutes of limitations for specijizisdictions or the result of ruling requests frtaming authorities, it is reasonably possible that
the related unrecognized tax benefits could chémge those recorded in the statement of finanaisiton. It is possible that one or more of
these audits may be finalized within the next twatvonths. However, based on the status of examirgtand the protocol of finalizing audits,
it is not possible to estimate the impact of sutanges, if any, to the previously recorded uncerttt positions.

H. 401(k) Plan

VMware employees participate in EMC’s 401(k) plgiMware matches pre-tax employee contributions u@oof eligible
compensation during each pay period (subject t&# maximum match each quarter). Matching coutiidns are immediately 100% vested.
VMware contributions for employees were $5.8 millio 2007, $3.1 million in 2006 and $2.0 million2005.

Employees may elect to invest their contributiona variety of funds and the matching contributioinrors the investment allocation of
the employee’s contribution.

I. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation
VMware is named from time to time as a party todaits in the normal course of its business. In suades it is the Company’s policy to
defend against such claims, or if considered apjatep negotiate a settlement on commercially nealle terms. However, no assurance ct
given that the Company will be able to negotiatdesments on commercially reasonable terms, ol abrathat any litigation resulting from

such claims would not have a material adverse effiethe Company’s consolidated financial positiaquidity, operating results, or
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.
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Operating Lease Commitments

VMware leases office facilities and equipment unggious operating leases. Facility leases geneiratlude renewal options. Rent
expense for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $20.2 mil§ad,0 million and $5.8 million, respectively. VMveas future lease commitments at
December 31, 2007 are as follows (table in thousand

2008 $ 26,52t
2009 27,40¢
2010 25,16°
2011 23,28
2012 12,29:
Thereaftel 280,09¢
Total minimum lease paymer $394,77(

The amount of the future lease commitments afté228 primarily for the ground lease on the Compsualo Alto headquarters
facilities, which expires in 2057.

Outstanding Obligations

At December 31, 2007, VMware had outstanding pwsetaders aggregating $110.2 million. While thechase orders are generally
cancelable without penalty, certain vendor agreesgrovide for percentage-based cancellation feesimimum restocking charges based on
the nature of the product or service.

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

VMware enters into agreements in the ordinary a@ofdusiness with, among others, customers, bligtis, resellers, x86 system
vendors and systems integrators. Most of theseeagets require VMware to indemnify the other padginst third-party claims alleging that
a VMware product infringes or misappropriates @patcopyright, trademark, trade secret and/orrdtitellectual property right. Certain of
these agreements require VMware to indemnify thergparty against certain claims relating to progpdamage, personal injury or the acts or
omissions of VMware, its employees, agents or ispriatives.

VMware has agreements with certain vendors, fireniostitutions, lessors and service providers ams to which VMware has agreec
indemnify the other party for specified mattersstsas acts and omissions of VMware, its employagsnts or representatives.

VMware has procurement or license agreements wghect to technology that is used in VMware’s potsland agreements in which
VMware obtains rights to a product from an x86 sgswvendor. Under some of these agreements, VMvagadreed to indemnify the supplier
for certain claims that may be brought against suarty with respect to VMware’s acts or omissiogiaiting to the supplied products or
technologies.

VMware has agreed to indemnify the directors arfid@fs of VMware and VMware’s subsidiaries, to théent legally permissible,
against all liabilities reasonably incurred in cention with any action in which such individual mag involved by reason of such individual
being or having been a director or officer.

In connection with certain acquisitions, VMware lagseed to indemnify the current and former dinesgtofficers and employees of the
acquired company in accordance with the acquiredpamy’s bylaws and charter in effect immediately prior to #uguisition or in accordan
with indemnification or similar agreements enteirgd by the acquired company and such persons. \Wellwas maintained the acquired
company'’s directors’ and officers’ insurance, whittould enable VMware to recover a portion of antyife amounts paid.
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Based upon VMware’s historical experience and mfmiion known as of December 31, 2007, VMware bekabhe liability on the above
guarantees and indemnities at December 31, 20@3ignificant.

J. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Initial Public Offering

In August 2007, VMware completed its IPO in whibtle tCompany sold 37,950,000 shares (including 408®0shares pursuant to the
underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotmeayition) of its Class A common stock at a pricé® public of $29.00 per share. The net
proceeds of the IPO to the Company were $1,035IBmafter deducting the offering expenses andemniters’ discounts. In August 2007,
VMware used a portion of the proceeds to repay $B6fllion of principal on the intercompany noteypale owed to EMC; VMware also
purchased its new headquarters facilities from BEWIC132.6 million which is equal to the cost exged by EMC in the construction of those
facilities.

Intel Agreement

In July 2007, VMware entered into a stock purchegeement with Intel Corporation (“Intel”), purstidgo which Intel, through its
affiliate, Intel Capital Corporation (“Intel Capity agreed to purchase 9.5 million shares of VM&/aiClass A common stock at $23.00 per
share for an aggregate offering price of $218.%ionil VMware has also entered into an investortdgigreement with Intel pursuant to which
Intel will have certain registration and other tiglas a holder of VMware Class A common stock.| l@agpital’s purchase of the 9.5 million
shares of Class A common stock closed in Augus? 200

Cisco Agreement

In July 2007, VMware was a party to a stock pureregreement with Cisco Systems, Inc. (“Cisco”) BMIC, pursuant to which Cisco
agreed to purchase 6.0 million shares of VMwares€fa common stock from EMC at $25.00 per sharafoaggregate offering price of
$150.0 million. VMware received no proceeds froms thansaction. VMware has also entered into arstor rights agreement with Cisco
pursuant to which Cisco will have certain registnatrights as a holder of VMware Class A commortkt&isco’s purchase of the 6.0 million
shares of Class A common stock closed in Augus? 200

Class B Common Stock Conversion Rights

Each share of Class B common stock is convertilbigeviheld by EMC or its successor-in-interest &t diption of EMC or its successor-
in-interest into one share of Class A common sttfckMware’s Class B common stock is distributedsgcurity holders of EMC in a
transaction (including any distribution in excharigeshares of EMC's or its successor-in-interestisymon stock or other securities) intended
to qualify as a distribution under Section 355h& Code, or any corresponding provision of any esmar statute, shares of VMware’s Class B
common stock will no longer be convertible intorgsaof Class A common stock. Prior to any suclribigtion, all shares of Class B common
stock will automatically be converted into sharé€lass A common stock upon the transfer of suareshof Class B common stock by EMC
other than to any of EMG’successors or any of its subsidiaries (excludixigvare). If such a distribution has not occurreacte share of Clas
B common stock will also automatically convert atls time as the number of shares of common stoecledvby EMC or its successor-in-
interest falls below 20% of the outstanding shafééMware’s common stock. Following any such distiion, VMware may submit to its
stockholders a proposal to convert all outstangimgres of Class B common stock into shares of @Glassnmon stock, provided that VMware
has received a favorable private letter ruling fitha Internal Revenue Service satisfactory to Ell@e effect that
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the conversion will not affect the intended tavatreent of the distribution. In a meeting of VMwateckholders called for this purpose, the
holders of VMware Class A common stock and VMwalas€ B common stock will be entitled to one vote gi&are and, subject to applicable
law, will vote together as a single class and meittlass of common stock will be entitled to a safgaclass vote. All conversions will be
effected on a share-for-share basis.

VMware Equity Plans

In June 2007, VMware adopted its 2007 Equity amitive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). Awards under th@2@lan may be in the form of
stock options or other stock-based awards, inctudimards of restricted stock. The maximum numbeshafes of the VMware Class A
common stock reserved for the grant or settlemeatvards under the 2007 Plan is 80.0 million. Tkereise price for a stock option awarded
under the 2007 Plan shall not be less than 1008tedfair market value of VMware Class A common kton the date of grant. Most options
granted under the 2007 Plan vest 25% after thieyi@ar and then monthly thereafter over the follggvihree years. All options granted in 2007
pursuant to the 2007 Equity and Incentive Planrexgix years from the date of grant. VMware utdibmth authorized and unissued shares to
satisfy all shares issued under the 2007 Equitylacehtive Plan.

Exchange offer

In connection with the IPO, VMware and EMC conddca®m exchange offer (the “Exchange Offatabling eligible VMware employe
to exchange their options to acquire EMC commoanksfor options to acquire VMware Class A commorcktand to exchange restricted st
awards of EMC’s common stock for restricted stoslaals of VMware's Class A common stock based aoriafilaic exchange ratio which
was determined by dividing the two-day volume wégghaverage price of EMC’s common stock for théthas full days of the Exchange
Offer by the IPO price of VMware Class A commoncétoThe Exchange Offer expired on August 13, 200& date of the pricing of the IPO.
The Exchange Offer was structured to generallyingtee intrinsic value of the tendered EMC secesitiThe number of VMware options
received in exchange for EMC options was determimerthultiplying the number of tendered EMC optidaysthe exchange ratio. The exercise
price of the VMware options received in exchangs the exercise price of the tendered EMC optionsled by the exchange ratio. The
VMware options received in the exchange retained triginal term of ten years from the date ofrgra&he number of shares of VMware
restricted stock received in exchange for EMC retstll stock was determined by multiplying the numdfedendered EMC restricted shares by
the exchange ratio. The Exchange Offer will resuli reduction in diluted earnings per share dudeduture inclusion of the VMware Clas:
common shares stock issued in the exchange. VMeramoyees that did not elect to exchange their Etibns and EMC restricted stock
options to purchase VMware Class A common stockraatticted stock awards of VMware Class A comntogls respectively, will continue
to have their existing grants governed under EMSTgk plans.

Approximately 11.0 million EMC stock options (apgimately 89% of the eligible awards) and approxiehatl.7 million EMC restricted
stock awards (approximately 81% of the eligible mlsawere tendered for exchange in August 200ThdAinitial public offering price of
$29.00 per share and EMC's two-day volume-weiglategtage trading price prior to the consummatiothefinitial public offering of Class A
common stock for the two days ended August 10, 20@17.74 per share, the exchange ratio was 0.6l e were approximately
6.7 million options to purchase VMware Class A coomstock issued in the exchange with a weightedaayeeexercise price of $19.94 and
approximately 2.9 million shares of VMware resgitistock issued in the exchange. The total incréahstock-based compensation expense
resulting from the exchange of equity instrumenas wot material.
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VMware Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2007, VMware adopted its 2007 EmployeelSRagchase Plan that is intended to be qualifietbusection 423 of the Code. A
total of 6.4 million shares of VMware Class A cormrgiock were reserved for issuance under the plader the plan, eligible VMware
employees will be granted options to purchase shatréthe lower of 85% of the fair market valueha stock at the time of grant or 85% of the
fair market value at the time of exercise. Optitmpurchase shares were first granted under thé B@tployee Stock Purchase Plan on
August 13, 2007, the date on which VMware’s Forrh Begistration Statement was declared effectivéhbySecurities and Exchange
Commission, and became exercisable on Decemb@08¥, Thereafter, options to purchase shares wigranted twice yearly, on or about
January 1 and July 1, and will be exercisable ocabaut the succeeding June 30 or December 31. Beaémber 31, 2007, VMware had
accrued payroll withholdings of $17.4 million fdret December 31, 2007 purchase. The December 31,[206hase was completed in January
2008.

EMC Stock Purchase Plan

Under EMC’s 1989 Employee Stock Purchase Plan“{th89 Plan”), eligible VMware employees may purahabares of EMC’s
common stock through payroll deductions at the loeie35% of the fair market value of the stockted time of grant or 85% of the fair market
value at the time of exercise. Options to purclssges are granted twice yearly, on January 1 @gdl,Jand are exercisable on the succeeding
June 30 or December 31. In 2007, 2006 and 2005n0li6n shares, 1.0 million shares and 0.5 millgrares, respectively, were purchased
under the 1989 Plan by VMware employees at a weiNerage purchase price per share of $11.36, $a@83$H1.61, respectively. Total ce
proceeds to EMC from the purchase of shares uhdet389 Plan by VMware employees in 2007, 2006280% were $7.2 million, $9.0
million and $5.3 million, respectively. As a resaftthe completion of the IPO in August 2007, enygles eligible for the VMware 2007
Employee Stock Purchase Plan were no longer algart@ipate in the EMC 1989 Employee Stock Puretaan after the June 30, 2007
purchase.

VMware Stock Options
The following table summarizes option activity sntanuary 1, 2007 for VMware stock options (sharglsousands):

Number

Weighted

of Average
Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding, January 1, 20 — $ —
Granted 39,27 27.8¢
Exchanged from EMC stock optio 6,732 19.9¢
Forfeited (539) 24.5(
Expired 5) 24.6¢
Exercisec (120 23.0C
Outstanding, December 31, 20 45,33¢ 26.7¢

In June 2007, options were granted to non-emplayreetors to purchase 120,000 shares of Class Arammstock with an exercise price
of $23.00. The options were exercisable immediatalpjected to termination if not exercised withire year from the date of grants, and vest
one-third on each of the first three anniversaofethe grant. In July 2007, the 120,000 optionpucchase shares of Class A common stock
were exercised prior to vesting, resulting in tistanding shares being subject to repurchase emtktrestricted until such time as the
underlying options vest. As of December 31, 200&,82.8 million in proceeds from the
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exercise of the options are classified as a lighdlh the consolidated balance sheet. The proagiidse reclassified to equity as vesting occurs
and the shares are no longer subject to repurchase.

Total cash proceeds from the exercise of stoclonptfor the year ended December 31, 2007 wererfiliBn. There was no pre-tax
intrinsic value to the options exercised.

Summarized information about VMware stock optionsstanding that are expected to vest and stockmpexercisable at December 31,
2007 is as follows (shares and intrinsic valuethousands):

Options Outstanding and Expected to Ves Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Number  Remaining Number  Remaining Aggregate
Contractual Average Aggregate Contractual Average
Range of of Exercise Intrinsic of Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise Price Options Life Price Value Options Life Price Value
$0.01- $20.00 2,44¢ 6.2€ $ 12.8C $ 176,55¢ 544 5.6¢ $ 10.3¢ $40,59¢
$20.01- $40.00 36,61¢ 5.3C 23.0¢  2,266,75: 60€ 7.4¢ 22.17  38,04¢
$40.01- $60.00 82 2.44 55.87 2,401 27 2.44 55.8i 80C
$60.01- $90.00 99 5.2¢ 83.8¢ 11F — — — —
$90.01- $147.16 1,91¢ 5.3z 109.5( — 20 24z 111.8( —
41,15¢ 5.3t 26.71 $2,445,82¢ 1,197 6.47 19.1C $79,44.
Expected forfeiture 4,181
Total options outstandir 45,33¢

The aggregate intrinsic values in the precedintetedpresent the total pre-tax intrinsic valueseldasn VMware’s closing stock price of
$84.99 as of December 31, 2007 which would have beeeived by the option holders had all in-the-eoaptions been exercised as of that
date.

VMware Restricted Stock

VMware restricted stock includes restricted stoslarls, restricted stock units, and other restristedk. Other restricted stock includes
options exercised by non-employee directors thaewequired to be exercised within one year of gitaut are subject to a three-year vesting
provision. The exercise of those options priorégting results in the outstanding shares beingestitj repurchase and hence restricted until
such time as the respective options vest.

The following table summarizes restricted stockvagtsince January 1, 2007 for VMware restrictéolck (shares in thousands):

Number Av\é\rlzlggehga?am
of Date Fair

Shares Value
Restricted stock at January 1, 2( — $ —
Granted 59¢ 39.9¢
Exchanged from EMC restricted stc 2,87z 21.4¢
Exercised stock options, subject to repurct 12C 23.0C
Vested 5) 20.2¢
Forfeited (18 20.1¢
Restricted stock at December 31, 2! 3,56¢ 24.6¢
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In July 2007, a grant of 85,000 restricted stocitswwas made to an executive officer. These restiistock units vest in 2009 only if
goals established by the Compensation and CorpGaternance Committee are met. As these goals didoeen established as of
December 31, 2007, these restricted stock unite wet considered granted as of December 31, 200ctmunting purposes. Therefore, they
are not included as grants in the table shown above

The total fair value of restricted stock that vesite 2007 was $0.6 million. As of December 31, 2088 million shares of VMware
restricted stock were outstanding and unvested avithggregate intrinsic value of $300.1 millione$a shares are scheduled to vest through
2011.

The restricted stock awards are valued based oviNheare stock price on the award date. The regtictock have various vesting
terms, including pro rata vesting over three or fgears, and cliff vesting at the end of threeiee ffears from the date of grant with
acceleration for achieving specified performandéea. For awards with performance conditions, agement evaluates the criteria in each
grant to determine the probability that the perfante condition will be achieved.

EMC Stock Options

The following table summarizes option activity dware employees in EMC stock options in 2007, 260&l 2005 (shares in
thousands):

Number Weighted
of Average

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding, January 1, 20 9,37t $ 6.9t
Options relating to employees transferred from E 12¢ 22.04
Granted 3,44z 13.8¢
Forfeited (1,02 9.2¢
Expired (12) 9.4z
Exercisec (1,329) 3.41
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 10,58¢ 9.5¢
Options relating to employees transferred from E 293 23.5¢
Options exchanged in a business acquis 26E 0.4C
Granted 4,941 12.5]
Forfeited (847) 12.2%
Expired (114) 14.8(
Exercisec (1,299) 2.3t
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 13,82t 11.2¢
Options relating to employees transferred from E 67¢ 21.21
Granted 87¢ 13.97
Exchanged to VMware stock optio (12,009 12.1¢
Forfeited (410 12.6¢
Expired (24) 12.6¢
Exercisec (1,189 7.1¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 2,75k 12.2:2

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of EMC optionddhby VMware employees that were exercised durirggytears ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 were $12.3 million, $13.2 orilland $13.6 million,
respectively. Cash proceeds from the exerciseesfetlstock options paid to EMC were $8.5 million0%8illion and $4.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Summarized information about EMC stock options taunding that continue to be held by VMware emplayaed that are expected to
vest and stock options exercisable at Decembe2®17 is as follows (shares and intrinsic valuethousands):

Options Outstanding and Expected to Ves Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Number  Remaining Aggregate Number  Remaining
Contractual Contractual Aggregate
Average Average
of Exercise Intrinsic of Exercise Intrinsic
Range of Exercise Price Options Life Price Value Options Life Price Value
$0.01- $5.00 40¢& 517 $ 15C $ 6,89¢ 391 5.12 $ 1.4¢ $ 6,66
$5.01- $10.00 24C 7.5€ 8.9¢ 2,29( 89 5.8: 7.7C 96¢
$10.01- $15.00 1,62¢ 7.6t 13.0% 8,87: 514 6.6¢ 12.7¢ 2,97(
$15.01- $20.00 20 5.1¢ 16.7¢ 39 15 3.61 15.9¢ 39
$20.01- $30.00 20 1.71 28.17 — 20 1.71 28.17 —
$30.01- $50.00 44 2.4z 35.57 — 44 2.4z 35.57 —
$50.01- $70.00 6 2.2¢ 60.81 — 6 2.2¢ 60.81 —
$70.01- $90.00 25 2.74 83.9¢ — 25 2.74 83.9¢ —
2,38t 6.9¢ 12.1: $18,09° 1,10/ 5.6t 11.45 $10,63¢
Expected forfeiture 37C
Total options outstandin 2,75k

The aggregate intrinsic values in the precedintetedpresent the total pre-tax intrinsic valueslasn EMC's closing stock price of
$18.53 as of December 31, 2007 which would have beeeived by the option holders had all in-the-eyoaptions been exercised as of that
date.

EMC Restricted Stock

EMC restricted stock includes restricted stock alamd restricted stock units. The following tablenmarizes restricted stock for grants
to VMware employees of EMC restricted stock in 208006 and 2005 (shares in thousands):

Weighted
Number Average Grani

of Date Fair

Shares Value

Restricted stock at January 1, 2( 97¢€ $ 12.3:
Granted 7,71¢ 14.0¢
Vested (622) 12.7¢
Forfeited (172 13.4(
Outstanding, December 31, 20 7,90 13.9¢
Granted 3,30: 12.1¢
Vested (1,967) 13.7(
Forfeited (425 13.9¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 8,81: 13.3¢
Granted 48 13.9:¢
Exchanged to VMware restricted stc (4,697) 13.1¢
Vested (2,667) 13.43
Forfeited (227) 13.7:
Restricted stock at December 31, 2! 1,28: 13.7:2
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The total fair value of EMC restricted stock grahte VMware employees that vested in the yearséibieember 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005 were $39.6 million, $26.9 million and $7.9lioih.

As of December 31, 2007, 1.3 million shares of EM€lricted stock granted to VMware employees wetstanding and unvested, with
an aggregate intrinsic value of $23.8 million. Ténehares are scheduled to vest through 2011.

The EMC restricted stock awards have various vgdeémms, including pro rata vesting over three yeand cliff vesting at the end of five
years from the date of grant with accelerationaaheof the first three or four years for achievapgcified performance criteri

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes the components @&l tstock-based compensation expense included iwafd's consolidated income
statement for the years ended December 31, 2002G08l(table in thousands):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006
Cost of license revenu $ b55¢ $ 99
Cost of services revenu 6,07( 2,38¢
Research and developmt 42,93¢ 26,34:
Sales and marketir 26,28¢ 12,02(
General and administrati\ 16,55¢ 10,38:
Stoclk-based compensation expense before income 92,40¢ 51,22¢
Income tax benefi 21,22; 12,22¢
Total stocl-based compensation expense, net o $71,17¢ $38,991

In connection with the adoption of FAS No. 123RJamuary 1, 2006, VMware recorded to its incomeestant, a cumulative effect
adjustment, net of taxes, of $0.2 million to recardamount for the reversal of the previously reéoed compensation expense related to
outstanding restricted stock awards that are npeebed to vest, based on an estimate of forfeitased the date of adoption of FAS No. 123R.
Additionally, VMware recorded to stockholders’ efyyia cumulative effect adjustment, net of taxéss1o1 million to capitalize amounts
associated with software development costs that wezviously capitalized in VMwargpro forma compensation disclosures prior to ddog.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 arg] 200wvare capitalized $9.1 million, $8.8 million @$3.5 million, respectively, of
stock-based compensation expense associated witialzzed software development. For the year eridecember 31, 2007, VMware
capitalized an additional $0.8 million of stock-bdsompensation expense associated with softwaedagesd for internal use. The amount of
stock-based compensation expense capitalized fovese developed for internal use was not matémigkior periods.

As of December 31, 2007, the total unrecognizedpmation cost for both VMware stock options arstrigted stock and EMC stock
options and restricted stock was $388.5 millionisTon-cash expense will be recognized through 2@fl?a weighted average remaining
period of 1.6 years.

For the periods prior to 2006, VMware elected tplg@\PB No. 25 and related interpretations in actmg for VMware’s stock-based
compensation plans. For the acquisition of VMwardeEMC, VMware exchanged the options held by VMwaneployees for EMC options as
of the acquisition date. In accordance
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with APB No. 25, VMware recognized the fair valuelte exchanged options as part of the purchase pviMware also recorded the intrinsic
value of the unvested options as compensation egpaver the remaining service period subsequehttacquisition.

For purposes of determining the pro forma impadiA$ No. 123 for 2005 as it relates to acquired pames’ stock awards, the
Company'’s policy was to record the amount by whiehfair value of the vested and unvested EMC staeirds exceeded the value of the
acquirees’ options that were being exchanged. Tferehce in the fair value of the EMC options eangjed as compared to the fair value of
the options held by VMware’s employees was insigaitt.

The following is a reconciliation of net income pegighted average share had VMware adopted thedhie recognition provisions of
FAS No. 123 in 2005 (table in thousands, excepshare amounts):

For the

Year Ended
December 31
2005

Net income $ 66,77¢
Add back: Stock compensation costs, net of taystoal-based award 21,42
Less: Stock compensation costs, net of taxes, toal sompensation expense been measured at fai (15,139
Adjusted stock compensation expense per FAS Nqg.HA&3f taxe: 6,29(
Adjusted net incom $ 73,06¢
Net income per weighted average share, basic dmgc—as reportet $ 0.2C
Adjusted net income per weighted average sharé; bad dilutec $ 0.22

Fair Value of VMware Options

The fair value of each option to acquire VMwaresSl& common stock granted during the year ende@mber 31, 2007 is estimated
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes optiaokmy model with the following weighted averagewasagtions:

For the Year Endec

VMware Stock Options December 31, 200
Dividend yield None
Expected volatility 39.2%
Risk-free interest rat 4.5%
Expected life (in years 3.4
Weightec-average fair value at grant di $ 27.8¢

For the Year Endec

VMware Employee Stock Purchase Plan December 31, 200
Dividend yield None
Expected volatility 34.8%
Risk-free interest rat 4.8%
Expected life (in years 04
Weightec-average fair value at grant di $ 6.9¢
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For the equity awards granted prior to the CompafjO, VMware performed a contemporaneous valuatighe Company’s Class A
common stock each time an equity grant of commocksivas made. In determining the fair value ofdéhjaity, VMware analyzed general
market data, including economic, governmental andrenmental factors; considered its historic, eatrand future state of its operations;
analyzed its operating and financial results; aredyits forecasts; gathered and analyzed avaifatalacial data for publicly traded companies
engaged in the same or similar lines of busineslew®lop appropriate valuation multiples and opegatomparisons, and analyzed other facts
and data considered pertinent to the valuatiomrteeaat an estimated fair value.

VMware utilized both the income approach and theketzapproach in estimating the value of the eqUite market approach estimates
the fair value of a company by applying to the camys historical and/or projected financial metncarket multiples of the corresponding
financial metrics of publicly traded firms in siraillines of business. The use of the market approeguires judgments regarding the
comparability of companies that are similar to VMedf different comparable companies had been,usedmarket multiples and resulting
estimates of the fair value of the Company’s stalslo would have been different. The income appriaatives applying appropriate risk-
adjusted discount rates to estimated debt-free ftask, based on forecasted revenue and costspiijections used in connection with this
valuation were based on the Company’s expectechtipgmerformance over the forecast period. Thereherent uncertainty in these
estimates. If different discount rates or otheuagstions had been used, the resulting estimattedhir value of the Company’s stock would
have been different. Due to the prospect of an memt public offering, VMware did not apply a maweility discount in carrying out either
approach. Further, VMware did not apply a minonitgrest discount in concluding on fair value.

In reaching its estimated valuation range, VMwarasidered the indicated values derived from eatlatian approach in relation to the
relative merits of each approach, the suitabilitthe information used, and the uncertainties imgdl The results of the approaches overlay
with the income approach results falling withinaanower range, which VMware ultimately relied onitsconcluding estimate of value.

In addition to the aforementioned analysis, withpeect to grants of options to purchase Class A comstock with a per share exercise
price of $23.00, the Company believes that thevalue of its equity at that time was further sabgiated by the arm’s-length transaction with
Intel Capital, whereby Intel agreed to purchasemdilBon shares of VMwares Class A common stock at $23.00 per share, sutgjectjustmer
if the price in the offering is below $23.00 peash VMware believes that the fair value of itsiggat the time of the grant of options at
$25.00 per share was substantiated by the contem@ous arm’s-length transaction whereby Cisco dgieepurchase 6.0 million shares of
VMware’s Class A common stock from EMC at $25.00 gleare. The Company believes that the fair vafoé\bware’s equity at the time of
the grant of options at $29.00 per share was suofistad by the proximity to the IPO.

The fair value of each VMware option granted at.8Q3vas estimated on the date of grant using thekBEcholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Dividend yield None
Expected volatility 39.2%
Risk-free interest rat 5.C%
Expected life (in years 34
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The fair value of each VMware option granted at.8@5vas estimated on the date of grant using thekB6choles option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Dividend yield None
Expected volatility 38.2%
Risk-free interest rat 4.8%
Expected life (in years 34

The fair value of each VMware option granted at.8Q9vas estimated on the date of grant using thekBEcholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Dividend yield None
Expected volatility 39.6%
Risk-free interest rat 4.5%
Expected life (in years 34

For all equity awards granted in 2007, volatilitpswbased on an analysis of historical and impladtility of publicly-traded companies
with similar characteristics, including industryage of life cycle, size and financial leveragee Bixpected term was calculated based on the
historical experience that VMware employees hawkewith EMC stock options grants as well as the etgubterm of similar grants of
comparable companies. The rifske interest rate was based on a treasury instruwigose term is consistent with the expectedolfthe stock
options.

Fair Value of EMC Options

There were no EMC stock option grants to VMware leyges subsequent to the first quarter of 2007. \ékénemployees eligible to
participate in the VMware Employee Stock Purchdse Rere able to participate in the EMC employeelspurchase plan up through the ¢
of the IPO, at which time they were withdrawn frétme plan. The fair value of each EMC option grardadng the years ending December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 is estimated on the date ot gsang the Black-Scholes option-pricing modelhwitte following weighted average

assumptions:

EMC Stock Options

Dividend yield

Expected volatility

Risk-free interest rat

Expected life (in years
Weightec-average fair value at grant di

EMC Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Dividend yield

Expected volatility

Risk-free interest rat

Expected life (in years
Weightec-average fair value at grant di

For the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
None None None
30.1% 34.4% 40.8%

4. 7% 4.8% 4.C%
4.2 4.C 4.C
$ 4.4- $ 4.2¢ $ 5.27
For the Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
None None None
25.2% 27.€% 42.1%
5.C% 4.S% 3.C%
0.5 0.5 0.5
$ 3.07 $ 2.8¢ $ 3.9t
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Expected volatilities are based on historical anglied volatilities from traded options in EMC’osk. VMware uses EMC historical
data to estimate the expected term of options gdawithin the valuation model. The risk-free insreate was based on a treasury instrument
whose term is consistent with the expected lifehefstock options.

K. Related Party Transactions

In 2007 and 2006, VMware recognized professionalise revenue of $11.8 million and $1.4 millionspectively, for services provided
to EMC customers pursuant to contractual agreenveithsEMC. In 2007, VMware entered into an entespriicense agreement with EMC to
provide server and desktop products. All $4.3 gereie related to this arrangement was includea@ferced revenue as of December 31, 2007.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, VMware purchased $7.2onill$2.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively,sibrage systems from EMC.
Through the third quarter of 2007, and for 2006 a6@5, the amounts purchased from EMC were at EM@Gs$. In the fourth quarter of 2007,
the practice was changed to purchasing from EM&discount off of EMC'’s list price.

In connection with the IPO, VMware and EMC enteirgd certain agreements governing various intenm angoing relationships
between the two companies. The financial statermiralsde expense allocations for certain corpofatetions provided by EMC pursuant to
these agreements, including accounting, treasaxyJégal and human resources. These allocatiors based on estimates of the level of e
or resources incurred on VMware’s behalf. The totets allocated from EMC were $7.7 million, $5.llion and $5.3 million in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Additionally, certain othests incurred by EMC for VMware’s direct benediich as rent, salaries and benefits have
been included as expenses in VMware’s financiaéstants. The total of these other costs were $Ihélibn, $69.6 million and $27.1 million
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As part ofWérke’s tax sharing arrangement, VMware paid EM®ine taxes of $86.4 million, $63.1
million and $6.6 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005spectively, which differed from the amounts owedaoseparate return basis. The difference
between these amounts is presented as a compdrstatkholders equity. In 2007, VMware incurred interest expengh EMC, net, of $17.
million. In 2006 and 2005, VMware earned interesome with EMC, net, of $0.3 million and $2.1 nati, respectively. Interest income
(expense) with EMC, net, consists both of intetieat has been earned or incurred on VMware’s iotapgany balance with EMC and from
interest expense on the note payable to EMC. Ii7 2686.6 million of interest expense was recordgated to the note payable (See Note F)
and was included in the $17.8 million interest exgeewith EMC, net recorded on the consolidatedritestatement. VMwarg'interest incorr
and VMware's expenses as a separate, stand-alomgaty may be higher or lower than the amountsatftein the financial statements.

In connection with Intel Capital’s purchase of ghlion shares of VMware’s Class A common stocle @ompany agreed to the
appointment of an Intel executive acceptable to \éviis Board of Directors. In connection with Ciscpurchase of 6.0 million shares from
EMC, the Company agreed to consider the appointwfeaiCisco executive to the Board of DirectorsNmvember 2007, both an Intel
executive and a Cisco executive were appointedMiviire’s Board. VMware has in the past done busiresd expects to continue to do
business, with Intel and Cisco on a regular armgtte basis, on the same or similar terms as woellddgotiated with unrelated third parties.
The transactions with Intel and Cisco in 2007 wesematerial to VMware’s consolidated financialtetaents.

From time to time, VMware may purchase or sell goadd services in the ordinary course of busindtsfimancial institutions that
beneficially own 5% or more of VMwargClass A common stock. In 2007, FMR LLC, a finahaistitution that beneficially owns 5% or m:
of VMware’s Class A common stock, purchased goaus a
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services sold by VMware. In addition, VMware empey currently participate in EMC’s 401(k) plan whis administered by Fidelity
Investments, an affiliate of FMR LLC. EMC may cragsarge VMware for the costs associated with VMwargloyees under the
intercompany agreements. Transactions with FMR lee not material to VMware’s 2007 consolidate@fioial statements.

In 2007, VMware entered into an agreement to lieestdtware from Softrax Corporation (“Softrax”).mdember of the Company’s Board
of Directors is a managing partner and generahpaih a limited partnership which has an equitgriest in Softrax of greater than 10%. The
amounts expensed or paid to Softrax in 2007 werenaderial to VMware’s consolidated financial stagnts.

L. Segment Information

VMware operates in one reportable segment in aeomel with the provisions of FAS No. 131 “Disclosiadout Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information.” Operating segi® are defined as components of an enterpriag altiich separate financial information
is evaluated regularly by the chief operating deaisnaker in deciding how to allocate resourcesaswtssing performance. The chief
operating decision maker is the President and Ghietutive Officer. VMware operates in one segmirgrefore all financial segment
information required by FAS No. 131 can be founthi@ consolidated financial statements.

Revenues by geographic area are as follows (taliteousands):

For the Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
United State: $ 720,62 $391,61- $209,60(
International 605,19: 312,29( 177,47:
Total $1,325,81. $703,90: $387,07:

Long-lived assets in the United States at Decer@beP007, 2006 and 2005 were $236.5 million, $40il6on and $17.0 million,
excluding goodwill, intangible assets, net and diged software of $679.4 million, $653.4 millicend $613.4 million, respectively, as well as
financial instruments and deferred tax assets. Livagl assets internationally at December 31, 2Q0D6 and 2005 were $22.8 million, $5.2
million and $1.0 million, excluding goodwill, intgible assets, net and capitalized software of $#8liton, $0.3 million and $0 million,
respectively, as well as financial instruments dafitrred tax assets. No country other than theedritates accounted for 10% or more of t
assets at December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

VMware groups its products into portfolios that aategorized into the following classes:

Virtualization Platforms ProductsThe Company’s virtualization platforms includéypervisor for system partitioning that provides th
capability to safely, securely and efficiently mnultiple operating systems simultaneously on thmesphysical machine. The platforms
products include VMware Player, VMware Workstatidhware Server, VMware ESX Server, VMware VirtuallB, VMware VCB and
VMware VMFS products.

Virtual Infrastructure Management and AutomatioroBucts. The Companyg virtual infrastructure management and automairoduct:
utilize the unique benefits of its virtualizatiotagiorms to automate system infrastructure seryisaesh as resource management, availability,
mobility and security, manage a virtualized envimemt and automate the interaction between varibuehstituencies and the virtual
infrastructure for a specific set of point solusoihey include VMware ACE, VMware HA, VMware DRS,
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VMware VMotion, VMware VirtualCenter, VMware Lab Mager, VMware VDI, VMware Converter and VMware CeipaPlanner.
Revenues by class of products or services werellasvk (table in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Virtualization platform product $ 347,86: $ 281,33t $ 204,69
Virtual infrastructure automation and managemeatipcts 557,50¢ 210,56¢ 82,30¢
Licenses revenue 905, 36¢ 491,90: 287,00¢
Services revenue 420,44: 212,00: 100,06¢
Total $ 132581 $ 703,900 $ 387,07

One distributor accounted for 23%, 29% and 30%ewénues in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectivglitionally, another distributor anc
channel partner accounted for 12% and 11% of rea®imu2007, respectively.

M. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Quatrterly financial data for 2007 and 2006 is dlefes (tables in millions, except per share amo)nts

2007 Q1 2007 Q2 2007 Q3 2007 Q4 2007
Revenue! $258.7 $296.¢ $357.¢ $412.t
Net income 41.1 34.2 64.7 78.2
Net income per share, ba: $ 0.12 $ 0.1C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.21
Net income per share, diluti $ 0.12 $ 0.1C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
2006 Q1 200¢ Q2 200¢ Q3 200¢ Q4 200¢
Revenue! $129.1 $156.4 $188.¢ $229.¢
Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag principle 20.c 15.2 19.Z 31.C
Income per share before cumulative effect of a ghan accounting principle, basic a

diluted $ 0.0¢€ $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Net income 20.5 15.2 19.2 31.C
Net income per share, basic and dilt $ 0.0¢€ $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Our management, with the participation of our ppatexecutive officer and principal financial affir, has evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defim&ules 13a-15(e) and 18d{e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded (th
“Exchange Act")), as of the end of the period ceeeby this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based orhsu@luation, our principal executive
officer
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and principal financial officer have concluded thatof such date, our disclosure controls and piwres were effective.

This annual report does not include a report ofagament’s assessment regarding internal controlfonancial reporting or an
attestation report of the Company’s independeristexged public accounting firm on the effectivenekthe Company'’s internal controls over
financial reporting due to a transition period bighed by rules of the Securities and Exchange i@i@sion for newly public companies. We
are required to comply with the internal contrgdagting requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbadsy Act of 2002 for our fiscal year
ending December 31, 2008. The management reporduaditbr attestation on the effectiveness of then@any’s internal control over financial
reporting must be included in our annual reportiier fiscal year ending December 31, 2008.

Our independent registered public accounting fieorted to our board of directors a material weagrie the design and operation of
internal controls as of December 31, 2006 relatettie capitalization of software development costmaterial weakness is defined by the
standards issued by the Public Company Accountivey$ight Board as a more than remote likelihood dhaaterial misstatement of the
annual or interim financial statements will notgrevented or detected. The material weakness eelsfitim a lack of adequate internal cont
to ensure the timely identification and accumulatid costs once a project reaches technologicallfgitdy under applicable accounting
standards. Prior to December 31, 2007, we had rieteeldthe material weakness by implementing adutiéormal policies, procedures and
processes, hiring additional accounting personneliacreasing management review and oversight theefinancial statement close process.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

We will furnish to the SEC a definitive Proxy Staient no later than 120 days after the close ofisisal year ended December 31, 2007.
Certain information required by this item is incorgted herein by reference to the Proxy Staterddsb. see “Executive Officers of the
Registrant” in Part | of this Annual Report on FotG+K.

We have a code of ethics that applies to all ofesaployees including our executive officers. OusBeass Conduct Guidelines (available
on our website) satisfy the requirements set foritem 406 of Regulation 8-and applies to all relevant persons set fortinetime We intend t
disclose on our website at www.vmware.com amendsnentand, if applicable, waivers of, our code thies.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item is incorp@dherein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@etherein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorp@eherein by reference to the Proxy Statementridded in Note K to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item is incorp@dtherein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
(@) Documents Filed as a Part of This Rep
1. Financial Statemen

The financial statements listed in the Index to &didated Financial Statements are filed as patttisfreport (Refer to Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data).

2. Financial Statement Schedt
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted becausestpgred information is included in the consolidafiedncial statements or the notes
thereto, or is not applicable or required.

3. Index to Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Filed Form/File

Exhibit Herewith
Number Exhibit Description No. Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora S-1/A-2  7/09/0i

3.2 Amended and Restated Byla S-1/A-2  7/09/0%

4.1 Form of specimen common stock certific S-1/A-4  7/27/0%
10.1 Form of Master Transaction Agreement between VMwiare and EMC S-1/A-2  7/09/07
10.2 Form of Administrative Services Agreement betwedmare, Inc. and EM( S-1/A-2  7/09/0%
10.3 Form of Tax Sharing Agreement between VMware, &md EMC S-1/A-2  7/09/0i
104 Form of Intellectual Property Agreement between Vaiey Inc. and EM( S-1/A-1  6/11/0%
10.5 Form of Employee Benefits Agreement between VMwhre, and EMC S-1/A-2  7/09/0i
10.6 Form of Real Estate License Agreement between Vidwlac. and EM(C S-1/A-2  7/09/0%
10.7+ Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Mark Pdstied March 16, 20C S-1/A-1  6/11/0%
10.8+ Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors amacutive officer: S-1/A-1  6/11/0%
10.9+ 2007 Equity and Incentive Pl; S-1/A-6  8/09/0
10.10 Promissory Note between VMware, Inc. and EMC Caafion dated April 16, 200 S-1 6/11/01
10.11 Form of Insurance Matters Agreement between VMwiaie,and EMC S-1/A-2  7/09/0%
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Exhibit
Number
10.124
10.134
10.14
10.154

10.164
10.17
10.18

10.19
10.204
10.21

10.22

10.234
10.244

10.254

10.264

10.274

211
23.1
311

Incorporated by Reference

Filed Form/File
Exhibit Description Herewith No. Date
Form of Option Agreemer S-1/A-1 6/11/01
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreeme S-1/A-1 6/11/07
2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendecestaded December 10, 20 X
Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Mark Pasglied June 13, 20( X
Distribution Agreement between VMware, Inc. andrarg Micro dated May 17, 20( S-1/A-5 8/03/07
Form of Real Estate Purchase and Sale AgreememéebntVMware, Inc. and EM S-1/A-2 7/09/07
Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement betweenafilinc. and Intel Capit. S-1/A-2 7/09/07
dated July 9, 200
Investor Rights Agreement between VMware, Inc. ntell Capital dated July 9, 20( S-1/A-2 7/09/01
Form of Early Exercise Option Agreems S-1/A-2 7/09/07
Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement among Vi&hiae., EMC Corporatio S-1/A-4 7127107
and Cisco Systems, Inc. dated July 26, 2
Investor Rights Agreement between VMware, Inc. @sto Systems, Inc. dated July S-1/A-4 7127107
26, 2007
Employment Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Di@aneene dated July 26, 20 16-Q 9/17/01
Letter Agreement between VMware, Inc. and Dev Rclf{grd) Sarwal dated November X
29, 2007
EMC Corporation 2003 Stock Plan, as amended DEF 14/A 3/11/0¢
000-03656
Filed by

EMC
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the EMC 20GgISPlan 10-Q filed by 11/3/0¢

EMC
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the EM@328tock Plan 10-Q filed by 11/3/0¢

EMC

List of subsidiarie: X
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers | X

Certification of Principal Executive Officer reqat by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14 X
(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as tatbpursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit

Number

31.2

32.1

32.2

Incorporated by Reference

Filed Form/File
Herewith

Exhibit Description No. Date
Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqaul by Rule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14 X
(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as @tbpursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, X
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as ado| X

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage
# Confidential treatment requested for certainipog of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 406 promuéghtinder the Securities Act, which
portions are omitted and filed separately with $eeurities and Exchange Commissi
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

VMWARE, INC.
Dated: February 29, 20( By: /s DiaNE B. G REENE
Diane B. Greene
President and Chief Executive Officer
VMWARE, INC.
Dated: February 29, 20( By: /sl  MARK S. PEEK

Mark S. Peek
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ites indicated.

Date Signature Title
February 29, 200 /s/ DiaNE B. G REENE President and Chief Executive Officer, Direc
Diane B. Greene (Principal Executive Officer
February 29, 200 /sl  MARK S. PEEK Chief Financial Office
Mark S. Peek (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
February 29, 2008 /s/ JosepHM. T uccl Chairman
Joseph M. Tucci
February 29, 2008 /s|  MicHAEL W. B ROWN Director
Michael W. Brown
February 29, 200 /s JOHNR. EGAN Director
John R. Egan
February 29, 2008 /s/  DAvID |. G OULDEN Director

David I. Goulden

February 29, 200 /s RENEEJ. JAMES Director

Renee J. James

February 29, 2008 /s/ DEeENNISD. PoweLL Director

Dennis D. Powell

February 29, 200 /s/  DAvVID N. STROHM Director
David N. Strohm
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VMWARE, INC.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Allowance for Bad

Balance a Debts Charged to
Selling, General
Beginning and Administrative
Charged to
Allowance for Bad Debts of Period Expenses Other Accounts
Year ended December 31, 2007 allowance
doubtful account $ 2,13¢ $ (31€) $ —
Year ended December 31, 2006 allowance
doubtful account 1,58¢ 762 —
Year ended December 31, 2005 allowance
doubtful account 1,477 202 —
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Bad Debts

Write-
Offs

$ (220)
(219)

(90)

Balance a

End of
Period

$ 1,60¢
2,13¢

1,58¢



Exhibit 10.14
AS AMENDED DECEMBER 10, 2007

VMWARE, INC.
2007 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

Section 1. Purpose of Plan

The VMware, Inc. 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Rlen“Plan”) is intended to provide a method by etheligible employees of
VMware, Inc. (“WMware”) and its subsidiaries (cattévely, the “Company”) may use voluntary, systeimaayroll deductions to purchase
VMware’s class A common stock, $.01 par value,q¢kt) and thereby acquire an interest in the fubfrfé¢Mware. For purposes of the Plan, a
subsidiary is any corporation in which VMware owdsectly or indirectly, stock possessing 50% orenof the total combined voting power
of all classes of stock unless the Board of Dinecttd VMware (the “Board of Directors”) determintst employees of a particular subsidiary
shall not be eligible.

Section 2. Options to Purchase Stock

Under the Plan, no more than 6,400,000 share®ok stre available for purchase (subject to adjustrae provided in Section 16)
pursuant to the exercise of options (“options”)ngeal under the Plan to employees of the Compamy{l@yees”). The stock to be delivered
upon exercise of options under the Plan may beeghares of the Company’s authorized but unisstak, or shares of reacquired stock, as
the Board of Directors shall determine.

Section 3. Eligible Employees

Except as otherwise provided in Section 20, eaghl@mee who has completed three months or more mfrogous service in the employ
of the Company shall be eligible to participatehia Plan. Notwithstanding any other provision hereidividuals who are not
contemporaneously classified as employees of VMwasn eligible subsidiary for purposes of VMwaretshe applicable eligible
subsidiary’s payroll system are not consideredeteligible employees and shall not be eligibleadipipate in the Plan. In the event any such
individuals are reclassified as employees of VMwaran eligible subsidiary for any purpose, inchgjiwithout limitation, common law or
statutory employees, by any action of any thirdypancluding, without limitation, any governmergency, or as a result of any private lawsuit,
action or administrative proceeding, such individushall, notwithstanding such reclassificatiomaén ineligible for participation.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exclusive mefansndividuals who are not contemporaneously éfeesbas employees of VMware or
eligible subsidiary on the applicable payroll syst® become eligible to participate in this Plathidugh an amendment to this Plan, duly
executed by VMware, which specifically renders sinthviduals eligible to participate herei



Section 4. Method of Participation
Generally

The periods January 1 to June 30 and July 1 torbleee31 of each year shall be option periods. Backon who will be an eligible
employee on the first day of any option period rabect to participate in the Plan by executing aelivdring, at least one business day prior to
such day, a payroll deduction authorization in agance with Section 5. Such employee shall thebsmpme a participant (“participant”) on
the first day of such option period and shall remaparticipant until his or her participationésrhinated as provided in the Plan.

First Option Period

The first option period under the Plan will commemn the day on which VMware’s Form S-1 Registratitatement is declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commisarahwill end on December 31, 2007. Any individwélo is an eligible employee
immediately prior to the first option period shial automatically enrolled in the first option periat an amount equal to 2% of his or her
compensation. A participant in the first optionipdrshall make payment for the purchase of shaydébmaking a lump sum cash payment to
the Company via check on or prior to December 807%or the amount of the purchase price for theeshbeing purchased (after which date
an participant wishing to continue participatiorttie Plan must participate on a payroll deductiasidbunless the participant withdraws from
the Plan under Section 10), or (B) electing, attereffective date of the Form S-8 for the issuasfcgock under the Plan, to have amounts
directly withheld from the participant’'s compensatpursuant to Section 5 (which percentage needquml the amount specified above).

To the extent that a participant purchases sharesspect of the first option period by deliveramgheck to the Company, such delivery
and purchase shall operate, unless the participimiraws from the Plan pursuant to Section 1@&raslection by the participant to continue
participating in the Plan on the payroll deducti@sis described in Section 5 and the Company wsiiththold from the participant’s
compensation beginning with the next option pedbd contribution rate equal to the ratio thatdggregate purchase price paid for shares
purchased bears to the participant’s total compamsduring the first option period (which rate Bheot exceed the percentage specified in
Section 5).

Section 5. Payroll Deductions

The payroll deduction authorization shall requeithiolding, at a rate of not less than 2% nor ntbes 15% from the participant’s
compensation (subject to a maximum of $7,500 p&ooperiod), by means of substantially equal phyteductions over the option period,;
provided, however, that in the event any amount




remaining in a participant’s withholding accountta end of an option period (which would be edaa fractional share) is rolled over to the
opening balance in a participant’s withholding agudor the next option period pursuant to Sec8dyelow (a “rollover”),such amount will b
applied to the last payroll deduction for the nestion period, thereby reducing the amount of tiegtroll deduction; furtheprovidedthat the
maximum of $7,500 per option period shall be reduzgthe amount of any rollover. For purposes efftan, “compensation” shall mean all
cash compensation paid to the participant by thegamy.

A participant may only elect to change the withlimddrate of his or her payroll deduction authotimatby written notice delivered to the
Company at least one business day prior to thed#g of the option period as to which the chamsg® ibe effective; provided, however, that
Company shall provide each participant with oneaspumity to change the level of his or her withhinfgirate during the first option period a
the commencement of such period as contemplat&kbiion 4. Following delivery to the Company of grayroll deduction authorization or
any election to change the withholding rate of wrpbhdeduction authorization, appropriate payd#ductions or changes thereto shall
commence as soon as reasonably practicable. Allatsavithheld in accordance with a participant’gnod deduction authorization shall be
credited to a withholding account for such paréeip

Subject to the maximum $7,500 per option periodrifontion, the Company shall permit each particigarcontribute, by means of a
one-time cash contribution, the amount of the plhgexuctions that are returned to the particigesrh the EMC Corporation 1989 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan as a result of the participgratticipation in this Plan. Such contributionlshe credited to the participant’s withholding
account, but no contribution may be made unles§tiim S-8 registration statement with respect ¢éoigkuance of stock under this Plan is
effective.

Section 6. Grant of Options

Each person who is a participant on the first degnooption period shall as of such day be graatedption for such period. Such option
shall be for the number of shares of stock to kierdgned by dividing (a) the balance in the papiieit's withholding account on the last day of
the option period by (b) the purchase price peresb&the stock determined under Section 7, amdietiting any fractional share from the
guotient. In the event that the number of shares #vailable under the Plan is otherwise insufficithe Company shall reduce on a
substantially proportionate basis the number ofeshaf stock receivable by each participant uparage of his or her option for an option
period and shall return the balance in a partidisamithholding account to such participant. Inexent shall the number of shares of stock that
a participant may purchase during any one optisingeinder the Plan exceed the number of sharesmdigted by (a) multiplying fifteen
percent (15%) of the amount of the participant’'mpensation for the payroll period immediately pdog the date he or she is first granted an
option for such option period by the number of



payroll periods from such date to the end of systiva period, and (b) dividing that product by digfive percent (85%) of the fair market
value of a share of stock on such date.

Section 7. Purchase Price

The purchase price of stock issued pursuant tesxtkecise of an option shall be 85% of the fair reéilalue of the stock at (a) the time of grant
of the option or (b) the time at which the optisrdeemed exercised, whichever is less. “Fair masleie” shall mean the closing sales price
per share of the stock on the principal securéehange on which the stock is traded or, if there such sale on the relevant date, then ¢
last previous day on which a sale was reportetthgifstock is not listed for trading on a natioredigities exchange, the fair market value of the
stock shall be determined in good faith by the BazrDirectors. For purposes of the first optiomipé under the Plan, the fair market value of
the stock at the time of the grant of the optioh e the initial public offering price of the stoas set forth in VMware’s Form BSRegistratio
Statement.

Section 8. Exercise of Options

If an employee is a participant in the Plan onl#sé business day of an option period, he or shé B deemed to have exercised the
option granted to him or her for that period. Upnich exercise, the Company shall apply the balahtfee participans withholding account 1
the purchase of the number of whole shares of sletdrmined under Section 6, and as soon as pbtdithereafter shall issue and deliver
certificates for said shares to the participantfidotional shares shall be issued hereunder. Afgnice accumulated in the participant’s
withholding account that is not sufficient to puaske a full share shall be retained in such acdourtny remaining or subsequent option
period, subject to early withdrawal by the partigipas provided in Section 10. Any other moniesaiaing in the participant’s withholding
account under the Plan after the date of exertiak Ise retuned to the participant or his or hardieiary (as applicable) in cash, without
interest.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrarg @ompany shall not be obligated to deliver anyeshanless and until, in the opinion
of the Company’s counsel, all requirements of ayafiie federal and state laws and regulations (@wetuany requirements as to legends) have
been complied with, nor, if the outstanding stachkti the time listed on any securities exchanglessrand until the shares to be delivered have
been listed (or authorized to be added to theufisih official notice of issuance) upon such excleamgr unless or until all other legal matters
in connection with the issuance and delivery ofebdave been approved by the Company’s counsel.
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Section 9. Interest
No interest will be payable on withholding accounts

Section 10. Cancellation and Withdrawal

On or prior to June 15 or December 15, as the wesebe with respect to any applicable option peréogarticipant who holds an option
under the Plan may cancel all (but not less thBroghis or her option by written notice delivererthe Company, in such form as the
Company may prescribe. Any participant who delivarsh written notice shall be deemed to have cadddk or her option, terminated his or
her payroll deduction authorization with respecthit® Plan and terminated his or her participatiothe Plan, in each case, as of the date of
written notice. In the event that any June 15 ocdbeber 15, as the case may be with respect tqthieable option period, shall be a Saturc
Sunday or day on which banks in the State of Delewaee required or permitted to close, a partidipaay cancel his or her option by written
notice given on or prior to the last business daméediately preceding such date. Following deliv&rgny such notice, any balance in the
participant’s withholding account will be returngdsuch participant as soon as reasonably pra&icAhy participant who has delivered such
notice may elect to participate in the Plan in &rtyre option period in accordance with the prawis of Section 4. With respect to the first
option period, any participant who has not previpasithorized payroll deductions shall be considdoehave withdrawn from such period if
he or she fails to make payment as contemplatesilgtion 4.

Section 11. Termination of Employment

Except as otherwise provided in Section 12, upertéhmination of a participant’s employment witle Bompany for any reason
whatsoever, he or she shall cease to be a parnicigad any option held by him or her under theanRlaall be deemed cancelled, the balance of
his or her withholding account shall be returnediito or her, and he or she shall have no furthggtsi under the Plan. For purposes of this
Section 11, a participant’s employment will notdosidered terminated in the case of a transfadrea@mployment of a subsidiary or to the
employment of the Company. For purposes of the,Rlamndividual’s employment relationship is stiinsidered to be continuing intact while
such individual is on sick leave, or other leavala$ence approved for purposes of this Plan bZdmpany or a subsidiary; provided howe'
that if such period of leave of absence exceedstyif®0) days, and the individual’s right to reeayphent is not guaranteed either by statute or
by contract, the employment relationship shall eerded to have terminated on the ninety-firsts{ptlay of such leave.

Section 12. Death of Participant

In the event a participant holds any option hereurad the time his or her employment with the Conypa terminated by his or her
death, whenever occurring,



then his or her legal representative), may, byingrdelivered to the Company on or before theedaitch option is exercisable, elect either
(a) to cancel any such option and receive in dastibalance in his or her withholding account, grt¢bhave the balance in his or her
withholding account applied as of the last dayhef dption period to the exercise of his or herappursuant to Section 8, and have the
balance, if any, in such account in excess ofdke purchase price of the whole shares so isstedned in cash. In the event his or her legal
representative) does not file a written electioprewided above, any outstanding option shall bated as if an election had been filed purs
to subparagraph 12(a) above.

Section 13. Participant’s Rights Not Transferabte,

All participants granted options under the Planldiave the same rights and privileges. Each pgagitt’s rights and privileges under any
option granted under the Plan shall be exercisédnlimg his or her lifetime only by him or her, asltall not be sold, pledged, assigned, or
otherwise transferred in any manner whatsoeverptxnewill or the laws of descent and distributibmthe event any participant violates the
terms of this Section, any options held by him er imay be terminated by the Company and, uponmétuthe participant of the balance of his
or her withholding account, all his or her rightsder the Plan shall terminate.

Section 14. Employment Rights

Neither the adoption of the Plan nor any of thevmions of the Plan shall confer upon any partiotgny right to continued employment
with the Company or a subsidiary or affect in argywhe right of the Company to terminate the emplegt of such participant at any time.

Section 15. Rights as a Shareholder
A participant shall have the rights of a sharehotddy as to stock actually acquired by him or tieder the Plan.

Section 16. Change in Capitalization

In the event of a stock dividend, stock split omixnation of shares, recapitalization, merger irnclwthe Company is the surviving
corporation or other change in the Company’s chpiteck, the number and kind of shares of stockemurities of the Company to be subject to
the Plan and to options then outstanding or toraatgd hereunder, the maximum number of sharesaarrities which may be delivered under
the Plan, the option price and other relevant @ions shall be appropriately adjusted by the Bo&fdirectors, whose determination shall be
binding on all persons. In the event of a consdiliseor merger in which the Company is not the &mg corporation or in the event of the <
or transfer of substantially all the



Company’s assets (other than by the grant of agaget or security interest), all outstanding optisinall thereupon terminate, provided that
prior to the effective date of any such mergersatidation or sale of assets, the Board of Direcsbrall either (a) return the balance in all
withholding accounts and cancel all outstandingomst, or (b) accelerate the exercise date providenh Section 8, or (c) if there is a survivi
or acquiring corporation, arrange to have that e@tion or an affiliate of that corporation graatie participants replacement options having
equivalent terms and conditions as determined &\Bitard of Directors.

Section 17. Administration of Plan

The Plan will be administered by the Board of Dioes. The Board of Directors will have authoritptiinconsistent with the express
provisions of the Plan, to take all action necessamppropriate hereunder, to interpret its priovis, and to decide all questions and resolve all
disputes which may arise in connection therewitictSdeterminations of the Board of Directors shaltonclusive and shall bind all parties.

The Board may, in its discretion, delegate its peweith respect to the Plan to an Employee Beffih Committee or any other
committee (the “Committee”), in which event alleegnces to the Board of Directors hereunder, imetuaithout limitation the references in
Section 17, shall be deemed to refer to the Coramith majority of the members of any such Commistegll constitute a quorum, and all
determinations of the Committee shall be made magority of its members. Any determination of then@mittee under the Plan may be made
without notice or meeting of the Committee by atiwg signed by all of the Committee members.

Section 18. Amendment and Termination of Plan

The Board of Directors may at any time or times adie Plan or amend any outstanding option ooaptfor the purpose of satisfying
the requirements of any changes in applicable @mwegulations or for any other purpose which miatha time be permitted by law, provided
that (except to the extent explicitly required errpitted herein) no such amendment will, withowt éipproval of the shareholders of the
Company, (a) increase the maximum number of skeraitable under the Plan, (b) reduce the optiooepof outstanding options or reduce the
price at which options may be granted, (c) chahgecbnditions for eligibility under the Plan, o) @mend the provisions of this Section 18 of
the Plan, and no such amendment will adverselgaffe rights of any participant (without his orr lsensent) under any option theretofore
granted.

The Plan may be terminated at any time by the Bo&Rirectors, but no such termination shall adebraffect the rights and privileges
of holders of the outstanding options.



Section 19. Approval of Shareholders

The Plan shall be subject to the approval of tteediolders of the Company, which approval shaidmired within twelve months after
the date the Plan is adopted by the Board of DirectNotwithstanding any other provisions of tharRIno option shall be exercised prior to
date of such approval.

Section 20. Limitations
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan:

(a) An employee shall not be eligible to receiveoption pursuant to the Plan if, immediately aftex grant of such option to him or her,
he or she would (in accordance with the provisiminSections 423 and 424(d) of the Internal Revebaode of 1986, as amended (the “Code”))
own or be deemed to own stock possessing 5% or afdhe total combined voting power or value ofddisses of stock of the employer
corporation or of its parent or subsidiary corpmmtas defined in Section 424 of the Code InteRmlenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”).

(b) No employee shall be granted an option undsrRkan that would permit his or her rights to fhase shares of stock under all
employee stock purchase plans (as defined in 32488 of the Code) of VMware or any subsidiary argmt corporation to accrue at a rate
which exceeds $25,000 in fair market value of sstolck (determined at the time the option is granteddeach calendar year during which any
such option granted to such employee is outstaratiagy time, as provided in Section 423 of theeCod

(c) No employee shall be granted an option undsrRkan that would permit him or her to withhold rashan $7,500 in each option
period or $15,000 per calendar year, less the atrafiany rollover.

(d) No employee whose customary employment is 20shor less per week shall be eligible to partit@pa the Plan.
(e) No independent contractor shall be eligiblpadicipate in the Plan.
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Section 21. Jurisdiction and Governing Law.

The Company and each participant in the Plan sutantite exclusive jurisdiction and venue of theefed or state courts of Delaware to
resolve issues that may arise out of or relateéd™an or the same subject matter. The Plan sb@bverned by the laws of Delaware,
excluding its conflicts or choice of law rules aimgiples that might otherwise refer constructigrirderpretation of this Plan to the substantive
law of another jurisdiction.

Section 22. Compliance with Foreign Laws and Rdgpria.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereirg Board, in order to conform with provisions ofdbtaws and regulations in foreign
countries in which the Company or its subsidiadpsrate, shall have sole discretion to (i) modify terms and conditions of options grante
participants employed outside the United Stat@segtablish sub-plans with modified enrollmeneaercise procedures and/or establish such
other modifications as may be necessary or adwésatdier the circumstances presented by local ladsegulations; and (iii) take any action
which it deems advisable to obtain, comply withotirerwise reflect any necessary governmental rémylgrocedures, exemptions or
approvals with respect to the Plan or any sub-pkiablished hereunder.”
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Exhibit 10.15

June 13, 2007
Mark Peek

Dear Mark,

| am writing to confirm our understanding with respto the 433,216 restricted stock units that vgeamted to you on June 7, 2007 under the
VMware 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan (the “RSU§hese RSUs were granted to you in lieu of the E®KIricted shares that were to be
granted to you as described in your March 17. i@ letter. Subject to your continued employmeith VMware, Inc. (“VMware”) through
June 7, 2010, the RSUs will fully vest on that datewever, if VMware meets or achieves the targstablished for the second half of 2007
under the VMware Revenue and Profit ContributioanP[L/3 of the RSUs will vest on each of the finsee anniversaries of the grant date if
you are employed by VMware on the applicable vestiate. In addition, the RSUs will become immedyatested in full if there is a chan

in control (as defined on Appendix A) and followiagch change in control (1) your employment is teated by VMware without Cause (as
defined on Appendix A) or (2) you terminate yourmayment because your duties have been diminisheld that you no longer serve as a
Chief Financial Officer of a public entity.

Please indicate your agreement with the termsisfi¢itter by a signing a copy of this letter antineing it my attention.

Sincerely,

/s/ Diane Green
Diane Green
Presiden
diane@vmware.cor

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this 14 day of June, 2007.

/s/ Mark Peek
Mark Peek

Enclosures:
Duplicate Letter
Appendix A



Mark Peek
March 16, 2007
Page Two

Appendix A

Change in Control
A Change in Control will be deemed to have occuifed

(i) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owndth{n the meaning set forth in Rule 13d—3 under 8ecurities Exchange Act
of 1934), directly or indirectly, of securities ¥Mware, Inc, (the “Company”)epresenting 35% or more of either the then outhtanshares c
common stock of the Company or the combined vabioger of the Compang’then outstanding securities, excluding any Perngambecome
such a Beneficial Owner in connection with a tratisa described in paragraph (iii);

(i) the following individuals cease for any readorconstitute a majority of the number of diresttiren serving: individuals who,
on the date hereof, constitute the Board of Dinectd the Company (the “Board”) and any new dire¢tdher than a director whose initial
assumption of office is in connection with an attuathreatened election contest, including butlimoited to a consent solicitation, relating to
the election of directors of the Company) whoseoamtment or election by the Board or nominationdtgction by the Compang/'stockholder
was approved or recommended by a vote of at leasthirds (2/3) of the directors then in office whither were directors on June 7, 2007 or
whose appointment, election or nomination for étgctvas previously so approved or recommended;

(iii) there is consummated a merger or consoligatibthe Company or any direct or indirect subsidiaf the Company with any
other corporation, other than (i) a merger or cidation which would result in the voting securgtief the Company outstanding immediately
prior to such merger or consolidation continuingdpresent (either by remaining outstanding or éandp converted into voting securities of the
surviving entity or any parent thereof) at leas¥b6f the combined voting power of the securitieshef Company or such surviving entity or
any parent thereof outstanding immediately aftehsuerger or consolidation, or (ii) a merger orsaidation effected to implement a
recapitalization of the Company (or similar trartgag) in which no Person is or becomes the Beradfiowner, directly or indirectly, of
securities of the Company (not including in thewsities Beneficially Owned by such Person any siéesracquired directly from the Compa
or its affiliates representing 35% or more of thenbined voting power of the Company’s then outsitamdecurities; or

(iv) the stockholders of the Company approve a plaeomplete liquidation or dissolution of the Coang or there is consummated
an agreement for the sale or disposition by the fizom of all or substantially all of the Compasi@ssets, other than a sale or disposition b
Company of all or substantially all of the Compangssets to an entity, at least 50% of the combin&dg power of the voting securities of
which are owned by stockholders of the Companybstantially the same proportions as their ownershihe Company immediately prior to
such sale



Mark Peek
March 16, 2007
Page Three

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to theattary, no Change in Control shall be deemed telwcurred for purposes of this
Agreement by virtue of (i) any transaction whicbuks in Mark Peek (the “Executive”), or a groupRarsons which includes Executive,
acquiring, directly or indirectly, 35% or more dfter the then outstanding shares of common stbtkeoCompany or the combined voting
power of the Company’s then outstanding securéieg@) EMC's distribution of the Company’s shattesits shareholders in the form of a stock
dividend.

Person, as used above, shall have the meaning igigattion 3(a)(9) of the Securities Exchange &934, as modified and used in
Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that serch shall not include (i) the Company or any sfdtbsidiaries and affiliates, (ii) a trustee or
other fiduciary holding securities under an empépenefit plan of the Company or any of its affés (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding
securities pursuant to an offering of such se@siéind (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indilg by the stockholders of the Company in
substantially the same proportions as their ownershstock of the Company.

Cause

The occurrence of any of the following, as reasgndbtermined by VMware in good faith, shall cohg# “Cause,” provided that you
have been given notice by VMware of the existerfd@ause and, if the existence of Cause is curaldeasonable opportunity to cure the
existence of such Cause:

0] willful neglect, failure or refusal by the you tenform your employment duties (except resultingrfrgour incapacity due t
illness) as reasonably directed by VMwe

(i) willful misconduct by you in the performance of yamployment duties
(iii)  the Participar's indictment for a felony (other than traffic reldtoffense) or a misdemeanor involving moral tuighét; or

(iv)  your commission of an act involving personal diskgiy that results in financial, reputational, drestharm to VMware an
its affiliates and subsidiaries, including, but histited to, an act constituting misappropriatianrembezzlement of propert



Exhibit 10.24

November 30, 200
Richard Sarwal

Dear Richard,
This letter supersedes all offer letters datedreefitovember 30, 2007.

We are pleased to offer you a position with VMwane, (the “Company”) as Executive Vice Presidé&tgsearch and Development,
commencing on Friday, November 30, 2007. You weifiart to the Chief Executive Officer of the Compa¥igur annual salary of $550,000
(“Base Salary) will be paid semi-monthly in accarda with the Company’s normal payroll procedures Mall be eligible to participate in the
Company’s benefit plans and programs availableutddl-time regular employees.

You will be eligible for a performance bonus in aaance with VMware’s bonus programs as they magrbended from time to time.
Currently, you will be eligible for a bonus of up$0% of your Base Salary on an annualized basighawill be paid semi-annually on a
prorated basis from your date of hire through the & the bonus period. Eligibility and the amoahthe bonus will be based upon VMware’s
financial performance and achievement of your gaat$ objectives for the bonus period. In additiay must be in good standing with your
performance and employed at the time the bonuskaBetistributed to be eligible for the bonus.

As a key employee of VMware, a recommendation elimade to the Compensation and Corporate Govesr@mmmittee of the VMware
Board (the “Committee”) that you be granted a noatified stock option to purchase shares of VMw@l&ss A common stock and restricted
stock units as detailed below at an upcoming mgetfrthe Committee following your date of hire. TWesting, exercise price and other terms
of the stock option and restricted stock unitsaaglicable, will be set by the Committee at thaetimgy Any stock option and restricted stock
units granted to you will be governed by the teand conditions of the applicable grant agreemedtthe VMware 2007 Equity and Incentive
Plan. The details of the grant recommendation sfelibows:

Stock Options

You will be recommended for a non-qualified stogkion to purchase 100,000 shares of VMware ClassrAmon stock. Subject to the
terms of the VMware 2007 Equity and Incentive Rdad the stock option agreement, this stock optidinvest over four years, with 25¢

of the shares subject to the option vesting orfitheanniversary of the date of grant and monthireafter at a rate of 2.0833% of the
shares subject to the option. The option exeraise pvill be equal to the fair market value of VMweClass A common stock on the date
of the grant.

Restricted Stock Units

You will be recommended for a grant of 125,000riet&d stock units (the “RSUSs”). Subject to thentsrof the VMware 2007 Equity and
Incentive Plan and the restricted stock unit agesgnthese restricted stock units will vest overfgears, with 25% of the restricted st
units vesting on each anniversary of the date afigfthe “Grant Date”).

Restricted Stock Units- Annual Top-Up

(@) If you remain in continuous employment with thempany through the first anniversary of the Giate and, on the first vesting d
of the RSUs you do not realize taxable income épeet of the RSUs of at least $1,250,000, VMwaltkpay you a cash amount equal to
$1,250,000 less the amount of the taxable inconuergalized in respect of the RSUs on the firstingstiate (a “Top-Up Payment”).




(b) If you remain in continuous employment with thempany through the second anniversary of the t@ate and, if on the second
vesting date of the RSUs, the sum of the taxalalenre you realized on the first and second vestaiggin respect of the RSUs
(including the amount of a Top-Up Payment, if gogid to you pursuant to paragraph (a) above) ishigast $2,500,000, VMware will
pay you a cash amount (a Top-Up Payment) equé,&0$,000 less the sum of the taxable income yalizesl in respect of the RSUs on
the first and second vesting (which sum shall idelthe amount of a Top-Up Payment, if any, paigoto pursuant to paragraph

(a) above).

(c) If you remain in continuous employment with thempany through the third anniversary of the GEete and, if on the third vesting

date of the RSUs, the sum of the taxable incomergalized on the first, second and third vestingslan respect of the RSUs (including
the amount of Top-Up Payments, if any, paid to patsuant to paragraphs (a) and (b) above) is netaat $3,750,000, VMware will pay
you a cash amount (a Top-Up Payment) equal to $3)©b less the sum of the taxable income you redlia respect of the RSUs on the
first, second and third vesting dates (which suallshclude the amount of Top-Up Payments, if gogid to you pursuant to paragraphs
(a) and (b) above).

(d) If you remain in continuous employment with thempany through the fourth anniversary of the GExate and, if on the fourth
vesting date of the RSUs, the sum of the taxaldenre you realized on the first, second, third andth vesting dates in respect of the
RSUs (including the amount of Top-Up Paymentsnif,gaid to you pursuant to paragraphs (a), (b)(ahdbove) is not at least
$5,000,000, VMware will pay you a cash amount (p-Up Payment) equal to $5,000,000 less the sum dittable income you realiz
in respect of the RSUs on the first, second, third fourth vesting dates (which sum shall inclddeamount of Topdp Payments, if an
paid to you pursuant to paragraphs (a), (b) andlfoye).

(e) Any Top-Up Payment due to you as a result efftlmiegoing shall be made to you within five (5pimess days following the
applicable vesting date.

Change In Control

If there is a Change in Control (as defined belaw)ieu of any other severance or termination cengation (unless otherwise required by

law), 100% of any unvested RSUs (from the recomradrgiant of 125,000 RSUs, described above) and Gy unvested stock options
(from the recommended grant of 100,000 sharesritbesicabove) will become immediately vested (“Chedig-Control Acceleration”) in the

event that:

1. The Company terminates your employment withcause (as defined below) during the first twelve themafter a Change in Control, or
2. You terminate your employment for Good Reasard@&ined below) during the first twelve monthsati Change in Control.

For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a CeangControl Acceleration, you will not be entitlealreceive an additional Top-Up Payment
beyond the last Top Up Payment, if any, you wetéled to on the Grant Date anniversary immediapelceding such Change in Control
Acceleration.

Involuntary Termination of Employment Prior To Chan ge In Control

During your first two years of employment with tBempany, in lieu of any other severance or ternonatompensation, 50% of RSUs grar
(from the recommended grant of 125,000 RSUs, desdrabove), less any RSUs that have already véstadthe recommend grant described
above, will become immediately vested in the eyarfTermination Acceleration”) that:

1. The Company terminates your employment without €4as defined below),
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2. You terminate your employment for Good Reason @med below)

For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a Teatidbn Acceleration, you will not be entitled taceéve an additional Top}p Payment beyor
the last Top Up Payment, if any, you were entitiedn the Grant Date anniversary immediately prexeduch Termination Acceleration.

The Company agrees to provide assistance to ysedaring and maintaining authorization for emplogtrie the U.S. in accordance with the
terms of our Immigration Policy, a copy of whichingluded with this letter. You will be asked tgsithis document on your first day of
employment with the Company. Furthermore, givenrtiire of your particular immigration situationetCompany retains sole discretion to
determine what efforts, if any, it will take to see or maintain your future authorization for emyptent in the U.S., if and when your
permission to work in the U.S. has otherwise lapsed

You should be aware that your employment with tben@any is for no specified period and constitutesitbhemployment. As a result, you are
free to resign at any time, for any reason or foreason. Similarly, the Company is free to conelitd employment relationship with you at
any time, with or without cause, and with or withootice.

You agree that, during your employment with the @any, you will not engage in any other employmentupation, consulting or other
business activity directly related to the businiasshich the Company is now involved or become®ingd during the term of your
employment, nor will you engage in any other atitgi that conflict with your obligations to the Cpamy.

On your first day of employment you will be askedstibmit verification of your legal right to work the U.S., and to sign our Employee
Agreement. You will also be expected to sign antgly with an Employment, Confidential Informaticamd Invention Assignment
Agreement, which requires, among other provisitims assignment of patent rights to any inventiodenduring your employment at VMware
and non-disclosure of proprietary information. Agdware employee, you will be expected to abidedmmpany rules and regulations.

Definitions
1. For purposes of this offer letter agreement, a @aan Control will be deemed to have occurret

(a) any Person (as defined below), is or become8#meficial Owner (within the meaning set fortiRinle 13d-3 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“the Exchang®)Adirectly or indirectly, of securities of theothpany representing 35% or more
of either the then outstanding shares of commorksibthe Company or the combined voting powethef Company’s then outstanding
securities, excluding any Person who becomes s#naficial Owner in connection with (b) below;

(b) there is consummated a merger or consolidatidhe Company with any other corporation, othanti) a merger or consolidation
which would result in the voting securities of thiempany outstanding immediately prior to such meageonsolidation continuing to
represent (either by remaining outstanding or bgdbeonverted into voting securities of the sumgyientity or any parent thereof) at le
50% of the combined voting power of the securitiehe Company or such surviving entity or any pateereof outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation(jipa merger or consolidation effected to implemamecapitalization of the Company
(or similar transaction) in which no Person is eciimes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectif securities of the Company (not
including in the securities Beneficially Owned hych Person any securities acquired directly froenGompany or its affiliates)
representing 35% or more of the combined votinggronf the Company’s then outstanding securities, or
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(c) the stockholders of the Company approve a plaromplete liquidation or dissolution of the Compaor there is consummated an
agreement for the sale or disposition by the Comdirall or substantially all of the Company’s assether than a sale or disposition by
the Company of all or substantially all of the Camp's assets to an entity, at least 50% of the @oaabvoting power of the voting
securities of which are owned by stockholders ef@mmpany in substantially the same proportiortbeis ownership of the Company
immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to theattary, no Change in Control shall be deemed telwcurred for purposes of this of
letter agreement by virtue of (i) any transactidrick results in you, or a group of Persons in wlyich have a substantial interest, acquiring,
directly or indirectly, 35% or more of either theeh outstanding shares of common stock of the Copnpathe combined voting power of the
Company'’s then outstanding securities or (i) EM@pration’s (‘EMC”) distribution of the Companyshares in a transaction intended to
qualify as a distribution under section 355 of ifiiernal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

2.

For purposes of this offer letter agreementot®urrence of any of the following shall constttiCause,” provided that you have been
given notice by the Company of the existence ofséaand, if the existence of Cause is curable,soredle opportunity to cure the
existence of such Caus

(a) willful neglect, failure or refusal by you tefform your employment duties (except resultingrfrpour incapacity due to illness) as
reasonably directed by the Company;

(b) willful misconduct by you in the performanceyafur employment duties;
(c) your indictment for a felony (other than traffelated offense) or a misdemeanor involving margitude;

(d) your commission of an act involving personahdinesty that results in financial, reputationelther harm to the Company and/or its
affiliates and/or its subsidiaries, including, It limited to, an act constituting misappropriatimr embezzlement of property; or

(e) your material violation of VMware’Key Employee Agreement and/or a material violatibany other VMware policies including k
not limited to the Business Conduct guidelines.

The determination of Cause will be made by the Camypn its sole discretion.

3.

For purposes of this offer letter agreem“Persoi” shall have the meaning given in Section 3(a)(3hefExchange Act, as modified a
used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, excegttdtaich term shall not include (i) EMC, the Compangny of their respective
subsidiaries, (ii) a trustee or other fiduciarydioy securities under an employee benefit plamefGompany or any of its affiliates,
(i) an underwriter temporarily holding securitiparsuant to an offering of such securities anyldiecorporation owned, directly or
indirectly, by the stockholders of the Companyubstantially the same proportions as their owngrshistock of the Compan

For purposes of this offer letter agreem Good Reasc” for termination by you of your employment shall mehe occurrence (witho
your express written consent) of any of the follogyi
(a) any materially adverse alteration in your rptékes, reporting relationship or in the naturestatus of your responsibilities;

(b) a material diminution by the Company in youisB&alary (excluding a reduction that also is &plpid all other executive officers of
the Company and that reduces your Base Salarypeycentage reduction that is no greater than tivedbpercentage reduction applie
any other executive officer); or a material dimioatby the Company in your aggregate annual bosmget;
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(c) the relocation of your principal place of empitent to a location more than seventy-five (75)esifrom your principal place of
employment immediately prior to such relocation; or

(d) a material breach of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, you shall not berded to have Good Reason for purposes of this Ageaemmless you provide the Compi
with a written notice within thirty (30) days folddng your knowledge of the occurrence of an evemistituting Good Reason and provides the
Company with an opportunity to cure such occurremitein 30 days of the receipt of such notice frpou.

* % *x

To indicate your acceptance of the Company'’s offerase sign and date this letter in the spacegedwbelow and return it to me. A duplicate
original is enclosed for your records. This offettér, along with the Employee Agreement and th@lByment, Confidential Information, and
Invention Assignment Agreement, contains all oftémens, promises, representations, and undersigsbetween the parties, and supersedes
any other oral or written agreement or understagglbetween the parties regarding these matterstprtbe date hereof. This offer letter may
not be modified or amended except by a written exgent, signed by an officer of the Company andday. Yhis offer expires three (3) days
from the date of this letter.

We are looking forward to having you join VMware.
Sincerely,
/s/ Diane Greene

Diane Greent
President and CE!

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this day of , 2007.

/s/ Richard Sarwe Start Date 11/30/07
(Employee Signature
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Dunes Technologies, In
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Exhibit 21.1
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémdlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-883402) of VMware, Inc. of our report
dated February 20, 2008 relating to the finandetesnents and financial statement schedule, wipplears in this Form 10-K.

/s! PricewaterhouseCoopers L
San Jose, Californi
February 29, 200



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Diane B. Greene, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of VMware, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alnare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedontes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b. [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC Reled-47986]

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémtai report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegidg’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrars other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 29, 20( / s/ D IANE B. G REENE
Diane B. Greene
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of VMware, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alnare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedontes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b. [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC Reled-47986]

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémtai report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegidg’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrars other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 29, 20( / s/ M ARK S. PEEK
Mark S. Peek
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarban€&s<ey Act of 2002

I, Diane B. Greene, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.€ctl®n 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9fiteabarbane®xley Act of 2002, the
the Annual Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 fully caespkith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and the information contained in suchnf@0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arapons of VMware, Inc.

Date: February 29, 20( / s/ D IANE B. G REENE

Diane B. Greene
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-K thigh it relates, is not deemed filed with the Sémes and Exchange Commission and
is not to be incorporated by reference into angdibf the Company under the Securities Act of 13&3amended, or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tifé date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language contained
in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarban€&s<ey Act of 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Bec1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ob#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 10-K fbe fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 fully caespkith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and the information contained in suchnf&0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arapons of VMware, Inc.

Date: February 29, 20( / s/ M ARK S. PEEK

Mark S. Peek
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-K thigh it relates, is not deemed filed with the Sémes and Exchange Commission and
is not to be incorporated by reference into angdibf the Company under the Securities Act of 13&3amended, or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tifé date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of geperal incorporation language contained
in such filing.



